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To Our Stockholders: 
 
2011 was a milestone year for Entertainment Gaming Asia.  We achieved record-breaking financial 
performance and the third consecutive year of solid earnings growth since we began to implement our 
restructuring efforts in the fourth quarter of 2008.   We also made solid progress in executing our 
growth plans to expand our gaming operations to include both gaming machine participation and the 
development and operation of regional casinos and gaming venues under our Dreamworld brand in 
emerging gaming markets in Indo-China.  With a more refined business model, substantially improved 
operating efficiency and financial flexibility, and a clear growth strategy, we entered 2012 a stronger 
company with a focus on enhancing long-term shareholder value. 
 
The 2011 performance was the result of our restructuring efforts implemented over the last three years.  
We have come a long way during this period.  Since 2009, we have increased consolidated revenue 74%.  
This was driven largely by our gaming operations, which posted revenue growth of 149% over this same 
period due to continued strong improvement in consolidated average daily net wins, which reached 
$140 per seat in 2011.  This top-line growth combined with aggressive cost reductions has resulted in 
the generation of quality recurring adjusted EBITDA, which reached $11.7 million for 2011 compared to 
$140 thousand in 2009, and the achievement of annual net profitability for the first time in our history.   
We have also strengthened our balance sheet over the last three years, as we increased our cash 
position three-fold to $12.8 million as of December 31, 2011 while we reduced debt by one-third over 
the same period.  
 
We are very proud of these results and believe they demonstrate our successful turnaround and provide 
us a solid foundation for future growth.  
 
Our gaming businesses are the cornerstone of our operations.  As a leading supplier of electronic gaming 
machines on a participation basis to select markets in the Pan-Asian gaming industry and as an owner 
and operator of regional casino projects in Indo-China, we believe we are well positioned to capitalize 
on the growth opportunities that exist in our markets. 
 
Our gaming participation operations have been a key driver in our strong financial performance.  We 
currently have over 1,500 electronic gaming machine seats in operation on a participation basis across 
three venues in Cambodia and five venues in the Philippines.  
 
In Cambodia, our participation operations principally focus on operating a substantial portion of the slot 
area in prime casino floor locations at NagaWorld, Cambodia’s premier luxury destination gaming resort 
and the only licensed full service casino in the capital city of Phnom Penh. Our participation operations 
at NagaWorld, which we jointly manage with them, have been very successful.  With 670 machine seats 
under contract and average daily net wins of $232 per seat for 2011 and $239 for the first quarter of 



2012, this venue provides us attractive recurring gaming revenue and cash flow and demonstrates our 
operational expertise in this market.  
 
In addition, we are expanding our gaming machine participation operations in Cambodia with a strategic 
new partner.  In November 2011, we entered into a gaming machine participation and management 
agreement with leading Cambodia hotelier, Sokha Hotels and Resorts, to place 250 electronic gaming 
machine seats and jointly manage these slot operations in its new Thansur Bokor Resort and Casino.  
Thansur Bokor, located in the tourist area of the Bokor Mountains of Cambodia, will be the only casino 
in the nearby area for the present time.  The first phase, which includes over 400 hotel rooms and 
suites, entertainment amenities, and convention facilities, opened in May 2012.   We had 200 seats in 
operation at the time of the opening and expect to ramp up to 250 seats later this year.  
  
In the Philippines, we continue our efforts to strategically manage our machine placements to maximize 
returns and improve our growth potential in this market.  These efforts include: implementing, with the 
support of our venue owner partners, targeted marketing programs; the redeployment, when possible, 
of our gaming assets to higher-performing venues in the market; and acquiring a higher revenue sharing 
interest and marketing control in one of our most promising venues in October 2011.  These efforts are 
producing positive results, with average daily net wins in this market improving to $63 per seat in 2011 
and reaching $73 for the first quarter of 2012.  
 
Our gaming participation operations provide us solid recurring cash flow and an established presence 
and relationships in Indo-China from which to expand our gaming operations to include the 
development and operation of casinos and gaming venues under our Dreamworld brand in the region.  
This approach allows us to capitalize on the growth opportunities that exist in emerging gaming markets 
of Indo-China and provides the potential for higher long-term incremental returns and greater control of 
our operations. 
 
Our target markets are experiencing rapid economic growth due to many drivers including favorable 
demographic trends, increasing foreign investment, and continuing liberalization of economic policies.  
We are focused on securing a solid foothold in strategic locations with strong gaming demand within 
these countries and to grow with these economies. 
 
To-date, we have one Dreamworld project in operation and a couple more in the pipeline in Cambodia.  
These projects include: Dreamworld Pailin, a casino located in the northwestern province of Pailin at the 
Thailand border; Dreamworld Poipet, a slot hall located in the northern Economic Free Zone of Poipet 
near the Thailand border; and Dreamworld Kampot, a casino located in the southern province of 
Kampot near the Vietnam border. 
 



Dreamworld Pailin was developed and is operated exclusively by us on land leased from a local land 
owner.  We receive 80% of the net revenue after customer payouts, operating expenses, and taxes while 
the land owner receives the remaining 20% as well as monthly lease payments.   
 
The casino is located on a growing trade route with solid infrastructure between Cambodia and Thailand 
and is approximately four hours from Bangkok and five hours from Phnom Penh by car.  It caters to mass 
market and premium players from the major nearby cities in the region and is one of a few existing 
casinos in the area and the closest to the border checkpoint.   
 
The initial phase of the casino has a footprint of approximately 16,000 square feet and features 
approximately 30 table games and 50 electronic gaming machine seats.  We have the opportunity to 
lease at a future date the adjacent land to develop additional phases of the project.  Such additional 
phases are intended to include expanded casino operations and complementary facilities such as hotel 
rooms, a spa, and other entertainment amenities. 
 
We commenced construction in December 2011 and held the grand opening of the initial phase of 
Dreamworld Pailin on  May 9, 2012.   
 
Dreamworld Poipet is our next project in 2012.  It will be a standalone slot hall which we will develop 
and operate as an extension of an existing popular casino in the attractive Poipet market.  Dreamworld 
Poipet will operate under the casino owner’s gaming license.  We will fund the development, 
construction, and operation of the slot hall and will receive 40% of the daily net win generated by the 
gaming machines and incur 40% of certain operating costs in our slot hall.   
 
Located within Cambodia’s Economic Free Zone and at the junction of an important trade route 
connecting Bangkok and Phnom Penh, Poipet is Cambodia’s most significant border crossing with 
Thailand and is approximately two and one-half hours from Bangkok by car.  Poipet is an established and 
growing gaming market with eight existing casinos serving customers from major nearby cities in the 
area and there is limited real estate for future gaming development.  Dreamworld Poipet will be located 
in a very prominent location and will cater to mass market and premium players.  
 
The slot hall is expected to measure approximately 16,000 square feet and house 300 electronic gaming 
machine seats. Based on our current development timeline, we expect to complete construction of 
Dreamworld Poipet in December 2012. 
 
We believe we are making progress in executing on our casino and gaming development growth 
initiatives. Our Dreamworld projects are expected to provide the potential for near-term earnings and 
long-term growth while deepening our footprint and the Dreamworld brand in our target markets.   
 



In addition to our core gaming operations, we continue to focus on improving our Dolphin operations, 
which include the design, manufacture, and distribution of gaming chips and plaques.  Our targeted 
marketing initiatives have already lent to improving customer reorders in our existing markets of 
Australia and Asia and the addition of several new customers in the second half of 2011.  In addition, we 
are working to expand our product offerings to include new styles of chips and more innovative, state of 
the art security features and planning to expand our production capacity and increase operating 
efficiencies and automation. We believe these combined efforts will drive meaningful long-term 
improvement in revenue and gross profit in these operations.  
 
In summary, I would like to thank our shareholders for their continued support and the Entertainment 
Gaming Asia team for their hard work and dedication. We have made great progress in driving 
continued improvements in our operating and financial performance, providing us a solid foundation for 
growth.  With our vision to expand our gaming operations to include the development and operation of 
regional casinos and gaming venues in our markets  becoming a reality, we are making solid progress 
toward our goal to become a leading gaming company in the emerging gaming markets of Indo-China.  
We look forward to updating you on our progress throughout the remainder of 2012 and beyond. 
 
Sincerely, 

 
 
 

Clarence Chung 
Chairman & Chief Executive Officer 

 

June 11, 2012 
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CAUTIONARY NOTICE 
 
This annual report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 
1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.  Those forward-looking statements include 
our expectations, beliefs, intentions and strategies regarding the future.  Such forward-looking statements relate to, among other 
things, overall industry environment, our working capital requirements and results of operations, the further approvals of regulatory 
authorities, adverse court rulings, production and/or quality control problems, the denial, suspension or revocation of privileged 
operating licenses by governmental authorities, competitive pressures and general economic conditions.  These and other factors that 
may affect our financial results are discussed more fully in “Risk Factors” and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial 
Condition and Results of Operations” included in this report.  We caution readers not to place undue reliance on any forward-looking 
statements.  We do not undertake, and specifically disclaim any obligation, to update or revise such statements to reflect new 
circumstances or unanticipated events as they occur, and we urge readers to review and consider disclosures we make in this and other 
reports that discuss factors germane to our business.  See in particular our reports on Forms 10-K, 10-Q, and 8-K subsequently filed 
from time to time with the Securities and Exchange Commission. 
 

PART I 
 
Item 1. Business 
 
GENERAL 
 
Entertainment Gaming Asia Inc. is engaged in: (i) electronic gaming machine (EGM) participation operations, which include the 
ownership and leasing of EGMs in resorts, hotels and other venues in Pan-Asia placed on a revenue sharing basis with venue owners; 
(ii) the development of regional casinos in the Indo-China region where we intend to own and operate such casinos under the 
“Dreamworld” brand; (iii)  the design, manufacture and distribution of gaming chips and plaques; and (iv) the design, manufacture 
and distribution of other plastic products.  Our current primary focus is our EGM participation and casino development operations. 
 
For our EGM participation business, we utilize our operational experience, established market presence and key relationships to 
identify and develop new gaming venues, acquire the EGMs, casino management systems and other gaming peripherals directly from 
manufacturers, dealers and suppliers and install the same in our contracted venues. In addition, we assist the venue owners in brand-
building and marketing promotions.  Certain of our EGM participation contracts, such as for NagaWorld Resorts and Sokha Hotels 
and Resorts in Cambodia, also entail us functioning as a manager of the EGM operations.  In these venues, we jointly manage with the 
relevant casino owner the slot floor operations and design marketing programs and slot promotions for our designated gaming space.  
We also hire, train and manage the floor staff and set high expectations on the level of customer service. 
 
In May 2010, we announced our intention to expand our gaming operations and become an owner and operator of regional casinos 
under the “Dreamworld” brand in select emerging gaming markets in Indo-China. We believe this expanded business strategy will 
allow us the potential for higher long-term incremental returns on our operations given the ability to collect a greater share of the net 
win compared to our existing participation contracts. In addition, it provides us greater long-term control over our operations. 
 
Pursuant to this growth strategy, we have two casino projects under active development in Cambodia, one of which is located in the 
Pailin Province near the border of Thailand and the second is located in the Kampot Province near the border of Vietnam. We also 
own a parcel of land in the Takeo Province in Cambodia where we may develop and operate a casino-hotel in the future. 
 
In addition to our core gaming operations, through our subsidiary, Dolphin Products Pty Limited, we develop, manufacture and 
distribute high-frequency RFID and traditional non-RFID gaming chips and plaques as well as other plastic component products for a 
number of industries. 
 
We have offices in Hong Kong, the Philippines, Cambodia and Australia.  We also have manufacturing facilities in Melbourne, 
Australia. 
 
Our mailing address in the United States is: 
 

Entertainment Gaming Asia Inc. 
40 E. Chicago Avenue, #186 
Chicago, Illinois, 60611 
USA 
 

The telephone number in the United States is (312) 867-0848. 
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During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011, we owned or had rights to certain trademarks that we used in connection with the 
sale of our products, including, but not limited to Dolphin™ and we made applications for the trademark “Dreamworld” in certain 
Indo-Chinese countries. Other than the aforesaid trademarks, this report also makes reference to trademarks and trade names of other 
companies. 
 
RECENT DEVELOPMENTS 
 
During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011 and through the date of this report, we have engaged in the following: 
 
Entered into a New Machine Participation and Management Agreement in Cambodia 
 
On November 3, 2011, we entered into a gaming machine participation and management agreement (the “Agreement”) with Sokha 
Hotels and Resorts (“Sokha”), to place up to 250 electronic gaming machine seats and jointly manage these slot operations in its new 
Thansur Bokor Resort and Casino in the tourist-centric Bokor Mountains of Cambodia (“Thansur Bokor”).  Sokha, a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of the Cambodian conglomerate Sokimex, is a leading operator of luxury hotels and resorts in prime locations in Cambodia. 
 
The first phase of Thansur Bokor is expected to open in May 2012 at which time we expect to have 200 EGM seats in operation.  We 
intend to ramp up to 250 seats over the subsequent several months.  This strategic project expands our gaming operations in the Indo-
China region and is anticipated to contribute to near-term earnings. 
 
Under the terms of the Agreement, we will jointly manage with the venue owner these slot operations.  While we and Sokha will share 
the gross win or loss and most of the operating expenses, such as marketing expenses and salaries of floor staff, on a respective basis 
of 27/73%, a few operating expenditure items, such as machine maintenance and repair and salaries of certain personnel appointed by 
us, shall be borne solely by us.  We will collect our share of the gross win and will settle its share of the relevant operating costs on a 
semi-monthly basis. The contract duration is five years, commencing upon the live operation of the slot floor. 
 
Our capital expenditures under the Agreement are estimated to be approximately $1.5 to $2 million, which will be funded from 
internal cash resources. We intend to utilize a combination of new and used machines, some of which will be sourced from our 
existing inventory. 
 
Agreement to Increase Revenue Sharing Interest in Philippine Slot Venue 
 
On October 21, 2011, we entered into a Transfer Agreement (“Agreement”) for the purpose of increasing from 17% to 35% our share 
of the revenue from our participation business at the San Pedro VIP Club, one of our existing participation venues in the Philippines 
(“San Pedro Club”).  This Agreement serves to further our strategy of improving returns and focusing our assets on the highest-
potential venues in the market and increase our control over the promotion and marketing strategies for this venue. 
 
San Pedro Club is operated by the government operator, Philippine Amusement and Gaming Corporation (“PAGCOR”), which 
entered into a machine lease contract with a company (the “Proponent”), which holds the lease of the premises of the club (the 
“PAGCOR Contract”). The Proponent in turn entered into an agreement with us to lease EGMs to the venue (the “Agreement of 
Lease”). Pursuant to the terms of the PAGCOR Contract and the Agreement of Lease, the net win after gaming tax of the machines at 
San Pedro Club was to be shared amongst PAGCOR, the Proponent, and us in the ratio of 65%, 18%, and 17%, respectively. 
 
Under the terms of the Agreement, we assume the role of the Proponent and work directly with PAGCOR. Our revenue share has 
increased from 17% to 35% and PAGCOR maintains its 65% share.  We have also incurred certain of the venue’s operating expenses, 
which are recorded in our cost of gaming operations.  The closing of the Agreement will be subject to the fulfillment of various 
conditions, which include PAGCOR’s consent and agreement to extend the PAGCOR Contract with us until mid 2016.  Upon closing, 
the Agreement will be retroactively effective as of August 1, 2011. We expect to close the Agreement in the second quarter of 2012. 
In the meantime, we took over San Pedro Club’s operations in late October 2011. 
 
The cash consideration for the Agreement payable by us was Philippine pesos 55 million (equivalent to approximately $1.3 million), 
which was funded from our internal cash resources. We also agreed to pay cash expenses to the Proponent of approximately 
Philippines pesos 2.9 million (equivalent to approximately $67,000) and waived net receivables from the Proponent of approximately 
Philippine pesos 3.5 million (equivalent to approximately $82,000). Thus, the total consideration amount agreed by us pursuant to the 
transaction is approximately Philippine pesos 61.4 million (equivalent to approximately $1.4 million). As of December 31, 2011, we 
already paid approximately Philippines pesos 50.7 million (equivalent to approximately $1.2 million). 
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Entry into Two Casino Development Projects in Cambodia 
 
As part of our growth strategy to expand our gaming operations to include the ownership and operation of regional-style casinos under 
our Dreamworld brand in emerging gaming markets of Indo-China, we announced two new casino development projects during 2011. 
 
Dreamworld Casino (Kampot) 
 
On March 4, 2011, we entered into a shareholders agreement with a local partner with respect to our participation in a company (the 
“new company”) for the development, ownership and operation of a casino located in Kampot Province of Cambodia near the 
Vietnam border (“Dreamworld Casino (Kampot)”). 
 
The local partner is the owner of a parcel of land measuring approximately 91,000 square feet (8,500 square meters) located in a 
southern Cambodia in the Kampot Province near the Vietnam border and the Dreamworld Casino (Kampot) will be constructed 
thereon.  It will include a casino, which will be operated under the ‘Dreamworld’ brand, with table games such as baccarat, roulette 
and dice games as well as EGMs.  The initial phase of Dreamworld Casino (Kampot) is expected to include up to 14 table games and 
25 EGMs and is expected to open in the third quarter of 2012. 
 
Upon the completion Dreamworld Casino (Kampot), we will have the dominant management right and control over the business 
operations of the new company and Dreamworld Casino (Kampot) and all business decisions and policy-making in respect of the 
business will be vested in the board of directors of the new company in which we will have the right to nominate a majority of the 
members. 
 
Subject to any early termination of the casino project pursuant to the terms of the shareholders agreement, the casino project is for an 
initial term of 25 years commencing March 2011 and is subject to renewal by the parties’ mutual consent. 
 
Dreamworld Casino (Kampot) will be owned by the new company, a private company incorporated in Cambodia for the sole purpose 
of holding and operating Dreamworld Casino (Kampot).  The respective shareholdings of the new company by us and the local partner 
are 67% and 33%, respectively.  However, we and local partner will share the monthly net revenue after payouts to customers, 
operating expenses, and taxes on a 60%/40% basis, respectively. 
 
We are responsible for all capital expenditures relating to the casino project and our total capital expenditure for the initial phase 
Dreamworld Casino (Kampot) is expected to be approximately $1.2 million and will be funded from internal cash resources. 
 
Dreamworld Casino (Pailin) 
 
In May 2011, we agreed to form a company (the “new company”) with another local partner in Cambodia for the development, 
ownership and operation of a casino project in the Pailin Province of Cambodia near the Thailand border (“Dreamworld Casino 
(Pailin)”). 
 
The local partner is the owner of a parcel of land measuring approximately 13,000 square feet (1,196 square meters) located in north 
western Cambodia in the Pailin Province near the Thailand border and the Dreamworld Casino (Pailin) will be constructed thereon.  It 
will include a casino, which will be operated under the ‘Dreamworld’ brand, with table games such as baccarat, roulette and dice 
games as well as EGMs.  Based on the latest venue layout, the initial phase of Dreamworld Casino (Pailin) is expected to include 30 
table games and 40 EGMs. It is scheduled to open on May 9, 2012. 
 
Under the terms of the relevant shareholders agreement, the local partner agreed to lease to the new company certain real property 
upon which Dreamworld Casino (Pailin) was to be developed for an annual fee of $1 and all profits (the total gross revenue of the 
casino less any payouts paid to customers, operating expenses, and gaming and non-gaming taxes on the new company’s revenue) of 
the casino project were to have been split between us and the relevant local partner on a 55%/45% basis, respectively.  In June 2011, 
we formed a legal entity in Cambodia to serve as the company for the casino project’s operations. 
 
In July 2011, the local partner agreed with us to revise the cooperation structure for the Dreamworld Casino (Pailin) by pervious 
structure and entering into new agreements pursuant to which (a) we will be the sole owner of the new company, (b) the local 
partner’s profit participation will be reduced from 45% to 20% and (c) we will pay a fair monthly rental to the relevant local partner 
for the lease of the casino project property.  The initial lease term for the land is 20 years and is subject to renewal by the parties’ 
mutual consent. 
 
We are responsible for all capital expenditures relating to the casino project and our total capital expenditure for the initial phase 
Dreamworld Casino (Pailin) is expected to be approximately $2.4 million and will be funded from internal cash resources. 
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GAMING BUSINESS 
 
Overview 
 
Since September 2007, our primary business model has focused on the ownership and leasing of EGMs placed with venue owners on 
a revenue sharing basis within certain countries in Pan-Asia with operations to date located in Cambodia and the Philippines. Utilizing 
our developed operational experience and established market presence and key relationships, we identify and secure venues for the 
placement of EGMs and where warranted, casino management systems that track game performance and provide statistics on each 
installed EGM owned and leased by us.  We contract with the venue owners or operators for the placement of the EGMs on a revenue 
sharing basis. In addition, we acquire and install the EGMs and other gaming systems and peripherals at the relevant gaming venues. 
 
In May 2010, we announced our intention to expand our gaming operations and become an owner and operator of regional casinos 
under the “Dreamworld” brand in select emerging gaming markets in Indo-China although none of our casino projects had started 
operations in 2011. 
 
EGM participation operations comprised 64% of our consolidated revenues for the year ended December 31, 2011. 

 
Operations of our Electronic Gaming Machine Participation 
 
We contract with the venue owners or operators for the placement of EGMs on a revenue sharing basis and directly acquire and install 
the EGMs and other gaming peripherals at the relevant gaming venues. The target market for our EGM participation business is hotels 
and resorts and various other gaming venues across Pan-Asia.  We focus on underserved gaming markets that we believe are poised 
for significant growth, and many of the targeted venue owners have little or no gaming operations experience. 
 
We utilize EGMs from leading manufacturers, including Aristocrat Technologies, International Game Technology, and WMS 
Gaming. As of December 31, 2011, we had an inventory of 412 EGMs suitable for deployment and believe, given our casino 
development plans, that we will need to supplement our existing inventory with the purchase of a certain number of new and used 
EGMs from cash on hand and cash from operations over the next twelve months. 
 
We help market, design and develop the gaming venues of the venue owners to whom we lease our EGMs and related systems.  We 
contract with the venue owner for the leasing and maintenance of the EGMs on a revenue sharing basis.  We provide the development 
and implementation of various related gaming services in the Pan-Asia region which include: 
 
• Developing the technical and network design, layout and overall space configuration of the gaming floor in order to best utilize 

and leverage the available space and present an appealing environment to customers; and 
• Selecting the optimal mix of EGMs for the property to optimize the economic potential of the gaming floor and overall 

experience for the venue owner’s customers. 
 
We assist the venue owner by recruiting and training of the necessary gaming floor personnel regarding the operation and maintenance 
of the EGMs and back-of-the-house accounting and in most cases, these gaming floor staffs are employees of ours though their 
salaries and related expenses will be shared by the venue owner and us according to the same revenue sharing ratio as agreed under 
relevant participation agreement.  In addition, we maintain all performance data and provide ongoing technical and operations support 
in order to optimize game performance throughout the floor. 
 
We expect that our EGM participation revenues and gross margins will be influenced by a number of factors, including the number 
and type of EGMs in service, the levels of play and the revenue sharing percentage. Our cost of sales includes the depreciation, joint 
cost sharing (primarily, in the event our contract dictates we are involved in the management of the floor operations) and other 
installation and maintenance costs of the EGMs. 
 
As of December 31, 2011, our EGM participation operations were concentrated in two countries, namely, Cambodia and the 
Philippines. In Cambodia, we had a total of 719 EGM seats in operation in two venues.  In the Philippines, we had a total of 758 EGM 
seats in operation in five venues. 
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Competition 
 

The global gaming industry is highly competitive.  Our competitors principally include private companies in Cambodia and both 
public and private companies in the Philippines with operations focused on Asian market.  Part of our operating strategy includes 
addressing markets and customers where we face less competition and entry barriers are higher due to several factors including: 
 

• United States Gaming Laws: All of the major gaming equipment suppliers are licensed by a large number of United States 
regulatory agencies.  In order for one of these companies to enter the markets we serve in Asia on a direct revenue sharing model 
with a foreign operator, the operator would be required to comply with various United States regulatory procedures.  We are not 
subject to this requirement as we have surrendered all our gaming licenses in the United States. 

 

• Local Knowledge: Through our operating experience, we have an extensive database of contacts and relationships throughout the 
Pan-Asia region that provides us with a unique opportunity to penetrate these under-developed markets. 

 

Gaming Regulations and Licensing 
 

The regulatory structures in the Asian countries where we operate our EGM participation and casino development businesses, 
including the Philippines and Cambodia, are not as developed or clearly defined as the United States.  In general, all of the countries in 
which we currently operate require the venue owner to obtain a gaming license in order to operate the EGMs leased by us and we 
demand that all venue owners to whom we lease EGMs, being our customers in the Philippines and Cambodia, hold the required 
gaming licenses to operate their venues.  Since our EGM participation business model primarily focuses on leasing the EGMs to the 
venue owner, technically, we are not considered to be an operator or owner of the gaming operations by the relevant authorities 
(although to a certain extent we have assumed some operator roles, including but not limited to the design of marketing programs, 
recruitment, training and management of floor staff, in certain of our venues) and thus, we are not required to obtain any form of 
gaming license in either the Philippines or Cambodia for our participation business in such jurisdictions.  However, current gaming 
laws, including licensing requirements and other regulatory obligations, could change or become more stringent resulting in additional 
regulations being imposed upon us and our EGM participation operations.  Any such adverse developments in the regulation of the 
gaming industry could be difficult to comply with and significantly increase our costs which, in turn, could cause our participation 
business to be unsuccessful. 
 

We currently hold certain approvals from the relevant government authorities for construction of our casino projects. We hold the in-
principle approval at municipal level to build and open a casino hotel in the Kampot Province of Cambodia from the Cambodia 
Government. Pursuant to such approval, Dreamworld Leisure (Kampot) Limited, a new company formed by us and the local land 
owner partner, is allowed to construct and open a casino-hotel for table games and EGMs with the proposed name of Dreamworld 
Casino and Resort in the Kampot Province of Cambodia. We hold the in-principle approval at municipal and provincial levels to build 
and open a casino hotel in the Pailin Province of Cambodia from the Cambodia Government. Pursuant to such approval, Dreamworld 
Leisure (Pailin) Limited, one of our wholly-owned subsidiaries, is allowed to construct and open a casino-hotel for table games and 
EGMs with the proposed name of Dreamworld Casino and Resort in the Pailin Province of Cambodia. We hold the in-principle 
approval at municipal and provincial levels to build and open a casino hotel in the Takeo Province of Cambodia from the Cambodia 
Government. Pursuant to such approval, Dreamworld Leisure, one of our wholly-owned subsidiaries, is allowed to construct and open 
a casino-hotel for table games and EGMs with the proposed name of Dreamworld Casino and Resort in Takeo Province of Cambodia. 
 

It is anticipated that the formal gaming license and approvals of each of the aforesaid casino projects will be obtained upon completion 
of the construction of the relevant casino. 
 

OTHER PRODUCTS 
 

We are also engaged in the design, manufacture and distribution of gaming chips and plaques, and the design, manufacture and 
distribution of other plastic products. 
 
Overview of Gaming Chips and Plaques 
 
We focus on the development, manufacture and sale of gaming chips and plaques from our Dolphin subsidiary in Melbourne, 
Australia. 
 

Gaming chips and plaque products include: 
 

• High-frequency RFID casino chips, which are traditional casino chips embedded with a RFID tag that allows casinos to identify 
counterfeit casino chips and track table play.  The high-frequency 13.56 MHz RFID casino chip is designed to provide real-time 
data capability, enhanced chip security, player tracking and accounting management benefits for casinos. The high-frequency 
RFID chips enable casinos to read 1,000 chips per second and have a memory capacity of over 10,000 bits. 
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• Traditional casino chips for various table games, including a wide range of American-style gaming chips with 30 different color 

combinations, various sizes and other personalized printing combinations. 
 
• High-frequency RFID and traditional non-RFID casino plaques, which use modern, efficient plastic thermoforming techniques 

and a process of printing graphics to polymer that provides for a broad range of colors or designs, including a full photographic 
finish. Our plaques have unique security features including a patented RFID inlay which is tamper-proof and identifies each 
plaque, a currency grade ceramic DNA strand embedded in the plastic, a multi-directional hologram and serialization. They are 
available in five rectangular and three square shapes or customized to buyer requirements. 

 
Marketing and Distribution of Gaming Chips and Plaques 
 
In an effort to derive greater value from our high-frequency RFID and traditional non-RFID gaming chips and plaques, we have 
directed greater resources to these operations in the form of marketing and product development and engaged a marketing agent to 
promote and distribute these products for us in Australia, New Zealand, Macau and certain other Asian territories. 
 
At present, our casino customers include, amongst others, City of Dreams, Altira, Venetians and Galaxy in Macau and Crown Casino 
in Melbourne, Burswood Casino in Perth and Star City Casino in Sydney, Australia.  Since gaming chip products are generally 
regarded as a “gaming device” by the gaming authorities in most of the states of the United States, which therefore requires the 
manufacturer of these products to be licensed, it is not our current intention to market or sell our gaming chip and plaque products in 
the United States. 
 
Competition of Gaming Chips and Plaques 
 
The gaming products industry is competitive.  We compete with established gaming products companies, which have more substantial 
histories, backgrounds, experience and records of successful operations, greater technical, marketing and other resources, and more 
employees and extensive facilities than we have or will have in the foreseeable future.  During the year ended December 31, 2011, our 
most significant competitor for our gaming chips and plaques was Gaming Partners International Corporation. 
 
Gaming Regulations and Licensing of Gaming Chips and Plaques 
 
Regarding our gaming chip and plaque products, in most jurisdictions outside the United States market, neither manufacturers nor 
distributors of gaming chip and plaque products are required to be licensed. However, since gaming chip and plaque products are 
generally regarded as “gaming devices” by the gaming authorities in most of the United States of America, which therefore require the 
manufacturers of these products to be licensed we currently do not have the intention to apply for any license to sell our Dolphin’s 
gaming chip and plaque products in the United States market mainly due to the costly application process and ongoing maintenance. 
 
Manufacturing and Assembly of Gaming Chips and Plaques 
 
The manufacture of RFID casino chips and plaques is performed at our Dolphin subsidiary in Australia, which specializes in plastic 
injection molding.  Dolphin has licensed certain RFID technology from a third party. 
 
Suppliers 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2011, most materials for our RFID casino chips and plaques were sourced in Australia. RFID 
casino chips and plaques were manufactured in Australia and shipped to our customers in Asia.  Dolphin has licensed certain RFID 
technology from a third party. 

 
Overview of Other Plastic Products 
 
We also develop, manufacture and sell plastic products for a number of industries. Dolphin is well-known for its high-quality and 
high-precision plastic products, it renewed third-party accreditation’s in TS16949, ISO 9001, Quality Management Systems and ISO 
140001 Environmental System, AS4801 OH&S System in 2011. 
 
Research and Development of Gaming Chips and Plaques and Other Plastic Products 
 
Dolphin is continuously engaged in product development to enhance existing and develop new products for its gaming and non-
gaming business lines. During the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, we spent approximately $386,000 and $610,000, 
respectively on product development activities, principally related to our gaming chips and plaques. 
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INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY 
 
In October 2005, we acquired the rights to U.S. Patent No. 6,659,875, which covers a unique process for manufacturing RFID chips 
and plaques. We also hold patents covering similar processes issued by Australia and the United Kingdom. In addition, in 
February 2007, we filed a new provisional specification in Australia to protect additional enhancements in the manufacture of RFID 
chips and plaques. 
 
Many elements incorporated in our proprietary products are in the public domain or otherwise not amenable to legal protection and the 
steps taken by us will not, in and of themselves, preclude competition with our proprietary products. 
 
EMPLOYEES 
 
As of March 15, 2012, we had approximately 14 full-time employees in Hong Kong, 1 full-time employee in the United States, 34 
full-time employees in the Philippines, 42 full-time employees and 412 contracted staff for floor operations at NagaWorld, Sokha 
Bokor and Pailin casino project in Cambodia, and 55 full-time employees in Australia. None of our employees are represented by 
labor unions, and we consider our relationship with employees to be satisfactory. 
 
AVAILABLE INFORMATION 
 
Our website is located at www.EGT-Group.com. The information on or accessible through our website is not part of this annual report 
on Form 10-K.  A copy of this annual report on Form 10-K is located at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE, 
Washington, D.C. 20549. Information on the operation of the Public Reference Room can be obtained by calling the SEC at 1-800-
SEC-0330. The SEC also maintains an internet site that contains reports, proxy and information statements and other information 
regarding our filings at www.sec.gov. 
 
Item 1A. Risk Factors 
 
In this report we make, and from time-to-time we otherwise make, written and oral statements regarding our business and prospects, 
such as projections of future performance, statements of management’s plans and objectives, forecasts of market trends, and other 
matters that are forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934.  Statements containing the words or phrases “will likely result,” “are expected to,” “will continue,” 
“is anticipated,” “estimates,” “projects,” “believes,” “expects,” “anticipates,” “intends,” “target,” “goal,” “plans,” “objective,” 
“should” or similar expressions identify forward-looking statements, which may appear in documents, reports, filings with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission, news releases, written or oral presentations made by officers or other representatives made by 
us to analysts, stockholders, investors, news organizations and others, and discussions with management and other of our 
representatives.  For such statements, we claim the protection of the safe harbor for forward-looking statements contained in the 
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. 
 
Our future results, including results related to forward-looking statements, involve a number of risks and uncertainties.  No assurance 
can be given that the results reflected in any forward-looking statements will be achieved. Any forward-looking statement speaks only 
as of the date on which such statement is made.  Our forward-looking statements are based upon assumptions that are sometimes 
based upon estimates, data, communications and other information from suppliers, government agencies and other sources that may be 
subject to revision.  Except as required by law, we do not undertake any obligation to update or keep current either: (i) any forward-
looking statement to reflect events or circumstances arising after the date of such statement; or (ii) the important factors that could 
cause our future results to differ materially from historical results or trends, results anticipated or planned by us, or which are reflected 
from time to time in any forward-looking statement. 
 
In addition to other matters identified or described by us from time to time in filings with the SEC, there are several important factors 
that could cause our future results to differ materially from historical results or trends, results anticipated or planned by us, or results 
that are reflected from time to time in any forward-looking statement. Some of these important factors, but not necessarily all 
important factors, include those set out below. 
 
We are a defendant in a litigation matter that could result in substantial costs and divert management’s attention and resources. 
 
On March 26, 2010, a complaint (as subsequently amended on May 28, 2010) (the “Complaint”) was filed by certain of our 
shareholders including Prime Mover Capital Partners L.P., Strata Fund L.P., Strata Fund Q.P. L.P., and Strata Offshore Fund, Ltd 
(collectively, the “Plaintiffs”) in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York against certain defendants 
including the Company and certain of our other current and former directors and officers. 
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The Complaint alleges claims related to disclosures concerning our electronic gaming machine participation business (the 
“Participation Business”), including but not limited to the alleged violations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange 
Act of 1934 and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder, violations of Nevada Revised Statutes Sections 90.580(e) and 90.660(3), breach 
of fiduciary duty, and negligent misrepresentations. The Plaintiffs allege that we and certain other defendants made false and 
misleading statements about the Participation Business in filings with the SEC, press releases, and other industry and investor 
conferences and meetings during the period from June 13, 2007 and August 13, 2008 and that the Plaintiffs then purchased the 
securities at the inflated prices and later suffered economic losses when the price of our securities decreased. 
 
On June 22, 2011, the court ruled on the motions to dismiss filed by us and certain of our current and former officers and directors. 
The court dismissed all of Prime Mover’s claims and dismissed all of Strata’s claims except for two breach-of-contract counts against 
the Company.  All claims against the current and former officers and directors were dismissed. On November 7, 2011, Plaintiffs filed 
a motion for leave to amend the Complaint for re-pleading all the securities claims against us and all the relevant current and/or former 
officers and directors. On December 15, 2011, the court granted the Plaintiff’s motion for leave to amend the Complaint and on 
December 20, 2011, the Plaintiff filed a second amended Complaint (the “Second Amended Complaint”) which alleged claim 
substantially similar to the original claims in the Complaint. 
 
The Company and certain current and former officers and directors filed a motion to dismiss the Second Amended Complaint on 
January 23, 2012. As of the date of this report, the court has not ruled on our motion to dismiss. As the litigation is at a preliminary 
stage, it is not possible to predict the likely outcome of the case or the probable loss, if any, or the continuation of insurance coverage 
and, accordingly, no accrual has been made for any possible losses in connection with this matter. 
 
We believe that the Plaintiffs’ claims against us and our present and former officers and directors under the Second Amended 
Complaint are presently covered by our directors and officer insurance policies, which provide the covered parties with up to $15 
million of potential insurance coverage. Directors and officer insurance policies, however, generally cover securities claims, not 
breach of contract claims. In the event that the court dismisses all the securities claims under the Second Amended Complaint, and 
thus Plaintiffs’ only remaining claims are for breach of contract, then there is a risk that our director and officer insurance may no 
longer be available to cover the litigation. 

 
The Plaintiffs seek unspecified damages, as well as interest, costs and attorneys’ fees. We intend to vigorously defend ourselves 
against these claims. However, no assurances can be made that we will be successful in our defense of the pending claims. If we are 
not successful in our defense of such claims, we could be forced to, among other things, make significant payments to resolve these 
claims or post significant bonds to pursue appeals, and such payments and/or bonds could have a material adverse effect on our 
business, financial condition and results of operations. Further, regardless of the outcome of the foregoing matters, these litigation 
matters themselves may result in substantial costs and divert management’s attention and resources, all of which could adversely 
affect our business. 
 
We have achieved strong improvement in financial performance in recent quarters but have a history of significant operating 
losses. For the year ended December 31, 2011, we have incurred net income of approximately $642,000. However, this is the first year 
in which we recorded net income. For the year ended December 31, 2010, we incurred a net loss of approximately $5.2 million and 
prior to our Quasi-Reorganization at December 31, 2010, which among other things, eliminated our accumulated deficit account, with 
a commensurate reduction in our additional paid-in capital, we had an accumulated deficit of $386.1 million. During the last three 
years, we have refocused our business operations and streamlined our cost structure, which has resulted in substantially improved 
financial performance and the generation of positive cash flow from operations. However, we do not have a significant history in our 
primary focus of operations, EGM participation, and have recently commenced a new line of operations involving our development of 
regional casinos in the Indo-China region. Our limited operating history in the gaming business makes it difficult for potential 
investors to evaluate our business or prospective operations.  Further, we remain subject to the risks inherent in any developing 
business, including those mentioned below. While we will endeavor to continue to generate positive cash flows from operations, there 
can be no assurance that we will be successful in doing so. 
 
Due to the nature of our participation operations, the actions of our venue owners with which we partner could impact our 
financial performance.   Our primary focus is currently on the ownership and leasing of EGMs on a revenue sharing basis in certain 
countries in Asia.  We focus on targeting venue owners in underserved gaming markets who have little or no gaming operations 
experience.  Since we participate on a revenue sharing basis with these venue owners, our revenue generated from the revenue sharing 
arrangements will be dependent to a significant degree on the efforts and capabilities of the venue owners.  Our revenues and results 
from our EGM participation operations may be impacted by the ability of the venue owners to manage the gaming operations of their 
venues.  Accordingly, there can be no guarantee that the venue owners will be able to manage the gaming operations successfully or 
that the gaming venues operated by them will perform at levels consistent with our financial projections and underlying forecasts and 
assumptions. Further, we have limited past business relationships with the venue operators and, despite background checks and other 



 

11 

due diligence that we may perform, the venue operators may not be reputable. In the event that any of the venue operators are not 
reputable this would expose us to the risk of being unable to collect the revenue to which we are entitled under the revenue share 
arrangements and protect our gaming machine assets. 
 
We have a dependence on NagaWorld. In Cambodia, our EGM participation operations currently focus primarily on operating a 
substantial portion of the gaming machine area in prime casino floor locations at NagaWorld, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Hong 
Kong listed NagaCorp Ltd. (HKSE: 3918). We currently lease 670 EGMs at NagaWorld, representing 45% of our total EGM’s 
operating on a participation basis as of December 31, 2011, and those machines are among our highest performing units on a net win 
per day basis. For the year ended December 31, 2011, our operations at NagaWorld accounted for 51% of our consolidated revenues 
and 80% of our revenue from our EGM participation operations. Although we believe we have a good relationship with NagaCorp, 
should material events occur that are detrimental to NagaWorld and its operations or cause the loss of this customer, it would have a 
significant negative impact on our financial performance. 
 
We could require additional funding in the future to execute our casino and gaming development plans.  As of December 31, 2011, 
we had working capital of approximately $7.8 million.  Since December 31, 2011, our working capital has been positively affected by 
solid cash flow contribution from our gaming operations, particularly our operations at NagaWorld. 

 
We believe we have sufficient cash on hand to fulfill all current obligations as they become due and to fund initial development for 
our casino development projects in the Kampot Province and Pailin Province of Cambodia and EGM purchase plans.  Based on our 
internal revenue projections, existing casino and gaming development and EGM placement rollout plans and our inventory of EGMs, 
we also believe we have the needed capital to fund our currently proposed operations over the next 12 months. However, if we were to 
commit to large casino and gaming development projects or the concurrent development of multiple casino and gaming projects; or 
should our revenue projections fail to meet our existing internal projections; or should we become required to procure additional 
EGMs for projects or due to reasons not currently contemplated, we may need to raise additional capital within the next 12 months.  
We would endeavor to raise funds through various financing sources, including the sale of our equity and debt securities and the 
procurement of commercial debt financing. However, there can be no guarantees that such funds will be available on commercially 
reasonable terms, if at all. If such financing is not available on satisfactory terms, we may be unable to expand or continue our 
business as desired and operating results may be adversely affected. Any debt financing will increase expenses and must be repaid 
regardless of operating results and may involve restrictions limiting our operating flexibility. If we issue equity securities to raise 
additional funds, the following results can occur: 
 
• the percentage ownership of our existing stockholders will be reduced; 
 
• our stockholders may experience additional dilution in net book value per share; and/or 
 
• the new equity securities may have rights, preferences or privileges senior to those of the holders of our common stock. 
 
Intended expansion of gaming operations represents material addition to our business model which has not been proven by us.  In 
May 2010, we announced our intention to expand our gaming operations and become an owner and operator of regional casinos and 
gaming venues under the “Dreamworld” brand in select emerging gaming markets in Indo-China.  While we believe that we can 
leverage our existing market presence and relationships to execute our casino and gaming development plans, there is no guarantee we 
will be successful in securing new casino and gaming projects, funding those projects and/or executing our plans to build and operate 
any of our casino and gaming projects. Since we do not have a prior history in the development of regional casinos, it is difficult for 
potential investors to evaluate our prospective casino operations.  Further, we remain subject to the risks inherent in any developing 
business, including those mentioned herein.  Some of our assumptions will invariably not materialize and some unanticipated events 
and circumstances occurring subsequently may affect other assumptions. Therefore, the actual results achieved may vary from the pro 
forma projections considered by our management, and the variations may be material. No assurance can be given that the future 
results of our casino development operations will meet with consumer acceptance or market success. 
 
Our EGM participation and casino development operations are focused in markets outside the United States which exposes us to 
risks inherent in international business operations. We intend to pursue our gaming machine participation and casino development 
businesses in certain markets in Pan-Asia. We also focus our sales efforts for our gaming chips and plaques in Asia and Australia, but 
these efforts may not be successful. Our international operations expose us to risks and challenges that we would otherwise not face if 
we conducted our business only in the United States, such as: 
 
• increased cost of enforcing our intellectual property rights; 
 
• heightened price sensitivity from customers in emerging markets; 
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• our ability to establish local manufacturing, support and service functions, and to form channel relationships with resellers in non-
U.S. markets; 

 

• localization of our EGMs and components, including translation into foreign languages and the associated expenses; 
 

• compliance with multiple, conflicting and changing governmental laws and regulations; 
 

• foreign currency fluctuations; 
 

• laws favoring local competitors; 
 

• weaker legal protections of contract terms, enforce recoveries of receivables and intellectual property rights and mechanisms for 
enforcing those rights; 

 

• market disruptions created by public health crises in regions outside the United States, such as Avian flu, SARS and other 
diseases; 

 

• difficulties in staffing and managing foreign operations, including challenges presented by relationships with workers’ councils 
and labor unions; and 

 

• changing regional economic, political and regulatory conditions. 
 

Our gaming operations are presently concentrated in Cambodia and the Philippines, which means that our results of operations or 
financial condition could be materially adversely effected by economic or political developments in either country.  Our business 
model contemplates our development of our EGM participation business throughout Pan-Asia and our casino development business 
throughout Indo-China, however at the present time our EGM participation business and casino development business are being 
pursued solely in Cambodia and the Philippines.  As a result, we experience significant exposure to the business risks presented by the 
economies and regulatory environments of those two countries.  The Cambodian and the Philippines government exercise substantial 
control over virtually every sector of their country’s economy through regulation and, in some cases, state ownership.  Our ability to 
operate in Cambodia and the Philippines may be harmed by changes in its laws and regulations, including those relating to gaming, 
taxation, environmental regulations, land use rights, property and other matters. For example, in February 2009, Cambodia’s Prime 
Minister called for the closure of the country’s sole bookmaker, Cambo Six, and all but two of the approximately 70 slot clubs in 
Cambodia’s Phnom Penh area, all of which had previously been licensed by the Cambodian government.  In the Philippines, all 
gaming operations are controlled by the Philippine Amusement and Gaming Corporation (“PAGCOR”), a government corporation 
that holds the exclusive right to operate casinos and slot rooms in the Philippines and that reports directly to the Office of the President 
of the Philippines.  While we have no reason to believe at this time that any of our gaming operations or those of our partners, such as 
NagaWorld, are at risk of adverse government action in Cambodia or the Philippines,  the central or local governments of such 
jurisdictions may impose new, stricter regulations or interpretations of existing regulations that would require additional expenditures 
and efforts on our part to ensure our compliance with such regulations or interpretations or which may even restrict the licenses under 
which we and our partners operate. Likewise, any political turmoil, adverse weather condition, calamity or epidemic occurs in any of 
these two countries would have a significant negative impact on our business operations and financial performance. 
 
We may be exposed to liabilities under the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, and any determination that we violated the Foreign 
Corrupt Practices Act could have a material adverse effect on our business.  We are subject to the Foreign Corrupt Practice Act, or 
FCPA, and other laws that prohibit improper payments or offers of payments to foreign governments and their officials and political 
parties by U.S. persons and issuers as defined by the statute, for the purpose of obtaining or retaining business.  We have operations 
and agreements with third parties throughout Pan-Asia.  Our activities in Asia create the risk of unauthorized payments or offers of 
payments by the employees, consultants, sales agents or distributors of our company, even though they may not always be subject to 
our control.  It is our policy to implement safeguards to discourage these practices by our employees. However, our existing 
safeguards and any future improvements may prove to be less than effective, and the employees, consultants, sales agents or 
distributors of our company may engage in conduct for which we might be held responsible. Violations of the FCPA may result in 
severe criminal or civil sanctions, and we may be subject to other liabilities, which could negatively affect our business, operating 
results and financial condition. 
 
We may be unable to adequately protect our intellectual property rights. Our success in business, in particular, in relation to our 
gaming chips and plaques and non-gaming products, is impacted by maintaining the confidentiality and proprietary nature of our 
intellectual property rights. Our ability to compete may be damaged, and our revenues may be reduced if we are unable to protect our 
intellectual property rights adequately. To protect these rights, we rely principally on a combination of: 
 
• contractual arrangements providing for non-disclosure and prohibitions on use; 
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• patents and pending patent applications; 
 
• trade secret, copyright and trademark laws; and 
 
• certain built-in technical product features. 
 
Patent, trade secret, copyright and trademark laws provide limited protection. The protections provided by laws governing intellectual 
property rights do not prevent our competitors from developing, independently, products similar or superior to our products and 
technologies. In addition, effective protection of copyrights, trade secrets, trademarks, and other proprietary rights may be unavailable 
or limited in certain foreign countries. We may be unaware of certain non-publicly available patent applications, which, if issued as 
patents, could relate to our services and products as currently designed or as we may modify them in the future. Legal or regulatory 
proceedings to enforce our patents, trademarks or copyrights could be costly, time consuming, and could divert the attention of 
management and technical personnel. 
 
EGT Entertainment Holding holds a significant interest in our common stock, and is our largest creditor giving EGT 
Entertainment Holding significant power over our management and all shareholder actions. As of March 15, 2012, EGT 
Entertainment Holding owned 45.8 million shares of our common stock, representing approximately 38.3% of our issued and 
outstanding common shares, and as of December 31, 2011 we were indebted to EGT Entertainment Holding in the approximate 
amount of $6.2 million (representing approximately 53.6% of our total liabilities as of such date).  Accordingly, given its equity 
ownership, EGT Entertainment Holding has significant control over our management and all matters requiring approval by our 
shareholders, including the power to elect our board members and effect the approval of mergers and other significant corporate 
transactions. This concentration of ownership will make it difficult for other shareholders to effect substantial changes in our 
Company, and also will have the effect of delaying, preventing or expediting, as the case may be, a further change in our control. 
 
Our common stock may be delisted from the NYSE Amex and if this occurs you may have difficulty converting your investment 
into cash efficiently. The NYSE Amex has established certain standards for the delisting of a security from the NYSE Amex. The 
standards for delisting from the stock market include, among other things, common stock selling for a substantial period of time at a 
low price per share, if the issuer fails to effect a reverse split of such shares within a reasonable time after being notified that the stock 
exchange deems such action to be appropriate. Our common stock has continuously traded below $1.00 since August 2008. While we 
have not received any communications to date from the NYSE Amex concerning the selling price of our common shares, there can be 
no assurance that the NYSE Amex will take action to delist our common stock from the exchange due to the low selling price of the 
shares.  If that were to occur, we would consider effecting a reverse split of our common stock in order to raise our share price to a 
level satisfactory to the NYSE Amex. However, reverse splits of thinly traded shares have, at times, resulted in declining share prices 
after a proportional adjustment in share price to give effect to the split. If our common stock were to be excluded from the NYSE 
Amex, or if we elected to conduct a reverse split in order to maintain the listing, the price of our common stock and the ability of 
holders to sell such stock could be materially adversely affected. 
 
Our board of directors may issue blank check preferred stock, which may affect the voting rights of our holders and could deter or 
delay an attempt to obtain control of us. Our board of directors is authorized, without stockholder approval, to issue preferred stock in 
series and to fix and state the voting rights and powers, designation, preferences and relative, participating, optional or other special 
rights of the shares of each such series and the qualifications, limitations and restrictions thereof. Preferred stock may rank prior to our 
common stock with respect to dividends rights, liquidation preferences, or both, and may have full or limited voting rights. 
Accordingly, issuance of shares of preferred stock could adversely affect the voting power of holders of our common stock and could 
have the effect of deterring or delaying an attempt to obtain control of us. 
 
Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments 
 
Not applicable. 
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Item 2. Properties 
 
We also lease the following offices and warehouse facilities throughout Asia and in Australia: 
 

Location/Activities  
Expiration Date 

of Lease  

Monthly 
Lease 

Payment 
(USD)  

Area 
(sq. ft.) 

Hong Kong; Administrative office ..............................................   March 2013  8,700 1,920 
Melbourne, Australia; Manufacturing and  

Administrative offices ..............................................................   December 2013  25,000 32,000 
Melbourne, Australia; Warehouse facilities .................................   January 2014  25,000 32,000 
Philippines; Administrative office ...............................................   September 2012  2,000 1,668 
Cambodia; Administrative office .................................................   September 2012  2,500 2,497 
Cambodia; Warehouse facilities ..................................................   March 2013  2,000 7,535 
 
In the United States, we do not have an office but we have a mailing address at 40 E. Chicago Avenue, #186, Chicago, Illinois. 
 
Item 3. Legal Proceedings 
 
We are a party to certain legal matters as discussed below. 
 
Prime Mover/Strata Litigation 
 
On March 26, 2010, a complaint (as subsequently amended on May 28, 2010) (the “Complaint”) was filed by certain shareholders of 
the Company including Prime Mover Capital Partners L.P., Strata Fund L.P., Strata Fund Q.P. L.P., and Strata Offshore Fund, Ltd 
(collectively, the “Plaintiffs”) in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York against certain defendants 
including the Company and certain other current and former directors and officers of the Company. 
 
The Complaint alleges claims related to disclosures concerning the Company’s electronic gaming machine participation business (the 
“Participation Business”), including but not limited to the alleged violations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange 
Act of 1934 and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder, violations of Nevada Revised Statutes Sections 90.580(e) and 90.660(3), breach 
of fiduciary duty, and negligent misrepresentations. The Plaintiffs allege that the Company and certain other defendants made false 
and misleading statements about the Participation Business in filings with the SEC, press releases, and other industry and investor 
conferences and meetings during the period from June 13, 2007 and August 13, 2008 and that the Plaintiffs then purchased the 
securities at the inflated prices and later suffered economic losses when the price of the Company’s securities decreased. 
 
The Plaintiffs seek unspecified damages, as well as interest, costs and attorneys’ fees.  The Company engaged legal counsel to 
consider the claims set forth in the Complaint. The Company intends to defend itself vigorously against and respond to the Complaint 
in a timely manner consistent with applicable federal and state laws. 
 
On June 22, 2011, the court ruled on the motions to dismiss filed by the Company and certain of its current and former officers and 
directors. The court dismissed all of Prime Mover’s claims and dismissed all of Strata’s claims except for two breach-of-contract 
counts against the Company.  All claims against the current and former officers and directors were dismissed. On November 7, 2011, 
Plaintiffs filed a motion for leave to amend the Complaint for re-pleading all the securities claims against us and all the relevant 
current and/or former officers and directors. On December 15, 2011 the court granted the Plaintiff’s motion to amend the Complaint 
and on December 20, 2011 the Plaintiffs filed a second amended Complaint (the “Second Amended Complaint”) which alleged claims 
substantially similar to the original claims in the Complaint. The Company and certain current and former officers and directors have 
filed a motion to dismiss the Second Amended Complaint on January 23, 2012. As of the date of this report, the court has not ruled on 
our motion to dismiss. 

 
The Plaintiffs seek unspecified damages, as well as interest, costs and attorneys’ fees. The Company intends to defend itself 
vigorously against the Second Amended Complaint. As the litigation is at a preliminary stage, it is not possible to predict the likely 
outcome of the case or the probable loss, if any, or the continuation of insurance coverage and, accordingly, no accrual has been made 
for any possible losses in connection with this matter. 
 



 

15 

Item 4. [Not Applicable] 
 

PART II 
 
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Repurchases of Equity 

Securities 
 

Market Information 
 

Our common stock currently trades on the NYSE Amex under the symbol “EGT”. 
 
The following table sets forth the high and low closing sale prices of our common stock, as reported by the NYSE Amex, for each 
quarter during the past two fiscal years: 
 
2011  Low  High 

Fourth Quarter ............................................   $ 0.22 $ 0.31 
Third Quarter .............................................   $ 0.26 $ 0.35 
Second Quarter ..........................................   $ 0.26 $ 0.39 
First Quarter ...............................................   $ 0.35 $ 0.46 
 
2010  Low  High 

Fourth Quarter ............................................   $ 0.29 $ 0.42 
Third Quarter .............................................   $ 0.22 $ 0.27 
Second Quarter ..........................................   $ 0.23 $ 0.31 
First Quarter ...............................................   $ 0.23 $ 0.31 
 

Holders of Record 
 

As of March 15, 2012, we had outstanding 119,618,613 shares of common stock, held by approximately 127 shareholders of record. 
 

Dividend Policy 
 

We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our common stock. We presently intend to retain earnings to finance the operation 
and expansion of our business. 
 

Equity Compensation Plan Information 
 

On July 23, 2010, shareholders approved an amendment of our 2008 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2008 Plan”), to increase the number of 
common shares authorized for issuance under the plan from 5,000,000 to 10,000,000.  The 2008 Plan was adopted by our stockholders 
on September 8, 2008.  We previously had two other stock options plans, our Amended and Restated 1999 Stock Option Plan and our 
Amended and Restated 1999 Directors’ Stock Option Plan, both of which expired in January 2009.  However, those options 
previously granted under our expired stock option plans which were outstanding as of the plans’ expiration remain outstanding.  
Pursuant to the aforementioned plans, as of December 31, 2011, there were options outstanding to purchase 12,593,234 shares of our 
common stock with a weighted average exercise price per share of $0.98 and options available for future issuance to purchase 460,607 
shares of our common stock. 

 

The following table sets forth certain information as of December 31, 2011 about our stock plans under which our equity securities are 
authorized for issuance. 
 
      (c) 
      Number of Securities 
  (a)    Remaining Available for
  Number of Securities  (b)  Future Issuance Under 
  to be Issued Upon  Weighted-Average  Equity Compensation 
  Exercise of  Exercise Price of  Plans 
  Outstanding  Outstanding  (Excluding Securities 
Plan Category  Options  Options  Reflected In Column (a))

Equity compensation plans approved by 
security holders ...........................................   12,593,234 $ 0.98 460,607 

Equity compensation plans not approved 
by security holders ......................................   — — — 

Total ................................................................   12,593,234 $ 0.98 460,607 
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The first column reflects outstanding stock options to purchase: (i) 4,112,834 shares of common stock pursuant to our Amended and 
Restated 1999 Stock Option Plan with an average exercise price of $1.07; (ii) 90,400 shares of common stock pursuant to our 
Amended and Restated 1999 Directors’ Stock Option Plan with an average exercise price of $1.71; (iii) 1,990,000 shares of common 
stock pursuant to certain non-plan options approved by our stockholders in September 2007 with an average exercise price of $2.9; 
and (iv) 6,400,000 shares of common stock pursuant to our 2008 Stock Incentive Plan with an average exercise price of $0.31. The 
third column reflects 460,607 shares remaining for issuance under our 2008 Stock Incentive Plan as of December 31, 2011. 
 
In January 2012, our board of directors approved the grant of options to purchase a total of 1,100,000 shares of common stock and 
779,220 shares of restricted common stock under our 2008 Plan.  As noted above, however, only 460,607 shares of common stock 
remained available for issuance pursuant to the 2008 Plan at that time. The grant of the 1,418,613 shares in excess of the share amount 
available for issuance under the 2008 Plan was an inadvertent mistake by us without a then present awareness of the share limitations 
under the 2008 Plan, and  such grant of the excess shares constitutes a breach of the listing rules of the NYSE-Amex which provide 
that, subject to limited exceptions, none of which apply in this case, all grants of compensatory securities must be within the number 
of securities that reserved for issuance under the relevant stock incentive plan as approved by the shareholders of the listed company. 
We voluntarily notified the NYSE-Amex of the excess share grant and the apparent breach of the NYSE-Amex listing rules and 
advised the NYSE-Amex that we intend to redress the situation by seeking shareholder approval, at our annual meeting of 
shareholders tentatively scheduled for May 2012, of a further amendment to the 2008 Plan to increase the number of shares authorized 
for issuance thereunder and shareholder ratification of the grant of the excess shares. In the event our shareholders do not approve the 
ratification of the grant of the excess shares under the 2008 Plan, our chief executive officer and certain management team members 
are prepared to cancel options and shares held by them totaling 1,418,613 shares to bring us into compliance with the NYSE-Amex 
listing rules. Any cancellation of shares and options by our management for purposes of reducing the number of shares granted under 
the 2008 Plan to 10 million shares will not preclude our board from issuing an equal amount of shares to such persons in the future, 
subject to appropriate shareholder approval requirements of the NYSE-Amex. As of the date of this report, we have not received any 
formal notice from the NYSE-Amex concerning our apparent breach of the NYSE-Amex listing rules and we believe that the NYSE-
Amex intends to defer any action until we have had the opportunity to redress the situation in the manner set forth above. 
 
Item 6. Selected Financial Data 
 
Not applicable. 
 
Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 
 
OVERVIEW 
 
We intend for this discussion to provide the reader with information that will assist in understanding our financial statements, the 
changes in certain key items in those financial statements from year to year, and the primary factors that accounted for those changes, 
as well as how certain accounting principles affect our financial statements.  The discussion also provides information about the 
financial results of the various segments of our business to provide a better understanding of how those segments and their results 
affect our financial condition and results of operations as a whole.  This discussion should be read in conjunction with our 
consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes as of and for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 included 
elsewhere in this report. 
 
While our discussion will include a comparison of operations between the periods in 2011 and 2010, comparison between two periods 
are difficult due to the Quasi-Reorganization performed on December 31, 2010 as described in Note 1 of the financial statements. In 
particular, because the basis of our long lived assets and intangible assets were revised, depreciation and amortization for the year 
ended December 31, 2011 is not comparable to amounts recorded for the year ended December 31, 2010. 
 
Given our plan to develop casino operations in the Indo-China region and the shared common resources of our Dolphin operations, we 
reassessed our business components and changed our reporting segments beginning in the fiscal year 2011. We currently conduct 
business in two operating segments: (i) gaming, which consists of electronic gaming machine (EGM) participation operations and our 
plans to develop and operate casinos and gaming establishments in select emerging markets in Indo-China; and (ii) other products, 
which consist of the manufacture and distribution of plastic products, including traditional non-RFID and RFID casino chips and 
plaques and other plastic products. 
 
In the fourth quarter of 2008, we began to implement efforts to refocus our business model and streamline our operating structure. We 
believe these efforts have led to our substantially improved financial performance, which has culminated in the achievement of record-
high revenue, operating income, net income, and adjusted EBITDA for the year ended December 31, 2011. 
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Over the last three years, consolidated revenue has improved by 74%.  This was primarily driven by our gaming operations, which 
posted revenue growth of 149% over this same period.  This top-line growth combined with aggressive cost reductions has resulted in 
the achievement of annual net profitability for the first time in our history and the generation of quality recurring adjusted EBITDA, 
which reached $11.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2011 compared to $140,000 in year ended December 31, 2009. We 
have also strengthened our balance sheet as we increased cash and cash equivalents to $12.8 million as of December 31, 2011 from 
$4.2 million as of December 31, 2009, while we reduced debt to $6.2 million from $9.4 million, respectively. 
 
    Old Basis  % Change  
  Years Ended December 31,  From 2009 to  
(amounts in thousands, except per unit data)  2011  2010  2009  2011  

Total:        
Revenues ......................................................  $ 27,129  $ 22,205  $ 15,623 74% 
Gross profit/(loss) ........................................  $ 10,204  $ 6,510  $ (2,253) NM 
Gross margin percentage ..............................  38%  29%  (14)%  
Operating income/(loss) (2) .........................  $ 847  $ (5,686)  $ (27,896) NM 
Net income/(loss) .........................................  $ 642  $ (5,210)  $ (26,359) NM 
Adjusted EBITDA (1,2) ...............................  $ 11,737  $ 8,350  $ 140 8,284% 

        
Gaming:        

Revenues ......................................................  $ 17,396  $ 14,312  $ 6,998 149% 
Average net win per unit (3) ........................  $ 140  $ 117  $ 89 57% 
Gross profit/(loss) ........................................  $ 8,817  $ 5,533  $ (4,107) NM 
Gross margin percentage ..............................  51%  39%  (59)%  

        
Other products:        

Revenues ......................................................  $ 9,733  $ 7,893  $ 8,625 13% 
Gross profit ..................................................  $ 1,387  $ 977  $ 1,854 (25)%
Gross margin percentage ..............................  14%  12%  21%  

 
      Old Basis  % Change  
  December 31,  From 2009 to  
(amounts in thousands)  2011  2010  2009  2011  

Cash and cash equivalents ...............................  $ 12,759  $ 10,217  $ 4,190 205% 
Total debt (4) ...................................................  $ 6,211  $ 9,202  $ 9,393 (34)%
 

 
(1) “Adjusted EBITDA” is earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, amortization, stock-based compensation, and other non-

cash operating income and expenses. Adjusted EBITDA is presented exclusively as a supplemental disclosure because our
management believes that it is widely used to measure the performance, and as a basis for valuation, of gaming companies. Our
management uses Adjusted EBITDA as a measure of the operating performance of its segments and to compare the operating
performance of its operations with those of its competitors. We also present Adjusted EBITDA because it is used by some
investors as a way to measure a company’s ability to incur and service debt, make capital expenditures and meet working capital 
requirements. Gaming companies have historically reported EBITDA as a supplement to financial measures in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles in the United States (“GAAP”). Adjusted EBITDA should not be considered as an 
alternative to operating income as an indicator of our performance, as an alternative to cash flows from operating activities as a 
measure of liquidity, or as an alternative to any other measure determined in accordance with GAAP. Unlike net income/(loss), 
Adjusted EBITDA does not include depreciation or interest expense and, therefore, does not reflect current or future capital 
expenditures or the cost of capital. We compensate for these limitations by using Adjusted EBITDA as only one of several
comparative tools, together with GAAP measurements, to assist in the evaluation of operating performance. Such GAAP
measurements include operating income, net income, cash flows from operations and cash flow data. We have significant uses 
of cash flows, including capital expenditures, interest payments, debt principal repayments, taxes and other non-recurring 
charges, which are not reflected in Adjusted EBITDA. Our calculation of Adjusted EBITDA may be different from the
calculation methods used by other companies and, therefore, comparability may be limited. 

(2) Operating loss and adjusted EBITDA for 2010 and 2009 were revised to reflect the reclassification of loss on dispositions of 
assets. 
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(3) Average net win figures (“WUD”) exclude EGM seats in operation during venues’ soft launch opening periods, if applicable,
and apply revenue recognized on a cash basis in the calculation of WUD for venues for which revenues are recognized on a cash
basis.  During the year ended December 31, 2011, one venue in Cambodia operated during a soft launch with a total of 60 EGM
seats as of December 31, 2011 and one venue in the Philippines recognized revenue on a cash basis with 70 EGM seats as of 
December 31, 2011. Had these seats been included and revenue recognized on an accrual basis, WUD would have been $214 for
Cambodia, $61 for Philippines and $133 for the consolidated average for the year ended December 31, 2011. During the year 
ended December 31, 2010, only one venue in Cambodia operated during a soft launch from September 19, 2010 to December
31, 2010 with a total of 10 EGM seats. Consequently, there was no material difference to average WUD figures for the period
had these seats been included in the WUD calculation. 

(4) Amount represents notes payable to a related party. 
 

Our primary focus is our gaming operations, which presently entail the leasing of EGMs on a revenue sharing basis to gaming 
establishments in Cambodia and the Philippines. We identify and secure venues for the placement of EGMs and casino management 
systems where warranted, which track game performance and provide statistics on each installed EGM owned and leased by us. We 
contract with the venue owners or operators for the placement of the EGMs on a revenue sharing basis. In addition, we acquire and 
install the EGMs and other gaming systems and peripherals at the relevant gaming venues. 
 

As of December 31, 2011, our EGM participation operations were conducted in two countries, Cambodia and the Philippines, and 
totaled 1,477 EGM seats in operation in seven venues.  In Cambodia, we had a total of 719 EGM seats in operation in two venues.  In 
the Philippines, we had a total of 758 EGM seats in operation in five venues. 
 

In Cambodia, our EGM participation operations currently focus primarily on operating a substantial portion of the gaming machine 
area in prime casino floor locations at NagaWorld, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Hong Kong listed NagaCorp Ltd. (HKSE: 3918).  
NagaWorld is Cambodia’s premier luxury destination gaming resort and the only licensed full service casino in a designated area 
around the capital city of Phnom Penh.  Our gaming operations at NagaWorld, which we jointly operate with NagaWorld, have 
provided us strong growth in EGM participation revenue and cash flow.  Since our first EGM installations in January 2009 of 
approximately 200 seats, we have dramatically grown our machine base at this venue to 670 seats under contract. 
 

We have also continued to selectively pursue additional EGM participation opportunities.  In November 2011, we entered into a 
gaming machine participation and management agreement with leading Cambodian hotelier, Sokha Hotels and Resorts, to place up to 
250 EGM seats and jointly manage these slot operations in its new casino resort in a tourist area of the Kampot Province.  The first 
phase of the casino resort is expected to open in May 2012.  We will initially place 200 EGM seats at the time of the opening and will 
ramp up to 250 seats over the subsequent several months.  This strategic project expands our gaming operations in the Indo-China 
region and is anticipated to contribute to near-term earnings. 

 
In the Philippines, we are beginning to derive benefits from our strategic efforts to improve our operating performance and growth 
potential in this market.  These efforts include: implementing, with the support of our venue owner partners, targeted marketing 
programs; the redeployment, when possible, of our gaming assets from lower to higher performing venues in the market; and greater 
overall revenue sharing in this market due to our acquisition of a higher revenue sharing interest in one of our most promising venues 
in October  2011. As a result, our Philippine operations posted solid growth in average net win per unit for the year ended December 
31, 2011 and improvement in gaming revenues for the six-month period ended December 31, 2011 compared to the prior-year periods. 
 

With regard to our other products segment, we posted marked improvement in sales of our gaming chip and plaques with higher 
customer reorders and the addition of new customers in our core markets of Australia and Asia.  We attribute this to our targeted 
marketing strategies and wide range of product offerings with state of the art security features. With continued focus on marketing and 
planned investment in expanding our product offerings and production capacity, we believe we are better positioned to capitalize on 
the future growth opportunities for gaming chips and plaques in our target markets.  While these efforts are expected to improve 
revenue and gross profit for these operations over the long-term, they are not anticipated to minimize the normal fluctuation in 
quarterly sales flow of this business segment. 
 

Our consolidated revenue for the year ended December 31, 2011 was approximately $27.1 million, of which revenue from our gaming 
and other products operations comprised 64% and 36%, respectively, of consolidated revenue.  This compares to consolidated revenue 
of approximately $22.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2010, of which revenue from our gaming and other products 
operations comprised 64% and 36%, respectively, of consolidated revenue. 
 

Revenue from our gaming operations for the year ended December 31, 2011 was approximately $17.4 million compared to 
approximately $14.3 million in the prior year.  Gross margin for the gaming business improved to 51% in the year ended December 
31, 2011 compared to 39% in the prior year.  Excluding non-cash items such as EGM depreciation, casino contract amortization and 
assets impairment of gaming assets, gross margin for the gaming business was 93% for year ended December 31, 2011 compared to 
95% in the prior year. The slight decline was primarily due to increased marketing activities, which resulted in higher other operating 
costs for the year ended December 31, 2011. 
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Based on the solid revenue performance, particularly from our operations at NagaWorld, and our continued efforts to control costs, we 
achieved an annual net profit for the first time in our history.   In addition, we have demonstrated our ability to generate quality 
recurring cash flow from operations.  Adjusted EBITDA (as defined below) was approximately $11.7 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2011 compared to approximately $8.4 million in the prior year.  Cash flow provided by operations was approximately 
$10.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2011 compared to approximately $11.4 million in the prior year. Excluding a one-off 
recoupment of prepaid commitment fees of approximately $4.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2010, there was a significant 
increase in cash flow provided from operations of approximately $3.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2011 compared to the 
prior year. 
 

Our improved financial performance along with our established market presence provides us a solid foundation from which to expand 
our gaming operations in our target markets. 
 

In May 2010, we announced our intention to expand our gaming operations and become an owner and operator of regional casinos 
under our “Dreamworld” brand in select emerging gaming markets in the Indo-China region. We believe this expanded business 
strategy will allow us the potential for higher long-term incremental returns on our operations given the potential to collect a greater 
percentage of the gaming revenue compared to our existing EGM participation contracts. In addition, it provides us greater long-term 
control over our operations. 
 

Pursuant to this growth strategy, on March 4, 2011, we entered into a shareholders’ agreement with a local partner to form a new 
company with the name of “Dreamworld Leisure (Kampot) Limited” (the “new company”) for the development, ownership and 
operation of a casino project to be located in the Kampot Province of Cambodia near the Vietnam border (the “Kampot Project”). 

 

The local partner is the owner of a parcel of land measuring approximately 91,000 square feet (8,500 square meters) located in 
Southern Cambodia in the Kampot Province near the Vietnam border and the casino, which will be operated under the name 
Dreamworld Casino (“Dreamworld Casino (Kampot)”), will be constructed thereon.  The initial phase of Dreamworld Casino 
(Kampot) is expected to include up to 14 table games, such as baccarat, roulette and dice games, and 25 EGMs and to open by the end 
of the third quarter of 2012. Depending on demand and the availability of capital, we may add at a future date additional casino floor 
space and equipment as well as complementary facilities such as hotel rooms, a spa and other entertainment amenities. 
 

Under the terms of the shareholders agreement, the new company will apply for its own gaming license and the local partner will lease 
to the new company the land for a period of 25 years for an annual fee of $1 and we shall provide funding for all development, 
construction and pre-opening costs of the Kampot Project; provide all necessary EGMs and gaming tables to Dreamworld Casino 
(Kampot) as well as pay the local partner a lump sum of $260,000 as the balance consideration for his contributions.  We and the local 
partner will share the net revenue of the new company (the total gross revenue of the casino less any payouts paid to customers, 
operating expenses, and gaming and non-gaming taxes on the new company’s revenue) on a 60%/40% basis, respectively. 
 

Based on the current project timeline, we expect to open Dreamworld Casino (Kampot) in the third quarter of 2012. 
 

Capital expenditures for the initial phase of the Kampot Project are projected to be approximately $1.2 million as the EGMs will be 
sourced from our existing inventory.  The Kampot Project is for an initial term of 25 years commencing March 2011 and is subject to 
renewal by the parties in writing. 
 

On May 16, 2011, we announced its plans to enter into a shareholders’ agreement (the “Shareholders’ Agreement”) by one of our 
subsidiaries with a Cambodian individual with respect to our participation in a new company with the name of “Dreamworld Leisure 
(Pailin) Limited” (“DWP”) for development, ownership and operation of a casino located in the Pailin Province of Northwestern 
Cambodia near the Thailand border (the “Pailin Project”). 
 

Under the Shareholders Agreement, the relevant local partner had agreed to lease to DWP certain real property upon which the Pailin 
Project is to be developed for an annual fee of $1 and all profits of the Pailin Project were to have been split between us and the 
relevant local partner on a 55%/45% basis, respectively.  Subsequent to the date of the Shareholders Agreement, we and the local 
partner agreed to revise the cooperation structure for the Pailin Project by terminating the Shareholders Agreement and entering into 
an Undertaking Agreement and a Lease Agreement, each dated July 12, 2011.  Under the Undertaking Agreement and the Lease 
Agreement: (a) we will be the sole owner of DWP; (b) the local partner’s profit participation will be reduced from 45% to 20%; and 
(c) we will pay a fair monthly rental to the local partner for the lease of the Pailin Project property. 
 

Based on the most recent venue layout, the Pailin Project is initially intended to include a casino with approximately 30 table games 
and 40 EGMs. The initial phase of the casino will be constructed on land owned by the local partner and will be approximately 13,000 
square feet (1,196 square meters) in size. We have an option to acquire an adjacent property, which could be used in the future to 
develop additional phases of the Pailin Project. Such additional phases are intended to include expanded casino operations and 
complementary facilities such as hotel rooms, a spa and other entertainment amenities and could expand the footprint of the project to 
over approximately 262,000 square feet (approximately 24,356 square meters). 
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We commenced construction of the initial phase of the Pailin Project in December 2011. We are responsible for all capital 
expenditures relating to Dreamworld Casino (Pailin) and our total capital expenditure for the initial phase of the project is expected to 
be approximately $2.4 million and will be funded from internal cash resources. The grand opening of Dreamworld Casino (Pailin) is 
scheduled on May 9, 2012. 

 

We continue to actively pursue casino and gaming development projects with a focus on the Indo-China region and are building a 
pipeline of potential projects. However, there is no guarantee we will successfully conclude any of these negotiations. In addition, we 
own a parcel of land with total area of approximately seven acres (30,000 square meters) in the Takeo Province of Cambodia near the 
Vietnam border and were granted in-principle approval to build and open a casino-hotel in the Takeo Province by the Cambodian 
government.  At the present time, we do not expect to commit significant capital to a hotel-casino project on this land in order to divert 
our available capital to certain potential new projects, which we believe will offer greater short- and medium-term return potential.  
Our future development plans for this land will be dependent on our available capital and local market conditions at that time. 
 

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS - YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2011 AND 2010 
 

The following is a schedule showing summarized operating results on a consolidated basis and separately by each of our two operating 
segments, namely, gaming operations and other products for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010. 
 
    Old Basis  Increase/(Decrease)  
  Years Ended December 31,  from 2010 to 2011  

(amounts in thousands, except per share data)  2011  2010  
Dollar 

Amount  
% 

Amount  

Total:       
Revenues .............................................................   $ 27,129  $ 22,205 $ 4,924 22%
Gross profit  ........................................................   $ 10,204  $ 6,510 $ 3,694 57%
Gross margin percentage .....................................   38%  29%   
Operating income/(loss) (1) ................................   $ 847  $ (5,686) $ 6,533 NM 
Net income/(loss) ................................................   $ 642  $ (5,210) $ 5,852 NM 
Adjusted EBITDA (1) .........................................   $ 11,737  $ 8,350 $ 3,387 41%

       
Basic and diluted earning/(loss) per share ..........   $ 0.01  $ (0.05)   

       
Gaming:       

Revenues .............................................................   $ 17,396  $ 14,312 $ 3,084 22%
Gross profit  ........................................................   $ 8,817  $ 5,533 $ 3,284 59%
Gross margin percentage .....................................   51%  39%   

       
Other products:       

Revenues .............................................................   $ 9,733  $ 7,893 $ 1,840 23%
Gross profit .........................................................   $ 1,387  $ 977 $ 410 42%
Gross margin percentage .....................................   14%  12%   

 

 
(1)  Operating loss and adjusted EBITDA for 2010 were revised to reflect the reclassification of loss on dispositions of assets. 
 
A reconciliation of EBITDA, as adjusted, to the net profit/(loss) for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 is provided below. 
 
    Old Basis 
  Years Ended December 31, 
(amounts in thousands, except per share data)  2011  2010 

    
Net profit/(loss) — GAAP ................................................................................   $ 642  $ (5,210)
Interest expense and finance fees ......................................................................   405  411
Interest income ..................................................................................................   (93)  (92)
Income tax expense/(benefit) ............................................................................   51  (665)
Depreciation and amortization ..........................................................................   7,754  9,395
Stock-based compensation expense ..................................................................   1,452  887
Impairment of assets .........................................................................................   1,351  3,460
Loss on dispositions of assets ...........................................................................   175  164
EBITDA, as adjusted (1) ................................................................................  $ 11,737  $ 8,350
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(1)   Adjusted EBITDA for 2010 was revised to reflect the reclassification of loss on dispositions of assets. 

 

Total revenue increased approximately $4.9 million to approximately $27.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2011 compared 
to approximately $22.2 million in the prior year due to an increase in both gaming and other products revenue.  Revenue from gaming 
increased as a result of higher average net win per machine.  Revenue from other products increased as a result of increased orders 
from major customers. 
 

Gross profit increased approximately $3.7 million to approximately $10.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2011 compared to 
approximately $6.5 million in the prior year primarily as a result of higher revenue from gaming and other products operations, with 
relatively flat cost of gaming participation expenses in the year ended December 31, 2011 compared to the prior year. 
 

Operating income increased approximately $6.5 million to approximately $847,000 for the year ended December 31, 2011 compared 
to an operating loss of approximately $5.7 million in the prior year primarily due to higher overall gross profit.  Net income increased 
approximately $5.9 million to approximately $642,000 compared to a net loss of approximately $5.2 million in the prior year 
primarily due to the improvement in operating income. 
 

Gaming Operations 
 

Revenues from our gaming operations currently consist solely of our EGM participation operations. 
 
    Old Basis  
  Years Ended December 31,  
(amounts in thousands, except per unit data)  2011  2010  

Net revenue to the Company     
Cambodia ........................................................................................   $ 13,942  $ 10,787  
Philippines ......................................................................................   3,454  3,525 
Consolidated total ...........................................................................   $ 17,396  $ 14,312  

Average net win per unit per day(1)     
Cambodia ........................................................................................   $ 232  $ 202  
Philippines ......................................................................................   $ 63  $ 57  
Consolidated total ...........................................................................   $ 140  $ 117  

 
  December 31,  
  2011  2010  

EGM seats in operation    
Cambodia ........................................................................................   719 680 
Philippines ......................................................................................   758 867 
Consolidated total ...........................................................................   1,477 1,547 

 

 
(1) Average net win figures (“WUD”) exclude EGM seats in operation during venues’ soft launch opening periods, if applicable, 

and apply revenue recognized on a cash basis in the calculation of WUD for venues for which revenues are recognized on a cash
basis.  During the year ended December 31, 2011, one venue in Cambodia operated during a soft launch with a total of 60 EGM 
seats as of December 31, 2011 and one venue in the Philippines recognized revenue on a cash basis with 70 EGM seats as of 
December 31, 2011. Had these seats been included and revenue recognized on an accrual basis, WUD would have been $214 for 
Cambodia, $61 for Philippines and $133 for the consolidated average for the year ended December 31, 2011. During the year 
ended December 31, 2010, only one venue in Cambodia operated during a soft launch from September 19, 2010 to December
31, 2010 with a total of 10 EGM seats. Consequently, there was no material difference to average WUD figures for the period
had these seats been included in the WUD calculation. 

 

Revenue from gaming operations increased approximately $3.1 million to approximately $17.4 million for the year ended December 
31, 2011 compared to revenue of approximately $14.3 million in the prior year.  The increase in revenue was primarily the result of a 
higher average net win per machine driven by targeted marketing and machine mix improvements at our NagaWorld operations 
compared to the prior year. 
 

Gross profit from gaming operations increased approximately $3.3 million to approximately $8.8 million for the year ended December 
31, 2011 compared to a gross profit of approximately $5.5 million in the prior year primarily due to an increase in revenue from our 
gaming operations with relatively flat cost of gaming participation expenses compared to the prior year period.  Cost of goods sold for 
the year ended December 31, 2011 included approximately $4.9 million of depreciation of EGMs, $2.5 million amortization of casino 
contracts, $63,000 amortization of other gaming related intangibles, and $1.2 million of other operating costs. 
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As of December 31, 2011, we had a total of 1,889 EGM seats of which 412 were held in inventory and 1,477 were in operation.  Of 
the 1,477 EGM seats in operation, 719 were in operation in two venues in Cambodia and 758 were in operation in five venues in the 
Philippines. 
 
  December 31, 
  2011  2010 
(amounts in thousands, except machine units)  Units  Carrying Value  Units  Carrying Value 

EGMs and systems used in operations .......................   1,477 $ 6,204 1,547 $ 10,266 
EGMs and systems held for future use ......................   412 2,685 492 2,094 
Total EGMs and systems ...........................................   1,889 $ 8,889 2,039 $ 12,360 
 
A large portion our gaming operations income is derived from our EGM participation operations within NagaWorld.  NagaWorld is a 
luxury casino resort in Phnom Penh, Cambodia that operates under an exclusive casino license in a designated area around the capital 
of Phnom Penh and is currently the only gaming establishment in this area. 
 
In December 2008, we established a relationship with NagaWorld Limited to place EGMs on a participation basis at NagaWorld and 
jointly operate those EGMs with NagaWorld.  Due to our successful performance, we subsequently amended and expanded our 
relationship with NagaWorld and increased our EGM seats under contract in NagaWorld to 670. 
 
Our current operations at NagaWorld are governed under a Machines Operation and Participation Consolidation Agreement dated 
December 31, 2009 (the “Consolidation Agreement”), which was subsequently amended on May 25, 2010. 
 
Pursuant to the terms of the original Consolidation Agreement, we and NagaWorld established control over the operation of a total of 
640 EGMs, including floor staff and respective audit rights. The number of EGMs under our joint control was increased to 670 by way 
of the May 2010 amendment to the Consolidation Agreement. We and NagaWorld share the win per unit per day from all the 670 
EGMs and certain operating costs related to marketing and floor staff at a 25% / 75% split, respectively (subject to our right to receive 
100% of the win per unit per day from certain EGMs during a certain period of time as described below). Win per unit per day from 
all the 670 EGMs are settled and distributed daily to us. The Consolidation Agreement is for a term of six years commencing March 1, 
2010. 
 
In consideration for entering into the Consolidation Agreement with NagaWorld, we paid to NagaWorld a $1.38 million one-time non-
refundable contract amendment fee and a commitment fee of $4.1 million. Both the one-time contract amendment fee and 
commitment fee were to be paid in three installments. The first 50% installment was due and paid by us on December 30, 2009, the 
second 25% installment was due and paid by us on January 15, 2010, and the third and final 25% installment was due and paid by us 
on January 28, 2010. In connection with the May 2010 amendment, we paid NagaWorld a commitment fee of $1.0 million on June 15, 
2010 in consideration of our right to place an additional 30 EGMs under the Consolidation Agreement. 
 
While we and NagaWorld share the win per unit per day from the 670 EGMs at a 25%/75% split, respectively, we were entitled to 
100% of the win per unit per day from 230 EGMs until we had received a total accumulated win per unit per day of $6.8 million from 
these 230 EGMs (representing the aggregate of the $4.1 million commitment fee paid for under the Consolidation Agreement, the $1.0 
million commitment fee under the May 2010 amendment and our 25% share of win per unit per day from these 230 EGMs).  We 
received the total accumulated win per unit per day of $6.8 million from these 230 EGMs by the end of August 2010. 

 
Below is a table showing various agreements with NagaWorld and the respective commitment fees paid. All commitment fees were 
fully recouped by the third quarter of 2010. 
 

Agreement  
Number of 
EGM Seats  

Prepaid Commitment 
Fees (in millions) 

December 2008 ............................................   200 $ — 
May 2009 .....................................................   40 1.00 
August 2009 .................................................   200 5.84 
Previous Agreements ....................................   440 $ 6.84 
Consolidation Agreement .............................   200 4.10 
Supplemental Agreement .............................   30 1.00 
  670 $ 11.94 
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In November 2011, the Company entered into a gaming machine participation and management agreement with Sokha Hotels and 
Resorts to place 250 EGM seats and jointly manage these slot operations in its new Thansur Bokor Resort and Casino in the tourist 
area of the Bokor Mountains of Cambodia (“Thansur Bokor”). Sokha, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Cambodian conglomerate 
Sokimex, is a leading operator of luxury hotels and resorts in prime locations in Cambodia. 
 
The first phase of Thansur Bokor, which will include over 400 hotel rooms and suites, entertainment parks and amenities, and 
convention facilities, is expected to open in May 2012. The Company will have 200 EGM seats in operation at the time of the opening 
and expects to ramp up to 250 seats over the subsequent several months. 
 
Under the terms of the Agreement, Entertainment Gaming Asia will be the exclusive provider of the EGMs inside the casino on the 
ground floor of Thansur Bokor and will jointly manage with Sokha these slot operations.  The Company and Sokha will share the 
gross win and certain operating expenses on a respective basis of 27/73%.  The Company will collect its share of the gross win on a 
semi-monthly basis and will settle its share of the operating costs on a monthly basis. The contract duration is five years, commencing 
upon the live operation of the slot floor. 
 
In the Philippines, we continue efforts to focus on our most promising venues to improve our overall returns and growth potential in 
this market.  These efforts include: implementing, with the support of our venue owner partners, targeted marketing programs and the 
redeployment, when possible, of our gaming assets from lower to higher performing venues in the market.  On April 30, 2011, one of 
our venues under contract in the Philippines with approximately 120 EGM seats was closed.  We have redeployed a portion of these 
gaming assets to be used in our operations in Cambodia and are working to deploy the remainder to other higher-potential venues in 
the Philippines.  Given the fact that this closed venue was an underperforming venue for us, there was no material negative impact to 
our gaming revenue as a whole. 
 
On October 21, 2011, and as described more fully above, we entered into an agreement to increase our share of the revenue and 
control over the promotion and marketing strategies for our participation business at the San Pedro VIP Club, one of our existing 
participation venues in the Philippines.  Under the terms of the agreement, we work directly with the government operator PAGCOR 
and we have increased our revenue share from 17% to 35% and shared in certain operating costs. The cash consideration for the 
agreement payable by us was Philippine pesos 55 million (equivalent to approximately $1.3 million), which was funded from our 
internal cash resources. We also agreed to pay cash expenses to the Proponent of approximately Philippines pesos 2.9 million 
(equivalent to approximately $67,000) and waived net receivables from the Proponent of approximately Philippine pesos 3.5 million 
(equivalent to approximately $82,000). Thus, the total consideration amount agreed by us pursuant to the transaction is approximately 
Philippine pesos 61.4 million (equivalent to approximately $1.4 million). 
 
We will selectively pursue additional EGM participation contracts in our target markets.  Total company-wide EGM placements can 
fluctuate due to our strategic efforts to optimize average daily net wins.  In the event that the EGM performance at our contracted 
venues does not meet our original expectations, and to the extent that this is legally permitted under the terms of the relevant 
participation contracts, we may discuss with the relevant venue owners for withdrawing all or a portion of our EGMs from such 
venues for future redeployment in new or existing venues with better performance prospects. 

 
Other Products 
 
Revenue from other products increased approximately $1.8 million to approximately $9.7 million for the year ended December 31, 
2011 compared to approximately $7.9 million in the prior year.  Other products revenue for the year ended December 31, 2011 
consisted of approximately $7.7 million in non-gaming product sales and $2.0 million in gaming chip and plaque sales compared to 
$6.6 million and $1.3 million, respectively, in the prior year.  The consolidated increase was mainly a result of an increase in sales to 
our non-gaming customers as they increased their production for the year ended December 31, 2011. 
 
Gross profit on other products increased approximately $410,000 to $1.4 million in the year ended December 31, 2011 compared to 
approximately $977,000 in the prior year due to higher sales and production volumes and improved production efficiencies. 
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Operating Expenses 
 
The following is a schedule showing expenses on a consolidated basis: 
 
    Old Basis  Increase/(Decrease)  
  Years Ended December 31,  from 2010 to 2011  

(amounts in thousands)  2011  2010  Dollar Amount  
% 

Amount  

Selling, general and administrative .............   $ 5,880  $ 5,880 $ — — 
Stock-based compensation expense ............   1,452  887 565 64% 
Impairment of assets ...................................   1,351  3,460 (2,109) (61)% 
Loss on dispositions of assets .....................   175  164 11 7% 
Product development expenses ...................   386  610 (224) (37)% 
Depreciation and amortization ....................   113  885 (772) (87)% 
Restructuring charges..................................   —  310 (310) (100)% 
Total (1) ......................................................   $ 9,357  $ 12,196 $ (2,839) (23)% 
 

 
(1) 2010 total operating expenses were revised to reflect the reclassification of loss on dispositions of assets. 
 
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses 
 
Selling, general and administrative expenses remained steady at approximately $5.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2011 
and 2010. Legal expense and external consultancy and accounting fees decreased approximately $366,000 primarily due to 
management efforts to reduce legal consultancy services. Travelling, meetings, advertising, utilities, printing, shipping and other 
operating expenses decreased by approximately $355,000 due to various cost reduction initiatives. However, salaries and wages 
expense and sales commissions increased approximately $133,000 as a result of more other products sales. Investor relations expense 
increased $114,000 mainly due to increased listing fees and higher related third-party services fees primarily related to an increase in 
the number of SEC filings and communications with the market. Bad debt expense increased by approximately $34,000 primarily 
related to an operating venue in Philippines where revenue collection was not reasonably assured. Rent, supplies, insurance, training, 
and other expenses increased approximately $440,000 primarily as a result of incorporation of new entities and various business taxes. 
 
Stock-based Compensation Expense 
 
Stock-based compensation expense increased approximately $565,000 to approximately $1.5 million for the year ended December 31, 
2011 compared to approximately $887,000 in the prior year primarily due to performance stock grants to directors and senior 
management during the year ended December 31, 2011. 
 
Impairment of Goodwill, Intangibles and Other Long-Lived Assets 
 
As a result of “fresh-start” reporting, the asset carrying values of intangible assets were adjusted to a new cost basis and the 
accumulated amortization was also removed to adjust the basis as of December 31, 2010. Intangible assets consist of patents, 
trademarks, gaming operation agreement, casino contracts and goodwill. They are amortized, except for goodwill, on the straight-line 
basis over the period of time the asset is expected to contribute directly or indirectly to future cash flows, which range from 4 to 
9 years. The straight-line amortization method is utilized because we believe there is not a more reliably determinable method of 
reflecting the pattern in which the economic benefits of the intangible assets are consumed or otherwise used up. 
 
We measure and test goodwill for impairment in accordance with ASC 350, Intangibles — Goodwill and Other, at least annually on 
December 31, or more often if there are indications of impairment. 
 
We measure and test finite-lived intangibles for impairment in accordance with ASC 360, Property, Plant and Equipment when there 
are indicators of impairment. 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2011, no impairment was required for goodwill and other intangibles based on the impairment 
analysis conducted on December 31, 2011 which showed no indicators of impairment on those assets. 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2010, as a result of our annual impairment review, we recorded a $2.4 million write-down of 
goodwill and intangible assets associated with our Dolphin operations in Australia as the current carrying value of the assets was 
higher than the expected value of the projected future cash flows. 
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The following table summarizes the impairment of goodwill and intangible assets: 
 
    Old Basis  Increase/(Decrease)  
  Years Ended December 31,  from 2010 to 2011  

(amounts in thousands)  2011 2010  Dollar Amount  
% 

Amount  

Patents .........................................................   $ —  $ 1,176 $ (1,176) (100)% 
Trademarks and trade names ......................   —  270 (270) (100)% 
Customer relationships................................   —  877 (877) (100)% 
Goodwill .....................................................   —  84 (84) (100)% 
Total ............................................................   $ —  $ 2,407 $ (2,407) (100)% 
 
Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment when there are indicators of impairment in accordance with ASC 360 Property, Plant 
and Equipment.  We evaluate recoverability of assets to be held and used by comparing the carrying amount of an asset to future net 
undiscounted cash flows to be generated by the asset. If such assets are considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is 
measured as the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets. Such reviews assess the fair 
value of the assets based upon our estimates of the future cash flows we expect the assets to generate. In response to changes in 
industry and market conditions, we may be required to strategically realign our resources in the future which, in turn, could result in 
impairments of long-lived assets. 
 
For the year ended December 31, 2011, we recorded an impairment charge of approximately $1.4 million primarily related to the 
write-off of non-performing gaming assets. 
 
For the year ended December 31, 2010, we recorded an impairment charge of approximately $665,000 in relation to property and 
equipment of our Dolphin operations in Australia. We also recorded an impairment of approximately $388,000 mainly due to the 
write-off of gaming assets primarily related to the closure of a non-performing venue during the year and write-down of certain EGMs 
held for sale to zero values. 
 
The following table reflects the components of the impairment of long-lived assets included in the consolidated statement of 
operations: 
 
    Old Basis   
  Years Ended December 31,   
(amounts in millions)  2011  2010   

Non-performing EGMs ...............................   $ 1.3  $ —    
Australia operations ....................................   —  0.7    
  1.3  0.7    
Write-off of other gaming assets .................   0.1  0.4    
Total impairment charges ...........................   $ 1.4  $ 1.1    

 
Loss on Dispositions of Assets 
 
Loss on disposition of assets increased approximately $11,000 to approximately $175,000 for the year ended December 31, 2011 
compared to a loss of approximately $164,000 in the prior year primarily as a result of more disposals of unused fixed assets during 
the year ended December 31, 2011. 
 
Product Development Expenses 
 
Product development expenses decreased approximately $224,000 to approximately $386,000 for the year ended December 31, 2011 
compared to approximately $610,000 in the prior year. The decrease was primarily a result of stabilized new product development 
activities for the other products division, specifically in respect of gaming chips and plaques during the year ended December 31, 
2011. 
 
Depreciation and Amortization Expenses 
 
Depreciation and amortization expenses decreased approximately $772,000 to approximately $113,000 for the year ended 
December 31, 2011 compared to approximately $885,000 in the prior year.  The decrease was primarily a result of the reduction in the 
value of finite-lived intangibles by approximately $2.3 million following the impairment charges recorded in December 2010. 
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Depreciation and amortization expenses for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 were not comparable as a result of the 
Quasi-Reorganization conducted as at December 31, 2010. 
 
Restructuring Charges 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2011, we incurred no restructuring charges.  During the year ended December 31, 2010, we 
incurred restructuring charges of approximately $310,000 for severance wages and benefits related to the termination of employees. 
 
Other Income/(Expense) 
 
    Old Basis  Increase/(Decrease)  
  Years Ended December 31,  from 2010 to 2011  

(amounts in thousands)  2011  2010  
Dollar 

Amount  
% 

Amount  

Interest expense and finance fees ................   $ (405)  $ (411) $ 6 (1)% 
Interest income ............................................   93  92 1 1% 
Foreign currency losses ...............................   (94)  (72) (22) 31% 
Other ...........................................................   252  202 50 25% 
Total other expenses (1) ..............................   $ (154)  $ (189) $ 35 (19)% 
 

 
(1) 2010 total other expenses were revised to reflect the reclassification of loss on dispositions of assets. 
 
Interest Expense and Finance Fees 
 
Interest expense and finance fees decreased approximately $6,000 to approximately $405,000 for the year ended December 31, 2011 
compared to approximately $411,000 in the prior year primarily due to the reduced notes payable to a related party as principal 
repayments began in July 2011. 
 
Interest Income 
 
Interest income increased approximately $1,000 to approximately $93,000 for the year ended December 31, 2011 compared to 
approximately $92,000 in the prior year primarily as a result of higher average cash balances at bank, net of a lower interest income 
charged on overdue amounts receivables as a result of improved collections. 

 
Foreign Currency Transactions 
 
Foreign currency losses increased approximately $22,000 to $94,000 for the year ended December 31, 2011 compared to losses of 
approximately $72,000 for the prior year primarily due to the appreciating value of United States dollar denominated payables from 
our Hong Kong and Philippines operations, whose functional currency are the Hong Kong dollar and Philippine peso, respectively. 
 
Other 
 
Other income increased approximately $50,000 to approximately $252,000 for the year ended December 31, 2011 compared to 
approximately $202,000 in the prior year primarily due to a net increase in grants received from the Australian government related to 
the other products division, specifically in respect of the automotive components. 
 
Income Tax Provision 
 
Effective tax rates for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 were approximately 7.4% and 11.3%, respectively.  During the 
year ended December 31, 2011, we also renewed tax incentive arrangement for our Cambodia operations in February 2011. The tax 
arrangement was effective for the period January 1, 2011 through December 31, 2011. Under this tax arrangement, we are required to 
pay only a fixed obligation tax to the Cambodia government instead of paying income tax based on the profits of our Cambodia 
operations. The fixed obligation tax paid during the year ended December 31, 2011 was classified as other taxes under selling, general 
and administrative expenses. 
 
The fixed obligation tax arrangement is subject to annual renewal and negotiation. Nevertheless, we have also obtained a similar tax 
arrangement for the year ending December 31, 2012 in January 2012. 
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During the year ended December 31, 2010, we recorded a one-time tax benefit of approximately $775,000 in relation to the release of 
deferred tax liabilities due to impairment of assets and discharge of potential tax exposures following the deregistration of a foreign 
subsidiary. 
 
We will continue to review the treatment of tax losses and income generated in the future by our foreign subsidiaries to minimize 
taxation implication/costs. 
 
    Old Basis  Increase/(Decrease)  
  Years Ended December 31,  from 2010 to 2011  
      Dollar  %  
  2011  2010  Amount  Amount  

Income tax (expense)/benefit ......................   $ (51)  $ 665 $ (716) NM 
 
FINANCIAL CONDITION 
 
Liquidity and Capital Resources 
 
As of December 31, 2011, we had total cash and cash equivalents of approximately $12.8 million and working capital of 
approximately $7.8 million. Our cash and working capital during the year ended December 31, 2011 was positively impacted by the 
cash received from our operations at NagaWorld but was negatively impacted by the purchase of EGMs for our gaming operations, 
including a portion of the EGMs needed for our participation and management contract with Sokha Hotels and Resorts (“Sokha 
Agreement”), the repayment of approximately $3.4 million in principal and interest on the promissory note issued to EGT 
Entertainment Holding and expenses associated with our casino development projects. 
 
From January 1, 2012 to the date of this filing, our working capital position has been positively impacted by cash received from our 
operations at NagaWorld partly offset by the repayment of approximately $1.6 million in principal and interest on the promissory note 
issued to EGT Entertainment Holding, the payment of approximately $300,000 related to the Sokha Agreement and approximately $1 
million associated with our casino development projects. 
 
As part of our growth strategy for our gaming operations, we intend to incur initial planning and construction costs related to our 
casino and gaming development plans.  In addition, we expect to purchase EGMs to supplement existing inventory and source future 
targeted deployment plans. Our current casino and gaming development plans for the remainder of 2012 include the Kampot and 
Pailin Projects. 
 
We expect the initial phase of the Kampot Project, which includes the construction, purchase of gaming equipment and initial working 
capital needs, will require a total expenditure of approximately $1.2 million.  This does not include the cost of EGMs as they will be 
sourced from our existing inventory.  We expect the initial phase of the Pailin Project, which includes the construction, purchase of 
gaming equipment and initial working capital needs, will require total expenditure of approximately $2.4 million. 
 
We are also currently in discussions on other significant new gaming projects, however, there is no guarantee we will successfully 
conclude these negotiations. 
 
We presently expect that our capital expenditures for the remainder of 2012 based on our current contractual commitments will be 
approximately $4.0 million to $5.0 million exclusive of the approximately $6.4 million of loan principal and interest to be repaid to 
EGT Entertainment Holding during 2012. This includes approximately: $1.2 million to $1.5 million for the development of our 
Kampot and Pailin Projects; approximately $1.5 to $2.0 million for EGM purchases, upgrades, and general maintenance; and 
approximately $1.3 to $1.5 million for the expansion and enhancement of our Dolphin manufacturing plant for our gaming chips and 
plaques. 
 
We anticipate our available working capital, along with cash expected to be generated from operations, will allow us to meet our 
capital expenditures for our Kampot and Pailin Projects, the purchase of EGMs, the expansion and enhancement of Dolphin 
manufacturing plant and repayments under the promissory note issued to EGT Entertainment Holding for the remainder of 2012. 
 
As noted above, however, we are currently pursuing additional casino and gaming projects. While there is no guarantee we will 
successfully conclude these negotiations, if we were to secure one or more of these projects our capital expenditures for the remainder 
of 2012 would increase beyond the $4.0 million to $5.0 million currently contemplated.  At this time, we are unable to predict the 
amount of additional capital expenditures that could be required in 2012 for these potential projects. Where possible, we intend to fund 
our casino and gaming projects from our cash flow from operations and cash on hand. Further, we will seek to structure the 
development of these projects in phases to better control and pace the related expenditure of capital. However, should we commit to 
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large projects or to the concurrent development of multiple casinos and gaming projects, we may need to acquire additional capital. 
We would endeavor to obtain any required additional capital from various financing sources including commercial debt financing and 
the sale of our debt or equity securities. However, there are no commitments or arrangements in place as of the date of this report for 
our receipt of additional capital and there is no assurance we will be able to acquire additional capital if, and when, needed on 
commercially reasonable terms or at all. 
 
Cash Flow Summaries 
 
    Old Basis   
  Years Ended December 31,  Increase/(Decrease) 
(amounts in thousands)  2011   2010  from 2010 to 2011 

Cash provided by/ (used in):      
Operations ......................................................................................   $ 10,249  $ 11,449 $ (1,200)
Investing ........................................................................................   (4,670)  (5,287) 617 
Financing .......................................................................................   (3,106)  (171) (2,935)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash ........................................   69  36 33 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents ..........................................   $ 2,542  $ 6,027 $ (3,485)
 

Operating 
 
Cash provided by operations was approximately $10.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2011 compared with cash provided by 
operations of approximately $11.4 million in the prior year.  Excluding a one-off recoupment of prepaid commitment fees of 
approximately $4.8 million during the year ended December 31, 2010, there was a significant increase in cash flow provided from 
operations of approximately $3.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2011 as compared to the same period in the prior year 
primarily due to an improvement in net income. 
 
Investing 
 
Cash used in investing activities was approximately $4.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2011 compared to cash used in 
investing activities of approximately $5.3 million in the prior year.   The decrease in cash used in investing activities was a result of 
the purchase of fewer EGMs and related systems during the year ended December 31, 2011 compared to the prior year when we 
purchased EGMs for our expansion at NagaWorld as well as land in the Takeo Province of Cambodia for our future casino 
development plans, net of increase in investing activities primarily due to additional revenue sharing acquired at San Pedro VIP club 
and plant and machinery purchased for the operation in Australia. 
 
Financing 
 
Cash used in financing activities was approximately $3.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2011 compared with cash used in 
financing activities of approximately $171,000 in the prior year.  The increase was primarily a result of repayments of the notes 
payable to EGT Entertainment Holding (see Note 12), as principal repayments began in July 2011. 
 
Financial Condition 
 
       
  Years Ended December 31,  Increase/(Decrease) 
(amounts in thousands)  2011   2010  from 2010 to 2011 

Total assets .........................................................................................   $ 44,104  $ 44,059 $ 45 
Total liabilities ...................................................................................   (11,592)  (13,737) 2,145 
Total stockholders’ equity ..................................................................   $ 32,512  $ 30,322 $ 2,190 
 
Changes from December 31, 2010 to December 31, 2011 were primarily due to the following: 
 
• 

 

Cash increased approximately $2.5 million primarily due to the significant improvement in operating income before
depreciation and amortization, net of principal repayments and capital spendings on our new casino development projects and 
acquisition of additional revenue share at San Pedro VIP Club. 

   
• 

 
Inventory increased due to purchases of raw materials for the gaming chips and plaques business and additional spare parts
inventory for the EGM participation business. 
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• 
 

EGMs and gaming systems decreased primarily due to impairment charges of approximately $1.4 million provided at the 2011
year end and depreciation charges incurred during the year ended December, 2011. 

   
•  Property and equipment increased primarily due to capital expenditures associated with our new casino development projects. 
   
• 

 
Goodwill and other gaming related intangibles were newly recognized as a result of the acquisition of additional revenue share 
at the San Pedro VIP club. 

   
•  Notes payable to a related party decreased primarily as principal repayments started in July 2011. 

 
Contractual Cash Obligations 
 
Our contractual cash obligations under debt agreements, capital leases and operating leases including interest payments for the next 
five years as of December 31, 2011 were as follows: 
 
    Payments Due by Period 
(amounts in thousands)  Total  1 Year  2-3 Years  4-5 Years  After 5 Years

Debt agreements ...............................................   $ 6,211 $ 6,211 $ — $ — $ — 
Capital leases ....................................................   322 322 — — — 
Operating leases ................................................   2,598 779 759 120 940 
Interest expense .................................................   13 13 — — — 
Total ..................................................................   $ 9,144 $ 7,325 $ 759 $ 120 $ 940 
 
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES 
 
Our consolidated financial statements were prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. 
Accordingly, we are required to make estimates incorporating judgments and assumptions we believe are reasonable based on our 
historical experience, contract terms, observance of known trends in our Company and the industry as a whole, as well as information 
available from other outside sources. Our estimates affect amounts recorded in the financial statements and actual results may differ 
from initial estimates. 
 
We consider the following accounting estimates to be the most critical to fully understanding and evaluating our reported financial 
results. They require us to make subjective or complex judgments about matters that are inherently uncertain or variable. Senior 
management have discussed the development, selection and disclosure of the following accounting estimates, particularly those 
considered most sensitive to changes from external factors, with the audit committee of our board of directors. 
 
Quasi-Reorganization 
 
We effected an elective accounting Quasi-Reorganization as of December 31, 2010, which eliminated our accumulated deficit in 
retained earning against additional paid-in-capital. The consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2010 gives effect to 
adjustments to fair value of assets and liabilities that are necessary when adopting “fresh-start” reporting. As a result, the consolidated 
statement of operations for 2011 is not comparable with 2010. 
 
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts Receivable 
 
At December 31, 2011, we had net accounts receivable of $2.7 million, representing 6.1% of our total assets. We specifically analyze 
the collectability of each account based upon the age of the account, the customer’s financial condition, collection history and any 
other known information, and we provide specific allowance to aged account balances. Revenue is recognized on a cash basis for 
customers with doubtful accounts receivable. Our allowance for doubtful accounts receivable was approximately $39,000 and $NIL as 
of December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively. 
 
Inventory 
 
The determination of obsolete or excess inventory requires us to estimate the future demand for our products within specific time 
horizons, generally one year or less. If we experience a significant unexpected decrease in demand for our products or a higher 
occurrence of inventory obsolescence because of changes in technology or customer requirements, we could be required to increase 
our inventory provisions. 
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Electronic Gaming Machines (EGMs) and Systems, Property and Equipment and Assets Held for Sale 
 
At December 31, 2011, we had EGMs and systems, property and equipment and assets held for sale of $11.5 million, representing 
26% of our total assets. We depreciate EGMs and systems, property and equipment on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful 
lives. The estimated useful lives are based on the nature of the assets as well as the current operating strategy and legal considerations 
such as contractual life. Future events, such as property expansions, property developments, trends in market demand, new 
competition, or technology obsolescence, could result in a change in the manner in which we use certain assets and require a change in 
the estimated useful lives of such assets. 

 
For assets to be held and used, they are reviewed for impairment whenever indicators of impairment exist. If an indicator of 
impairment exists, we first group assets at the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows are largely independent of the cash flows 
of other assets and liabilities (the “asset group”). Secondly, we estimate the undiscounted future cash flows that are directly associated 
with and expected to arise from the use and eventual disposition of such asset group. If the undiscounted cash flows exceed the 
carrying value, no impairment is indicated. If the undiscounted cash flows do not exceed the carrying value, then an impairment is 
measured based on fair value compared to carrying value, with fair value typically based on a discounted cash flow model. 
 
To estimate the undiscounted cash flows of an asset group, we consider potential cash flows scenarios based on management’s 
estimates given current conditions. Determining the recoverability of our asset groups is judgmental in nature and requires the use of 
significant estimates and assumptions, including estimated cash flows, growth rates and future market conditions, among others. 
Future changes to our estimates and assumptions based upon changes in macro-economic factors, regulatory environments, operating 
results or management’s intentions may result in future changes to the recoverability of the asset group. 
 
For assets to be held for sale, they are measured at the lower of their carrying amount or fair value less cost to sell. Losses are 
recognized for any initial or subsequent write-down to fair value less cost to sell, while gains are recognized for any subsequent 
increase in fair value less cost to sell, but not in excess of the cumulative loss previously recognized. Any gains or losses not 
previously recognized that result from the sale of assets shall be recognized at the date of sale. Assets are not depreciated while 
classified as held for sale. 
 
Intangible Assets, including Goodwill and Casino Contracts 
 
At December 31, 2011, we had intangible assets, including goodwill and casino contracts of $11.9 million, representing 27% of our 
total assets. 
 
Goodwill is not subject to amortization and is tested for impairment and recoverability annually or more frequently if events or 
circumstances indicate that the assets might be impaired. The impairment test consists of a comparison of its fair value with its 
carrying amount. If the carrying amount is not recoverable and exceeds its fair value, an impairment will be recognized in an amount 
equal to that excess. If its carrying amount does not exceed the fair value, no impairment is recognized 
 
Finite-lived intangible assets, including casino contracts are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The 
estimated useful lives are based on the nature of the assets as well as legal considerations such as contractual life. Future events, such 
as technology obsolescence could result in a change in the manner in which we use the assets and require a change in the estimated 
useful lives of such assets. Finite-lived intangible assets, including casino contracts are tested for impairment and recoverability when 
there are indicators of impairment. The impairment test consists of a comparison of its fair value with its carrying amount. If the 
carrying amount is not recoverable and exceeds its fair value, an impairment will be recognized in an amount equal to that excess. If 
its carrying amount does not exceed the fair value, no impairment is recognized. 
 
At December 31, 2011, we had casino contracts and gaming operating agreement of $11.5 million, representing 96% of our total 
intangible assets. The fair value of our casino contracts and gaming operation agreement was estimated using a form of the income 
approach known as the excess earnings method, excess earnings were discounted to present value at rates commensurate with our 
capital structure and the prevailing borrowing rates within the industry in general. Determining the fair value of the casino contracts 
and gaming operation agreement is judgmental in nature and requires the use of significant estimates and assumptions, including 
revenue, operating expenses, growth rates, discount rates and future market conditions, among others. Future changes to our estimates 
and assumptions based upon changes in macro-economic factors, operating results or management’s intentions may result in future 
changes to the fair value of the casino contracts and gaming operation agreement. 
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Stock-Based Compensation 
 
We apply ASC 718, Compensation-Stock Compensation, to account for stock-based compensation. Under the fair value recognition 
provisions of ASC 718, we recognize stock-based compensation expense for all service-based awards to employees and non-employee 
directors with graded vesting schedules on the straight-line basis over the requisite service period for the entire award. Estimates are 
revised if subsequent information indicates that forfeitures will differ from previous estimates, and the cumulative effect on 
compensation costs of a change in the estimated forfeitures is recognized in the period of the change.  For non-employee awards, we 
remeasure compensation costs each period until the service condition is complete and recognize compensation costs on the straight-
line basis over the requisite service period.  Option valuation models require the input of highly subjective assumptions, and changes 
in the assumptions used can materially affect the fair value estimate. Judgment is required in estimating stock price volatility, 
forfeiture rates, expected dividends, and expected terms that options remain outstanding. For restricted stock awards with performance 
conditions, the Company evaluates if performance conditions are probable in each reporting period. The compensation expense of 
restricted awards is recognized ratably over the implicit service period if achieving performance conditions is probable. Initial accruals 
of compensation expense are based on the estimated number of shares for which requisite service is expected to be rendered. 
 
Stock-based compensation expense totaled approximately $1.5 million and $887,000 for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 
2010, respectively, in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. 
 
Income Taxes 
 
We are subject to income taxes in the U.S. (including federal and state) and several foreign jurisdictions in which we operate. We 
record income taxes under the asset and liability method, whereby deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized based on the future 
tax consequences attributable to temporary differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and 
liabilities and their respective tax bases, and attributable to operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. Accounting standards 
regarding income taxes requires a reduction of the carrying amounts of deferred tax assets by a valuation allowance, if based on the 
available evidence, it is “more-likely-than-not” that such assets will not be realized. Accordingly, the need to establish valuation 
allowances for deferred tax assets is assessed at each reporting period based on a “more-likely-than-not” realization threshold. This 
assessment considers, among other matters, the nature, frequency and severity of current and cumulative losses, forecasts of future 
profitability, the duration of statutory carryforward periods, our experience with operating loss and tax credit carryforwards not 
expiring, and implementation of tax planning strategies. 
 
We recorded a valuation allowance on the net deferred tax assets of $63.0 million and $65.9 million, as of December 31, 2011 and 
2010, respectively. Management will reassess the realization of deferred tax assets based on the applicable accounting standards for 
income taxes each reporting period and consider the scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities, sources of taxable income and tax 
planning strategies. To the extent that the financial results of these operations improve and it becomes “more-likely-than-not” that the 
deferred tax assets are realizable, we will be able to reduce the valuation allowance. 
 
Significant judgment is required in evaluating our tax positions and determining our provision for income taxes. During the ordinary 
course of business, there are many transactions for which the tax treatment is uncertain. Accounting standards regarding uncertainty in 
income taxes provides a two-step approach to recognizing and measuring uncertain tax positions. The first step is to evaluate the tax 
position for recognition by determining if the weight of available evidence indicates it is “more-likely-than-not” that the position will 
be sustained on audit, including resolution of related appeals or litigation processes, if any. The second step is to measure the tax 
benefit as the largest amount which is more than 50% likely, based solely on the technical merits, of being sustained on examinations. 
We consider many factors when evaluating and estimating our tax positions and tax benefits, which may require periodic adjustments 
and which may not accurately anticipate actual outcomes. We recognize interest and penalties, if any, related to unrecognized tax 
benefits in the provision of income taxes in the statement of operations. 

 
Recently Issued Accounting Standards 
 
In December 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-12, Deferral of the Effective Date for Amendments to the Presentation of 
Reclassification of Items Out of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income in ASU 2011-05. This Update defers the requirement in 
ASU 2011-05, Presentation of Comprehensive Income, that companies present reclassification adjustments for each component of 
accumulated other comprehensive income (AOCI) in both net income and other comprehensive income (OCI) in the face of the 
financial statements. This Update is effective for fiscal years and interim periods within those years beginning after December 15, 
2011 for public companies. Early adoption is permitted but the Company will not adopt early. 
 
In September 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-08 Testing Goodwill for Impairment, (ASC Topic 350, Intangibles — Goodwill and 
Other). The amendments in the Update permit an entity to first assess qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than 
not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount as a basis for determining whether it is necessary to perform 
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the two-step goodwill impairment test described in Topic 350. The more-likely-than-not threshold is defined as having a likelihood of 
more than 50 percent. The amendments do not change the current guidance for testing other indefinite lived intangible assets for 
impairment. The amendments are effective for annual and interim goodwill impairment tests performed for fiscal years beginning after 
December 15, 2011. 
 
In June 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-05, Presentation of Comprehensive Income, (ASC Topic 220, Comprehensive Income). In 
this Update an entity has the option to present the total of comprehensive income, the components of net income, and the components 
of other comprehensive income either in a single continuous statement of comprehensive income or in two separate but consecutive 
statements. In both choices, an entity is required to present each component of net income along with total net income, each 
component of other comprehensive income along with a total for other comprehensive income, and a total amount for comprehensive 
income. This Update eliminates the option to present the components of other comprehensive income as part of the statement of 
changes in stockholders’ equity. The amendments in this Update do not change the items that must be reported in other comprehensive 
income or when an item of other comprehensive income must be reclassified to net income. The amendments in this Update should be 
effective for public entities as of the beginning of a fiscal reporting year, and interim periods within that year, that begins after 
December 15, 2011. Early adoption of the amendments is permitted. The Company is currently evaluating for application in its 2012 
financial statements, but given the relative immateriality of the Company’s other comprehensive income, it does not have a significant 
impact on its overall financial statement presentation. 
 
In May 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-04, Amendments to Achieve Common Fair Value Measurement and Disclosure 
Requirements in US GAAP and IFRS, (ASC Topic 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures). This Update results in common 
principles and requirements for measuring fair value and for disclosing information about fair value measurements in accordance with 
U.S. GAAP and IFRSs. Consequently, the amendments change the wording used to describe many of the requirements in U.S. GAAP 
for measuring fair value and for disclosing information about fair value measurements. For many of the requirements, the FASB does 
not intend for the amendments in this Update to result in a change in the application of the requirements in Topic 820. Some of the 
amendments clarify the FASB’s intent about the application of existing fair value measurement requirements. Other amendments 
change a particular principle or requirement for measuring fair value or for disclosing information about fair value measurements. For 
public entities, the amendments are effective during interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2011. This Update does 
not apply to share-based payment transactions, inventories, leases and business combinations. The Company does not expect the 
adoption of the Update will have significant impact on its fair value measurement or its disclosures. 
 
In December 2010, the FASB issued ASU 2010-29, Disclosure of Supplementary Pro Forma Information for Business Combinations, 
(ASC Topic 805, Business Combinations). The amendments in this Update specify that if a public entity presents comparative 
financial statements, the entity should disclose revenue and earnings of the combined entity as though the business combination(s) that 
occurred during the current year had occurred as of the beginning of the comparable prior annual reporting period only. The 
amendments in this Update are effective prospectively for business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the 
beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after December 15, 2010. The adoption of this Update only impacted 
our disclosures, but not our consolidated balance sheet, statement of operations or statement of cash flows. 

 
In January 2010, the FASB issued guidance that requires new disclosures, and clarifies existing disclosure requirements, about fair 
value measurements. The clarifications and the requirement to separately disclose transfers of instruments between level 1 and level 2 
of the fair value hierarchy was effective for interim reporting periods in 2010; however, the requirement to provide purchases, sales, 
issuances and settlements in the level 3 roll forward on a gross basis became effective in 2011. Since this new guidance only amends 
the disclosures requirements, it did not impact our consolidated balance sheet, statement of operations or statement of cash flows. 
 
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 
 
We do not have any off-balance sheet financing arrangements. 
 
Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk 
 
Not applicable. 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 
 
The Board of Directors and Stockholders of Entertainment Gaming Asia Inc.: 
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Entertainment Gaming Asia Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) 
as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for the 
years then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an 
opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. 
 
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of 
material misstatement.  We were not engaged to perform an audit of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Our 
audits included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over 
financial reporting.  Accordingly, we express no such opinion.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the 
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide 
a reasonable basis for our opinion. 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of 
Entertainment Gaming Asia Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2011 and 2010 and the consolidated results of its operations and 
its cash flows for the years then ended, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. 
 
As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, on December 28, 2010, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a 
Quasi-Reorganization. As a result, the Company adopted fresh-start reporting pursuant to ASC 852-20 as of December 31, 2010. The 
consolidated financial statements of the Company after the Quasi-Reorganization are presented on a different basis than those of the 
Company prior to the Quasi-Reorganization and, therefore, are not comparable in all respects. 
 
 
/s/ERNST & YOUNG  
Hong Kong SAR  
March 30, 2012  
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ENTERTAINMENT GAMING ASIA INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

Consolidated Balance Sheets 
(amounts in thousands, except per share data) 

 
  December 31, 2011  December 31, 2010

    
ASSETS    

Current assets:    
Cash and cash equivalents ...................................................................................................   $ 12,759 $ 10,217 
Accounts receivable, net ......................................................................................................   2,691 2,854 
Other receivables .................................................................................................................   114 101 
Inventories ...........................................................................................................................   1,894 1,064 
Assets held for sale ..............................................................................................................   30 422 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets ...........................................................................   811 1,051 

Total current assets ..................................................................................................................   18,299 15,709 
    
Electronic gaming machines and systems, net .........................................................................   8,889 12,360 
Casino contracts .......................................................................................................................   10,340 12,790 
Property and equipment, net ....................................................................................................   2,558 1,941 
Goodwill ..................................................................................................................................   357 — 
Intangible assets, net ................................................................................................................   1,227 140 
Contract amendment fees .........................................................................................................   450 558 
Deferred tax assets ...................................................................................................................   91 — 
Prepaids, deposits and other assets ..........................................................................................   1,893 561 
Total assets ...............................................................................................................................   $ 44,104 $ 44,059 
    

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY    
Current liabilities:    

Accounts payable .................................................................................................................   $ 1,316 $ 1,062 
Amounts due to a related party ............................................................................................   14 14 
Accrued expenses ................................................................................................................   2,228 2,225 
Income tax payable ..............................................................................................................   68 — 
Notes payable to a related party, current portion .................................................................   6,211 2,991 
Capital lease obligations, current portion .............................................................................   322 164 
Customer deposits and other current liabilities ....................................................................   357 251 

Total current liabilities .............................................................................................................   10,516 6,707 
    
Notes payable to a related party, net of current portion ...........................................................   — 6,211 
Capital lease obligations, net of current portion ......................................................................   — 307 
Other liabilities ........................................................................................................................   869 441 
Deferred tax liability ................................................................................................................   207 71 
Total liabilities .........................................................................................................................   11,592 13,737 
    
Stockholders’ equity:    

Common stock, $.001 par value, 300,000,000 shares authorized; 118,839,393 and 
116,189,394 shares issued and outstanding .....................................................................   119 116 

Additional paid-in-capital ....................................................................................................   31,191 29,638 
Accumulated other comprehensive income .........................................................................   559 568 
Retained earnings since January 1, 2011 ($386.1 million accumulated  

deficit eliminated) ............................................................................................................   642 — 
Total EGT stockholders’ equity ...............................................................................................   32,511 30,322 
Non-controlling interest ...........................................................................................................   1 — 
Total stockholder’s equity ........................................................................................................   32,512 30,322 
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity .................................................................................   $ 44,104 $ 44,059 

 
The notes to consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these consolidated statements. 

 



 

36 

ENTERTAINMENT GAMING ASIA INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
Consolidated Statements of Operations 

 
    Old Basis 
  Years Ended December 31, 
(amounts in thousands, except per share data)  2011  2010 

Revenues:     
Gaming ..............................................................................................................................   $ 17,396  $ 14,312 
Other products ....................................................................................................................   9,733  7,893 

Total Revenues ......................................................................................................................   27,129  22,205 
     
Operating costs and expenses:     

Cost of gaming  ..................................................................................................................      
Electronic gaming machine depreciation .......................................................................   4,890  8,020 
Casino contract amortization .........................................................................................   2,457  — 
Other gaming related intangibles amortization  .............................................................   63  — 
Other operating costs .....................................................................................................   1,169  759 

Cost of other products ........................................................................................................   8,346  6,916 
Selling, general and administrative ....................................................................................   5,880  5,880 
Stock-based compensation expense ...................................................................................   1,452  887 
Impairment of assets ..........................................................................................................   1,351  3,460 
Loss on dispositions of assets ............................................................................................   175  164 
Product development expenses ..........................................................................................   386  610 
Depreciation and amortization ...........................................................................................   113  885 
Restructuring charges .........................................................................................................   —  310 

Total operating costs and expenses ........................................................................................   26,282  27,891 
     
Income/(loss) from operations ...............................................................................................   847  (5,686)
     
Other income/(expenses):     

Interest expense and finance fees .......................................................................................   (405)  (411)
Interest income ...................................................................................................................   93  92 
Foreign currency losses ......................................................................................................   (94)  (72)
Other ..................................................................................................................................   252  202 

Total other expenses ..............................................................................................................   (154)  (189)
     
Income/(loss) before income tax ............................................................................................   693  (5,875)
     
Income tax (expense)/benefit .................................................................................................   (51)  665 
     
Net income/(loss) ...................................................................................................................   $ 642  $ (5,210)
     
Basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share ............................................................................   $ 0.01  $ (0.05)
 

The notes to consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these consolidated statements. 
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ENTERTAINMENT GAMING ASIA INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity 
Years Ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 

 
          Accumulated     
      Additional    Other     
(amounts in thousands except per  Common Stock  Paid-in  Accumulated  Comprehensive  Non-controlling   
share data)  Shares  Dollars  Capital  Deficit  Income/(Loss)  interest  Total 
Balances, January 1, 2010 ...........   114,956,667 $  115 $  414,864 $  (380,926) $  (645) $  — $  33,408 
         
Comprehensive loss         

Net Loss ..................................      (5,210)   (5,210)
Other comprehensive income,  

net of tax          
Foreign currency 

translation...................       1,213   
Other comprehensive  

income ............................       1,213  1,213 
Comprehensive loss ................         (3,997)
Issuance of restricted stock .....   922,727 1     1 
Exercise of employee options ..   310,000 — 23    23 

Stock-based compensation...........     887    887 
Quasi-Reorganization — 

elimination of accumulated 
deficit ......................................     (386,136) 386,136   — 

         
Balances after Quasi-

Reorganization, 
December 31, 2010 .................   116,189,394 $  116 $  29,638 $  — $  568 $  — $  30,322 

         
Balances, January 1, 2011 ...........   116,189,394 $  116 $  29,638 $  — $  568 $  — $  30,322 
         
Comprehensive loss .....................          

Net income ..............................      642   642 
Other comprehensive  

income, net of tax  ..............          
Foreign currency 

translation...................       (14)   
Unrealized actuarial  

income ........................       5   
Other comprehensive  

income ............................       (9)  (9)
Comprehensive income ...........         633 
Issuance of restricted stock .....   2,216,666 2 (2)    — 
Exercise of employee  

options ................................   433,333 1 34    35 
Stock-based compensation...........     1,452    1,452 
Changes in valuation  

allowance on deferred tax  
assets which existed at the  
date of Quasi- 
Reorganization ........................     69    69 

Non-controlling interest ...............        1 1 
         
Balances, December 31, 2011 .....   118,839,393 $  119 $  31,191 $  642 $  559 $  1 $  32,512 

 
The notes to consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these consolidated statements. 
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ENTERTAINMENT GAMING ASIA INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
 

    Old Basis 
  Years Ended December 31, 
(amounts in thousands)  2011  2010 
Cash flows used in operating activities:     
Net income/(loss) ..................................................................................................................................   $  642  $  (5,210)
Adjustments to reconcile net income/(loss) to net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities:     

Deferred income tax benefit .............................................................................................................   (149)  (715)
Foreign currency (gains)/losses ........................................................................................................   (4)  58 
Depreciation of gaming machines and systems and property and equipment ..................................   5,209  8,989 
Impairment of goodwill and intangibles ...........................................................................................   —  2,407 
Impairment of gaming assets, property and equipment ....................................................................   1,351  1,053 
Amortization of casino contract .......................................................................................................   2,457  — 
Amortization of intangible assets .....................................................................................................   87  406 
Amortization of prepaid commitments fees .....................................................................................   108  190 
Stock-based compensation expense .................................................................................................   1,452  887 
Loss on disposition of gaming machines and systems .....................................................................   175  27 
Loss on disposition of property, plant and equipment ......................................................................   —  137 
Provision for pension/retirement benefits.........................................................................................   14  22 
Provision for bad debt expense ........................................................................................................   39  — 
Provision for tax receivable ..............................................................................................................   22  — 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:     
Accounts receivable and other receivables .......................................................................................   128  165 
Inventories  .......................................................................................................................................   (787)  (283)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets ........................................................................................   244  (134)
Prepaids, deposits and other assets ...................................................................................................   (1,376)  (152)
Contract amendment fees .................................................................................................................   —  (687)
Prepaid commitment fees .................................................................................................................   —  4,838 
Accounts payable .............................................................................................................................   253  (177)
Amounts due to related parties .........................................................................................................   —  (20)
Customer deposits and others ...........................................................................................................   148  160 
Income tax payable ..........................................................................................................................   68  (77)
Accrued expenses and other liabilities .............................................................................................   168  (435)

Net cash provided by operating activities ....................................................................................   10,249  11,449 
     
Cash flows used in investing activities:     

Acquisition of additional revenue share at San Pedro VIP Club ......................................................   (1,176)  — 
Purchase of property and equipment ................................................................................................   (354)  (267)
Purchases of gaming machines and systems ....................................................................................   (2,601)  (3,119)
Purchases of land and other project costs .........................................................................................   (585)  (2,054)
Sales of gaming machines and systems ............................................................................................   46  105 
Sales of property and equipment ......................................................................................................   —  48 

Net cash used in investing activities ............................................................................................   (4,670)  (5,287)
     
Cash flows used in financing activities:     

Repayment of short-term debt and leases .........................................................................................   (150)  (194)
Repayment of notes payable ............................................................................................................   (2,991)  — 
Exercise of stock options ..................................................................................................................   35  23 

Net cash used in financing activities ............................................................................................   (3,106)  (171)
     
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash ..............................................................................................   69  36 
Increase in cash and cash equivalents ...................................................................................................   2,542  6,027 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year ....................................................................................   10,217  4,190 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year ..............................................................................................   $  12,759  $  10,217 

     
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:     

Interest paid ......................................................................................................................................   $  417  $  649 
Income taxes paid .............................................................................................................................   $  21  $  126 
Non-cash financing activities ...........................................................................................................      
Issuance of restricted/ performance stock ........................................................................................   $  672  $  249 

 
The notes to consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these consolidated statements. 
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ENTERTAINMENT GAMING ASIA INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Note 1. Quasi-Reorganization 
 
In connection with the application of Quasi-Reorganization accounting, Entertainment Gaming Asia Inc. and its subsidiaries (the 
“Company”) applied Accounting Standard Codification (ASC) 805, Business Combinations to restate assets and liabilities at fair 
value. The Company with the assistance of an independent third-party valuation firm performed the fair value assessment and 
computed the estimated fair value for each operating entity as of December 31, 2010 under ASC 805 based on the income approach, 
excess earning methodology. Certain intangible assets were subject to sensitive business factors of which only a portion were within 
the control of the Company’s management. 
 
In applying Quasi-Reorganization accounting as of December 31, 2010, the Company followed these principles: 
 
• The fair value of assets was determined in conformity with the procedures specified by ASC 805, Business Combinations. Casino 

contracts were recognized as intangible assets and the sum of the fair values of assets and liabilities exceeded net book value at 
the date of Quasi-Reorganization. In compliance with SEC guidelines, no write-up of net assets should be recorded as a result of 
the Quasi-Reorganization; therefore, the excess of fair value over existing net book value was reallocated as a pro rata reduction 
to the computed fair value of non-current assets. 

 
• The Company’s accumulated deficit account of $386.1 million as of December 31, 2010 was eliminated with a commensurate 

reduction in additional paid-in capital. 
 
• Property, plant and equipment assets and other long-lived assets were adjusted and all accumulated depreciation and amortization 

was eliminated. 
 
• Each liability existing as of the Quasi-Reorganization date, other than deferred taxes, was stated at the present value of the 

amounts to be paid determined at appropriate current interest rates. 
 
• Deferred taxes were reported in conformity with applicable income tax accounting standards, principally ASC 740, Income Taxes, 

net of applicable valuation allowances. Deferred tax assets and liabilities were recognized for differences between the assigned 
values and the tax basis of the recognized assets and liabilities with corresponding valuation allowances as appropriate. In 
accordance with the Quasi-Reorganization requirements, changes in the valuation allowance which existed at the date of the 
Quasi-Reorganization in periods after the Quasi-Reorganization are recorded directly in equity when realized. 

 
The estimates and assumptions used in the valuations are inherently subject to uncertainties and contingencies beyond the control of 
the Company. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that the estimates, assumptions and values reflected in the valuations will be 
realized, and actual results could vary materially. 
 
As of December 31, 2010, the current assets and liabilities were stated at fair value; therefore, no fair value adjustment was needed. 
With the assistance from an independent third-party valuation firm, the Company computed the total fair value for its non-current 
assets. In accordance with ASC 852-20-S99 SAB Topic 5, a Quasi-Reorganization should not result in a write-up of net assets. 
Therefore, the total excess fair value over the original net asset value was allocated as a pro rata reduction to the computed fair value 
of non-current assets. 
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Below is a summary of non-current assets as of December 31, 2010 and the adjusted fair value for each non-current asset item after 
reallocation. 
 

  

As of 12/31/2010 
Original Asset 
Cost Prior to  Quasi-Reorganization Adjustments  

Adjusted 
Carrying 

Value 

(amounts in thousands)  
Quasi- 

Reorganization  
Computed Fair

Value  
% of Fair

Value  
Excess Value 
Reallocation  

% of 
Reallocation  

After Quasi-
Reorganization

Non current assets:        
Electronic gaming  

machines and  
systems .........................   $ 22,216 $ 26,212 44.5% $ (13,852) 44.5% $ 12,360 

Casino contracts ...............   — 27,123 46.0% (14,333) 46.0% 12,790 
Property and equipment ...   4,092 4,116 7.0% (2,175) 7.0% 1,941 
Intangible assets ...............   297 297 0.5% (157) 0.5% 140 
Contract amendment  

fees ...............................   1,184 1,184 2.0% (626) 2.0% 558 
Prepaids, deposits and  

other assets ...................   561 561    561 
        
Total assets .......................   $ 28,350 $ 59,493 100% $ (31,143) 100% $ 28,350 

 
The consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2010 gave effect to adjustments to fair value of assets and liabilities that were 
necessary when adopting “fresh-start” reporting. In addition to the adjustments above, the net effect of applying Quasi-Reorganization 
accounting to the Company’s consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2010 was to adjust the accumulated deficit to a zero balance 
with a commensurate reduction in additional paid-in capital for purposes of establishing a new earned surplus account. 
 
As a result of the Quasi-Reorganization, consolidated statements of operations and cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2011 
and 2010 are not comparable.  The statements of operations and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2011 reflect depreciation 
and amortization of the assets using the basis described above from the Quasi-Reorganization and the statements of operations and 
cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2010 are prepared on the Company’s historical basis of accounting.  As such, operations 
and cash flows for period prior to December 31, 2010 are labeled as being under the “Old Basis,” which is defined as accounting 
policies and estimates prior to the adoption of the Quasi-Reorganization. 
 
Note 2. Description of Business and Significant Accounting Policies 
 
The principal business activities of the Company are its gaming operations, which include the owning and leasing of electronic 
gaming machines (EGMs) placed in premier hotels and other venues and the development and future operation of casinos and gaming 
establishments in select emerging markets in the Indo-China region.  Also, through its subsidiary, Dolphin Products Pty Limited, the 
Company develops, manufactures and distributes high-frequency RFID and traditional non-RFID gaming chips and plaques as well as 
other plastic component products for a number of industries. 
 
In May 2010, the Company formed two legal entities in Cambodia for the purpose of acquiring a parcel of land and the development 
of a casino project in the Takeo Province of Cambodia. The Company maintains the effective control of the landholding company 
through certain shareholders arrangements and the other entity is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and, therefore its assets, 
liabilities and the results of operations are incorporated into the Company’s consolidated financial statements. 
 
In March 2011, the Company formed a new company in Cambodia with a local partner for the development, ownership and operation 
of a casino project in the Kampot Province of Cambodia. Net revenue of the new company (the total gross revenue of the casino less 
any payouts paid to customers, operating expenses, and gaming and non-gaming taxes on the new company’s revenue) will be shared 
on a 60/40 basis between the Company and the relevant local partner. 

 
In May 2011, the Company agreed to form a new company with another local partner in Cambodia for the development, ownership 
and operation of a casino project in the Pailin Province of Cambodia.  Under the terms of the relevant shareholders agreement, the 
local partner agreed to lease to the new company certain real property upon which the casino project was to be developed for an 
annual fee of $1 and all profits (the total gross revenue of the casino less any payouts paid to customers, operating expenses, and 
gaming and non-gaming taxes on the new company’s revenue) of the casino project were to have been split between the Company and 
the relevant local partner on a 55:45 basis.  In June 2011, the Company formed a legal entity in Cambodia to serve as the new 
company (“Dreamworld Pailin”) for the new casino project’s operations. In July 2011, the local partner agreed with the Company to 
revise the cooperation structure for the casino project by terminating the new structure and entering into new agreements pursuant to 
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which (a) the Company will be the sole owner of Dreamworld Pailin, (b) the local partner’s profit participation will be reduced from 
45% to 20% and (c) the Company will pay a fair monthly rental to the relevant local partner for the lease of the casino project 
property. 
 
Basis of Presentation 
 
These consolidated financial statements are prepared pursuant to generally accepted accounting principles in the United States. Certain 
previously reported amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current period presentation. 
 
Principles of Consolidation 
 
These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Entertainment Gaming Asia Inc. and all its subsidiaries. All 
intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. As at December 31, 2011 and 2010 respectively, the 
consolidated balance sheet of the Company reflects Quasi-Reorganization accounting (see Note 1). 
 
Use of Estimates 
 
The Company is required to make estimates, judgments and assumptions that it believes are reasonable based on its historical 
experience, contract terms, observance of known trends in the Company and the industry as a whole, and information available from 
other outside sources.  These estimates affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and related disclosures 
of contingent assets and liabilities.  On a regular basis, the Company evaluates its estimates, including those related to revenue 
recognition, product returns, long-lived assets, inventory obsolescence, stock-based compensation, income taxes, bad debts, warranty 
obligations, long-term contracts, contingencies and litigation.  Actual results may differ from those estimates. 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
All highly-liquid instruments with original maturities of three months or less are considered cash equivalents.  The Company places its 
cash and temporary investments with financial institutions.  As of December 31, 2011, the Company had deposits with financial 
institutions in excess of Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) insured limits by approximately $12.5 million. 
 
Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts 
 
Accounts receivable are stated at face value less any allowances for doubtful accounts.  Allowances for doubtful accounts are 
maintained at levels determined by Company management to adequately provide for uncollectible amounts.  In determining the 
estimated uncollectable amounts, the Company evaluates a combination of factors, including, but not limited to, activity in the related 
market, financial condition of customers, specific customer collection experience and history of write-offs and collections. Interest 
income is imposed on overdue accounts receivable after the Company evaluates a combination of factors, including but not limited to, 
customer collection experiences, customer relationship and contract terms. 
 
Inventories 
 
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost, determined using the first-in, first-out method, or market.  Cost elements included in work-
in-process and finished goods include raw materials, direct labor and manufacturing overheads. 
 
Long-Lived Assets 
 
The Company accounts for impairment of long-lived assets in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) ASC 
360, Property, Plant and Equipment. Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable.  In such instances, the Company estimates the undiscounted 
future cash flows that result from the use of the asset and its ultimate disposition.  If the sum of the undiscounted cash flows is less 
than the carrying value, the Company recognizes an impairment loss, measured as the amount by which the carrying value exceeds the 
fair value of the asset, determined principally using discounted cash flows. For the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company 
recorded an impairment loss of approximately $1.4 million mainly due to the write-off of non-performing gaming assets.  For the year 
ended December 31, 2010, the Company recorded an impairment loss of approximately $665,000 related to its Australia operation’s 
property and equipment and a write-off of gaming assets of approximately $388,000 mainly related to the closure of a non-performing 
venue during the year and write-down of certain machines held for sale. 
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Prepaids, Deposits and Other Assets 
 

Prepaids, deposits and other assets consist primarily of prepaid leases, prepaid value-added taxes in foreign countries, and restricted 
deposits as lease security.  The Company had restricted deposits in the amounts of $448,000 and $118,000 as of December 31, 2011 
and December 31, 2010, respectively, in the form of certificates of deposits as security on leases.  Restrictions on $123,000 were 
removed in February 2012 and restrictions on $165,000 and $160,000 will be removed in December 2013 and in January 2014, 
respectively upon termination of the operating leases.  Restricted cash of $123,000 was recorded in prepaid expenses and other current 
assets and the remaining $325,000 was recorded in prepaids, deposits and other assets in the accompanying consolidated balance 
sheets. 
 

Electronic Gaming Machines (EGMs) and Systems 
 

As a result of the Quasi-Reorganization, the asset carrying values of EGMs and systems were adjusted to a new cost basis and the 
accumulated depreciation was also removed to adjust to the basis as of December 31, 2010.  Additions of EGMs and systems in 2011 
are stated at cost. The Company depreciates new EGMs and systems over a five-year useful life and depreciates refurbished EGMs 
and systems over a three-year useful life once placed in service.  Depreciation of EGMs and systems of approximately $4.9 million 
and $8.0 million were included in cost of EGM participation in the consolidated statements of operations for the years ended 
December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively. 
 

Property and Equipment 
 

As a result of the Quasi-Reorganization, the asset carrying values of property and equipment were adjusted to a new cost basis and the 
accumulated depreciation was removed to adjust the basis as of December 31, 2010. Additions of property and equipment in 2011 are 
stated at cost. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the useful lives of the assets currently estimated to be 
three to five years, which in the case of leasehold improvements, is limited to the life of the lease and throughout the renewal period as 
long as renewal is reasonably assured. Depreciation of property and equipment of approximately $231,000 and $490,000 were 
included in cost of operations (other products) in the consolidated statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 
2010, respectively. 
 

Intangible Assets, Including Goodwill and Casino Contracts 
 

As a result of the Quasi-Reorganization, the asset carrying values of intangible assets were adjusted to a new cost basis and the 
accumulated amortization was removed to adjust the basis as of December 31, 2010. Intangible assets consist of patents, trademarks, 
gaming operation agreement, casino contracts and goodwill.  Intangibles assets other than goodwill are amortized on the straight-line 
basis over the period of time the asset is expected to contribute directly or indirectly to future cash flows, which ranges from four to 
nine years. The straight-line amortization method is utilized because the Company believes there is no more reliably determinable 
method of reflecting the pattern for which the economic benefits of the intangible assets are consumed or otherwise used. 

 

Amortization expenses related to casino contracts were approximately $2.5 million and $NIL for the years ended December 31, 2011 
and 2010, respectively. The amounts were accounted for as cost of gaming operations. Amortization expenses related to patents and 
trademarks were approximately $24,000 and $406,000 for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively. The amounts 
were accounted for as selling, general and administrative expenses. 
 

The Company measures and tests finite-lived intangibles for impairment when there are indicators of impairment in accordance with 
ASC 360-10-05, Property, Plant and Equipment. 
 

The Company measures and tests Goodwill for impairment, at least annually in accordance with ASC 350-10-05, Intangibles — 
Goodwill and Other. 
 

Impairment testing for goodwill and other intangibles requires judgment, including the identification of reporting units, allocation of 
related goodwill, assignment of corporate shared assets and liabilities to reporting units, estimated future cash flows and 
determinations of fair values.  While the Company believes its estimates of future revenues and future cash flows are reasonable, 
different assumptions could materially affect the assessment of useful lives, recoverability and fair values.  Impairment charges 
relating to intangible assets were approximately $NIL and $2.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively. 
 
Litigation and Other Contingencies 
 
In the performance of its ordinary course of business operations, the Company is subject to risks of various legal matters, litigation 
and claims of various types. The Company has regular litigation reviews, including updates from corporate and outside counsel, to 
assess the need for accounting recognition or disclosure of these contingencies. The status of a significant claim is summarized in 
Note 18. 
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ASC 450, Contingencies, requires that liabilities for contingencies be recorded when it is probable that a liability has been incurred 
and that the amount can be reasonably estimated.  Significant management judgment is required related to contingent liabilities and 
the outcome of litigation because both are difficult to predict.  For a contingency for which an unfavorable outcome is reasonably 
possible and which is significant, the Company discloses the nature of the contingency and, when feasible, an estimate of the possible 
loss. 
 
Revenue Recognition 
 
The Company recognizes revenue when all of the following have been satisfied: 
 
• persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists; 
 
• the price to the customer is fixed and determinable; 
 
• delivery has occurred and any acceptance terms have been fulfilled; 
 
• no significant contractual obligations remain; and 
 
• collection is reasonably assured. 
 
Gaming Revenue 
 
The Company earns recurring gaming revenue by providing customers with EGMs and casino management systems which track game 
performance and provide statistics on installed EGMs owned by the Company and leased to venue owners. Revenues are recognized 
on the contractual terms of the participation agreements between the Company and the venue owners and are based on the Company’s 
share of net winnings, net of customer incentives and commitment fees. 

 
Revenues are recognized as incurred with the exception of one of the Company’s venues in which revenues are recognized when the 
payment for net winnings are received as the collections from this venue are not yet reasonably assured. Net winnings, net of customer 
incentives and commitment fees paid to the venues were deferred and recognized on cash basis until the collections of such net 
winnings are reasonably assured. 
 
Commitment fees paid to the venue operator for which the agreement stipulates that the fees will be recovered from the daily net win 
sharing are capitalized as assets. As required by ASC 605-50, Customer Payments and Incentives, the cash consideration received for 
the portion of net winnings relating to the commitment fees is amortized as a reduction of revenue if the expected benefit from 
commitment fees cannot be separately identified or reasonably estimated. The Company had no prepaid commitment fees as of 
December 31, 2011 and 2010. 
 
Commitment fees paid to the venue operators relating to contract amendments which are not recoverable from daily net win are also 
capitalized as assets and amortized as a reduction of revenue over the term of the amended contracts.  The Company had commitment 
fees related to contract amendment fees of approximately $450,000 and $558,000 as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively. 
 
Other Products Sales 
 
The Company recognizes revenue from the sale of its products to end users upon shipment against customer contracts or purchase 
orders. The Company recognizes revenue from its sales to independent distributors upon shipments to the distributors against 
distributor contracts or purchase orders for products. 
 
Stock-Based Compensation 
 
Under the fair value recognition provisions of ASC 718, Compensation-Stock Compensation, the Company recognizes stock-based 
compensation expenses for all service-based awards to employees and non-employee directors with graded vesting schedules on the 
straight-line basis over the requisite service period for the entire award.  Estimates are revised if subsequent information indicates that 
forfeitures will differ from previous estimates, and the cumulative effect on compensation cost of a change in the estimated forfeitures 
is recognized in the period of the change.  For non-employee awards, the Company remeasures compensation cost each period until 
the service condition is complete and recognizes compensation cost on the straight-line basis over the requisite service period.  Option 
valuation models require the input of highly subjective assumptions, and changes in the assumptions used can materially affect the fair 
value estimates. Judgment is required in estimating stock price volatility, forfeiture rates, expected dividends, and expected terms that 
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options remain outstanding. For restricted stock awards with performance conditions, the Company evaluates if performance 
conditions are probable in each reporting period. The compensation expense of restricted awards is recognized ratably over the 
implicit service period if achieving performance conditions is probable. Cumulative catch-up adjustments are required in the event of 
changes in assessment of probability. See Note 13 for additional information relating to stock-based compensation assumptions. 
 
Stock-based compensation expense totaled approximately $1.5 million and $887,000 for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 
2010, respectively. 
 
Product Development 
 
Product development expenses are charged to expense as incurred.  Employee related costs associated with product development are 
included in product development expenses. Product development expenses were approximately $386,000 and $610,000 for the years 
ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively. The decrease was primarily a result of stabilized new product development 
activities for the other products division, specifically in respect of gaming chips and plaques during the year ended December 31, 
2011. 

 
Income Taxes 
 
The Company is subject to income taxes in the United States (including federal and state) and several foreign jurisdictions in which it 
operates.  Deferred income tax balances reflect the effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities and their tax basis and are stated at enacted tax rates expected to be in effect when taxes are actually paid or recovered.  ASC 
740, Income Taxes, requires that deferred tax assets be evaluated for future realization and reduced by a valuation allowance to the 
extent the Company believes a portion will not be realized.  The Company considers many factors when assessing the likelihood of 
future realization of its deferred tax assets, including its recent cumulative earnings experience and expectations of future taxable 
income by taxing jurisdiction, the carry-forward periods available to the Company for tax reporting purposes, and other relevant 
factors. 
 
The Company accounts for uncertain tax positions in accordance with ASC 740, which contains a two-step approach to recognizing 
and measuring uncertain tax positions.  The first step is to evaluate the tax position for recognition by determining if the weight of 
available evidence indicates it is more likely than not that the position will be sustained on audit, including resolution of related 
appeals or litigation processes, if any.  The second step is to measure the tax benefit as the largest amount which is more than 50% 
likely to be realized upon ultimate settlement.  The Company considers many factors when evaluating and estimating its tax positions 
and tax benefits, which may require periodic adjustments and which may not accurately anticipate actual outcomes. The Company 
recognizes interest and penalties, if any, related to unrecognized tax benefits in the provision for income taxes in the statements of 
operations. 
 
As of the date of the Quasi-Reorganization, deferred taxes were reported in conformity with applicable income tax accounting 
standards described above, net of applicable valuation allowances.  Deferred tax assets and liabilities were recognized for differences 
between the assigned values and the tax basis of the recognized assets and liabilities with corresponding valuation allowances as 
appropriate. In accordance with the Quasi-Reorganization requirements, changes in the valuation allowance which existed at the date 
of the Quasi-Reorganization in periods after the Quasi-Reorganization are recorded directly in equity when realized. 
 
Earnings/(Loss) Per Share 
 
Basic earnings/(loss) per share is computed by dividing the reported net earnings/(loss) by the weighted average number of shares of 
common stock outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share is computed by dividing the net income by the weighted 
average number of shares of common stock and shares issuable from stock options during the period. The computation of diluted 
earnings per share excludes the impact of stock options and warrants that are anti-dilutive.  For the year ended December 31, 2010, all 
stock options and warrants were anti-dilutive due to losses. 
 
Foreign Currency Translations and Transactions 
 
The functional currency of the Company’s international subsidiaries is generally the local currency.  For these subsidiaries, the 
Company translates the assets and liabilities at exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date and income and expense accounts at 
average exchange rates during the year.  Resulting currency translation adjustments are recorded directly to accumulated other 
comprehensive income/(losses) within stockholders’ equity.  Gains and losses resulting from transactions in non-functional currencies 
are recorded in operations. 
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Fair Value Measurements 
 
Fair value is defined under ASC 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures, as the exchange price that would be received for an 
asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants on the measurement date. Valuation techniques used to measure fair value under ASC 820 
must maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. The standard establishes a fair value 
hierarchy based on three levels of input, of which the first two are considered observable and the last unobservable. 
 
• Level 1 — Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. These are typically obtained from real-time quotes for 

transactions in active exchange markets involving identical assets. 
 

• Level 2 — Input, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, which are observable for the asset or liability, either directly 
or indirectly. These are typically obtained from readily-available pricing sources for comparable instruments. 

 
• Level 3 — Unobservable input, where there is little or no market activity for the asset or liability. This input reflects the reporting 

entity’s own assumptions of the data that participants would use in pricing the asset or liability, based on the best information 
available under the circumstances. 

 
As of December 31, 2011, the fair values of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, accounts receivable and accounts payable 
approximate carrying values due to the short maturity of these items. 
 
Recently Issued Accounting Standards 
 
In December 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-12, Deferral of the Effective Date for Amendments to the Presentation of 
Reclassification of Items Out of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income in ASU 2011-05. This Update defers the requirement in 
ASU 2011-05, Presentation of Comprehensive Income, that companies present reclassification adjustments for each component of 
accumulated other comprehensive income (AOCI) in both net income and other comprehensive income (OCI) in the face of the 
financial statements. This Update is effective for fiscal years and interim periods within those years beginning after December 15, 
2011 for public companies. Early adoption is permitted but the Company will not adopt early. 
 
In September 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-08 Testing Goodwill for Impairment, (ASC Topic 350, Intangibles — Goodwill and 
Other). The amendments in the Update permit an entity to first assess qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than 
not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount as a basis for determining whether it is necessary to perform 
the two-step goodwill impairment test described in Topic 350. The more-likely-than-not threshold is defined as having a likelihood of 
more than 50 percent. The amendments do not change the current guidance for testing other indefinite lived intangible assets for 
impairment. The amendments are effective for annual and interim goodwill impairment tests performed for fiscal years beginning after 
December 15, 2011. 
 
In June 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-05, Presentation of Comprehensive Income, (ASC Topic 220, Comprehensive Income). In 
this Update an entity has the option to present the total of comprehensive income, the components of net income, and the components 
of other comprehensive income either in a single continuous statement of comprehensive income or in two separate but consecutive 
statements. In both choices, an entity is required to present each component of net income along with total net income, each 
component of other comprehensive income along with a total for other comprehensive income, and a total amount for comprehensive 
income. This Update eliminates the option to present the components of other comprehensive income as part of the statement of 
changes in stockholders’ equity. The amendments in this Update do not change the items that must be reported in other comprehensive 
income or when an item of other comprehensive income must be reclassified to net income. The amendments in this Update should be 
effective for public entities as of the beginning of a fiscal reporting year, and interim periods within that year, that begins after 
December 15, 2011. Early adoption of the amendments is permitted. The Company is currently evaluating for application in its 2012 
financial statements, but given the relative immateriality of the Company’s other comprehensive income, it does not have a significant 
impact on its overall financial statement presentation. 
 
In May 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-04, Amendments to Achieve Common Fair Value Measurement and Disclosure 
Requirements in US GAAP and IFRS, (ASC Topic 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures). This Update results in common 
principles and requirements for measuring fair value and for disclosing information about fair value measurements in accordance with 
U.S. GAAP and IFRSs. Consequently, the amendments change the wording used to describe many of the requirements in U.S. GAAP 
for measuring fair value and for disclosing information about fair value measurements. For many of the requirements, the FASB does 
not intend for the amendments in this Update to result in a change in the application of the requirements in Topic 820. Some of the 
amendments clarify the FASB’s intent about the application of existing fair value measurement requirements. Other amendments 
change a particular principle or requirement for measuring fair value or for disclosing information about fair value measurements. For 
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public entities, the amendments are effective during interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2011. This Update does 
not apply to share-based payment transactions, inventories, leases and business combinations. The Company does not expect the 
adoption of the Update will have significant impact on its fair value measurement or its disclosures. 
 
In December 2010, the FASB issued ASU 2010-29, Disclosure of Supplementary Pro Forma Information for Business Combinations, 
(ASC Topic 805, Business Combinations). The amendments in this Update specify that if a public entity presents comparative 
financial statements, the entity should disclose revenue and earnings of the combined entity as though the business combination(s) that 
occurred during the current year had occurred as of the beginning of the comparable prior annual reporting period only. The 
amendments in this Update are effective prospectively for business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the 
beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after December 15, 2010. The adoption of this Update only impacted 
our disclosures, but not our consolidated balance sheet, statement of operations or statement of cash flows. 
 
In January 2010, the FASB issued guidance that requires new disclosures, and clarifies existing disclosure requirements, about fair 
value measurements. The clarifications and the requirement to separately disclose transfers of instruments between level 1 and level 2 
of the fair value hierarchy was effective for interim reporting periods in 2010; however, the requirement to provide purchases, sales, 
issuances and settlements in the level 3 roll forward on a gross basis became effective in 2011. Since this new guidance only amends 
the disclosures requirements, it did not impact our consolidated balance sheet, statement of operations or statement of cash flows. 
 
Note 3. Segments 
 
After reassessing the Company’s business components and its plan to develop casino operations in Indo-China, the Company has 
changed its reporting segments beginning in the fiscal year 2011.  The Company consolidated its previously reported “table game 
products” and “non-gaming products” segments into one business segment as “other products,” which was also aligned with its 
internal reporting segments. Also, the Company redefined its “gaming machines participation” segment as “gaming” to include 
revenue from future casino operations. As a result of the change, the Company disclosed the new segment information and applied this 
retrospectively to all periods presented. The Company currently conducts business in two operating segments: (i) gaming operations, 
which includes electronic gaming machine (EGM) participation and casino operations; and (ii) other products operations, which 
consist of the design, manufacture and distribution of gaming chips and plaques and other plastic products. The accounting policies of 
these segments are consistent with the Company’s policies for the accompanying consolidated financial statements. 
 
The following table presents the financial information for each of the Company’s operating segments. 

 
    Old Basis 
  Years Ended December 31, 
(amounts in thousands)  2011  2010 

Revenues:     
Gaming operations ..................................................................................   $ 17,396  $ 14,312 
Other products operations .......................................................................   9,733  7,893 

Total revenues .............................................................................................   $ 27,129  $ 22,205 
     
Operating income/(loss):     

Gaming operations gross margin(1) ........................................................   $ 7,466  $ 5,145 
Other products operations gross margin (2) ............................................   1,387  (2,011)
Corporate and other operating costs and expenses (3) ............................   (8,006)  (8,820)

Total operating income/(loss) .....................................................................   $ 847  $ (5,686)
 

 
(1) Calculation of gaming operations gross margin includes impairment of gaming assets of approximately $1.4 million and $388,000 

for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively. 
(2) Calculation of 2010 other products operations gross margin includes impairment charges of approximately $3.0 million. 
(3) Corporate and other operating costs and expenses for 2010 were revised to reflect reclassification of loss on dispositions of assets. 
 
  December 31, 
(amounts in thousands)  2011  2010 

Identifiable assets:    
Gaming operations ..................................................................................   $ 28,865 $ 29,764 
Other products operations .......................................................................   5,992 5,349 
Corporate ................................................................................................   9,247 8,946 

Total identifiable assets ...............................................................................   $ 44,104 $ 44,059 
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  December 31, 
(amounts in thousands)  2011  2010 

Goodwill:    
Gaming operations ..................................................................................   $ 357 $ — 
Other products operations .......................................................................   — — 
Corporate ................................................................................................   — — 

Total goodwill .............................................................................................   $ 357 $ — 
 
    Old Basis 
  Years Ended December 31, 
(amounts in thousands)  2011  2010 

Capital expenditures:     
Gaming operations(1) .............................................................................   $ 4,723  $ 5,173 
Other products operations .......................................................................   315  226 
Corporate ................................................................................................   31  41 

Total capital expenditures ...........................................................................   $ 5,069  $ 5,440 
     
Depreciation and amortization:     

Gaming operations ..................................................................................   $ 7,451  $ 8,020 
Other products operations .......................................................................   264  896 
Corporate ................................................................................................   39  479 

Total depreciation and amortization ...........................................................   $ 7,754  $ 9,395 
     
Interest expenses and finance fees:     

Gaming operations ..................................................................................   $ 330  $ 351 
Other products operations .......................................................................   69  58 
Corporate ................................................................................................   6  2 

Total interest expenses and finance fees .....................................................   $ 405  $ 411 
     
Income tax (expense)/benefit:     

Gaming operations (2) ............................................................................   $ —  $ (140)
Other products operations .......................................................................   18  764 
Corporate ................................................................................................   (69)  41 

Total income tax (expense)/benefit .............................................................   $ (51)  $ 665 
 

 
(1) Includes costs related to new casino development projects of approximately $600,000 and $2.1 million for the years ended

December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively. 
(2) The Company is required to pay a fixed gaming obligation tax for its operations in Cambodia. The amount paid was

approximately $57,000 for the year ended December 31, 2011 and was included in selling, general and administrative expenses. 
 
Geographic segment revenues for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 are as follows: 
 
    Old Basis 
  Years Ended December 31, 
(amounts in thousands)  2011  2010 

Cambodia ....................................................................................................   $ 14,005  $ 11,069 
Macau .........................................................................................................   712  242 
Philippines ..................................................................................................   3,454  3,525 
Other Asian Countries.................................................................................   785  766 
Australia ......................................................................................................   7,043  5,850 
Europe .........................................................................................................   815  582 
Other ...........................................................................................................   315  171 
  $ 27,129  $ 22,205 
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For the year ended December 31, 2011, the largest customer in the gaming segment represented 80% of total gaming revenue and the 
largest customer in the other products segment represented 18% of total other products revenue.  For the year ended December 31, 
2010, the largest customer in the gaming segment represented 75% of total gaming revenue and the largest customer in the other 
products segment represented 21% of total other products revenue. 
 
Long-lived assets, goodwill and intangible assets identified by geographic segments consisted of the following: 
 
  December 31, 
(amounts in thousands)  2011  2010 

Cambodia ....................................................................................................   $ 14,966  $ 16,206 
Philippines ..................................................................................................   5,598  9,672 
Other Asian Countries.................................................................................   1,661  175 
Australia ......................................................................................................   806  702 
United States ...............................................................................................   340  476 
  $ 23,371  $ 27,231 
 
Note 4. Inventories 
 
Inventories consisted of the following: 
 
  December 31, 
(amounts in thousands)  2011  2010 

Spare parts ..................................................................................................   $ 147  $ 105 
Raw materials .............................................................................................   1,370  680 
Finished goods ............................................................................................   377  279 
  $ 1,894  $ 1,064 
 
Note 5. Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets 
 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets consisted of the following: 
 
  December 31, 
(amounts in thousands)  2011  2010 

Prepaid taxes ...............................................................................................   $ —  $ 239 
Prepayments to suppliers ............................................................................   528  783 
Deposits on EGM orders .............................................................................   121  29 
Restricted cash ............................................................................................   123  — 
Prepaid leases ..............................................................................................   39  — 
  $ 811  $ 1,051 

 
Note 6. Receivables 
 
Accounts and other receivables consisted of the following: 
 
  December 31, 
(amounts in thousands)  2011  2010 

Trade accounts ...................................................................................................   $ 2,730  $ 2,854 
Other ..................................................................................................................   114  101 
  2,844  2,955 
Less: allowance for doubtful accounts ...............................................................   (39)  — 
Net .....................................................................................................................   $ 2,805  $ 2,955 

 
Note 7. Electronic Gaming Machines (EGMs) and Systems 
 
As a result of the Quasi-Reorganization, the asset carrying values were adjusted to a new cost basis and the accumulated depreciation 
of EGMs and systems were also removed to adjust the basis as of December 31, 2010 (Please see Note 1 for more details). Additions 
of EGMs and systems in 2011 are stated at cost. 
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The major categories of EGMs and systems and accumulated depreciation are presented below: 
 
  Useful     
  Life  December 31, 
(amounts in thousands)  (years)  2011  2010 

EGMs ............................................................................   3-5  $ 12,116 $ 11,379 
Systems .........................................................................   5  1,008 981 
    13,124 12,360 
Less: accumulated depreciation ....................................     (4,235) — 
    $ 8,889 $ 12,360 
 
Depreciation expenses for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 were approximately $4.9 million and $8.0 million, 
respectively, which were recorded in cost of EGM participation in the consolidated statements of operations.  Due to the Quasi-
Reorganization, depreciation expenses are not comparable between the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 as the basis of the 
assets are different. 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company had written off non-performing gaming assets of approximately $1.4 million. 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Company had written off gaming assets of approximately $388,000 primarily related to 
the closure of a non-performing venue. 
 
Note 8. Property and Equipment 
 
As a result of the Quasi-Reorganization, the asset carrying values were adjusted to a new cost basis and the accumulated depreciation 
of property and equipment were also removed to adjust the basis as of December 31, 2010 (Please see Note 1 for more details). 
Additions of property and equipment in the year ended December 31, 2011 are stated at cost. 
 
Property and equipment consisted of the following: 
 
  Useful     
  Life  December 31, 
(amounts in thousands)  (years)  2011  2010 

Equipment and vehicles, furniture and fixtures ............   3-10  $ 1,246 $ 1,412 
Land and other project costs .........................................   3-25  1,554 412 
Leasehold improvements ..............................................   1-2  72 117 
    2,872 1,941 
Less: accumulated depreciation ....................................     (314) — 
    $ 2,558 $ 1,941 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Company recorded an impairment charge of approximately $665,000 mainly related to 
its Dolphin operations in Australia. 
 
Note 9. Intangible Assets, including Goodwill and Casino Contracts 
 
As a result of the Quasi-Reorganization, the asset carrying values were adjusted to a new cost basis and the accumulated amortization 
was also removed to adjust the basis and casino contracts were newly recognized as intangible assets as of December 31, 2010 to 
reflect the value of existing contracts in the Philippines and Cambodia operations.  Subsequent additions of intangible assets, if any, 
are stated at cost. 
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The Company’s intangible assets are summarized as follows: 
 
  Useful     
  Life  December 31, 
(amounts in thousands)  (years)  2011  2010 

Definite-life intangible assets:     
Gaming operation agreement ...........................................   4-5  $ 1,173 $ — 
Less: accumulated amortization .......................................     (62) — 

      
Goodwill ..........................................................................     357 — 

      
Patents ..............................................................................   5-6  114 114 
Less: accumulated amortization .......................................     (21) — 

      
Trademarks ......................................................................   5-9  26 26 
Less: accumulated amortization .......................................     (3) — 

      
Casino contracts ...............................................................   5-6  12,790 12,790 
Less: accumulated amortization .......................................     (2,450) — 
Totals ...............................................................................     $ 11,924 $ 12,930 

 

Amortization expense for finite-lived intangible assets was approximately $2.5 million and $406,000 for the years ended 
December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively.  Annual estimated amortization expense for each of the five succeeding years and 
thereafter is as follows: 
 
(amounts in thousands)    

2012 .................................   $ 2,725 
2013 .................................   2,725 
2014 .................................   2,725 
2015 .................................   2,725 
2016 .................................   660 
Thereafter .........................   7 
Total .................................   $ 11,567 
 

Note 10. Prepaids, Deposits and Other Assets 
 

Prepaids, deposits and other assets consisted of the following: 
 
  December 31, 
(amounts in thousands)  2011  2010 

Office and equipment rental deposits ..................................................................   $ 30 $ 48 
Restricted cash ....................................................................................................   325 118 
Prepaid taxes .......................................................................................................   752 394 
Prepaid leases ......................................................................................................   786 — 
Other ...................................................................................................................   — 1 
Totals ..................................................................................................................   $ 1,893 $ 561 
 

As of December 31, 2011, prepaid leases consisted of land lease prepayments of approximately $242,000 and $544,000 for the casino 
projects located in the respective Cambodian provinces of Kampot and Pailin. 

 

Note 11. Accrued Expenses 
 

Accrued expenses consisted of the following: 
 

  December 31, 
(amounts in thousands)  2011  2010 

Payroll and related costs .....................................................................................   $ 968 $ 1,000 
Interest ................................................................................................................   16 61 
Legal, accounting and tax ...................................................................................   254 180 
Accrued tax expenses ..........................................................................................   625 608 
Deferred rent .......................................................................................................   4 54 
Other ...................................................................................................................   361 322 
Totals ..................................................................................................................   $ 2,228 $ 2,225 
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Note 12. Debt and Capital Lease Obligations 
 
Debt and capital lease obligations consisted of the following: 
 
  December 31, 
(amounts in thousands)  2011  2010 

Notes payable to a related party at interest of 5% ...............................................   $ 6,211 $ 9,202 
Capital lease obligations to an Australian bank at various interest rates 

and collateralized by equipment .....................................................................   322 471 
Total ....................................................................................................................   $ 6,533 $ 9,673 
Less: current portion ...........................................................................................   $ (6,533) $ (3,155)
Non-current portion ............................................................................................   $ — $ 6,518 
 
On November 6, 2008, in accordance with the amended Trade Credit Facility Agreement (the “Facility Agreement”), Elixir 
International Limited (“Elixir International”), a then wholly-owned subsidiary of EGT Entertainment Holding Limited (“EGT 
Entertainment Holding”), which is the principal shareholder of the Company, exchanged its promissory note issued under the Facility 
Agreement in the original principal amount advance of $15.0 million for a new promissory note issued by the Company for the then 
outstanding principal amount of approximately $12.1 million.  The outstanding principal and the interest accrued (revised from 8% to 
5%) thereon were to be repaid in 24 equal monthly installments reset from January 1, 2009. 
 
On July 24, 2009, the Company entered into a second amendment (the “Second Amendment”) to the Facility Agreement with Elixir 
International to defer the repayment of principal and interest on the outstanding principal balance of approximately $9.2 million 
during the period from July 1, 2009 to June 30, 2010 although interest at the rate of 5% per annum continued to accrue on the 
outstanding principal balance of approximately $9.2 million (the “Outstanding Principal Balance”).  Repayments in 18 equal monthly 
installments were to resume on July 1, 2010. 
 
On April 20, 2010, the Company entered into a Deed of Assignment and Novation and Consent (the “Deed of Assignment”) with 
Elixir International and EGT Entertainment Holding. Pursuant to the Deed of Assignment, the Company agreed to the assignment and 
transfer by Elixir International of all its rights and obligations under the Facility Agreement and the related promissory note to EGT 
Entertainment Holding, our principal shareholder, with immediate effect. The said assignment and transfer was made in relation to the 
disposal of Elixir International by EGT Entertainment Holding and does not have any impact on the note terms or the repayment 
obligations of the Company save and except that when the repayment schedule resumes, the monthly repayment of principal and 
interest under the note will be made to or at the direction of EGT Entertainment Holding instead of Elixir International. 
 
On May 25, 2010, the Company entered into a third amendment (“Third Amendment”) to the Facility Agreement with EGT 
Entertainment Holding, pursuant to which the payment schedule of the Outstanding Principal Balance and the interest accrued thereon 
were further restructured in the following manner: (i) the total interest accrued on the Outstanding Principal Balance during the period 
from July 1, 2009 to June 30, 2010 in the amount of approximately $458,000 to be paid by the Company in a lump sum payment on 
July 1, 2010; (ii)  on the first day of each calendar month during the period from August 1, 2010 to June 1, 2011, the Company was to 
pay interest in arrears on the Outstanding Principal Balance at the same rate of 5% per annum for the preceding month; and (iii)  the 
Company is to repay the Outstanding Principal Balance and interest accrued thereon at the rate mentioned above in 18 equal monthly 
installments commencing on July 1, 2011.  Pursuant to the terms of the Third Amendment, the Company paid total principal and 
interest of approximately $3.0 million and $417,000, respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2011 to EGT Entertainment 
Holding.  (See Note 15) Interest expenses capitalized during the year ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 amounted approximately 
$36,000 and $18,000 respectively. 

 
In 2006, the Company entered into a capital lease agreement for the lease of four injection molding machines with auxiliary 
equipment. The lease has a six year term and the machines will be fully owned on final payment at the end of the contract term. The 
molding machine lease was capitalized at the present value of the future minimum lease payments at lease inception. As of 
December 31, 2011, the capital lease balance is approximately $322,000 which will be fully settled in 2012. 
 
The cost and accumulated depreciation of property and equipment that the Company is leasing under capital lease arrangements is 
approximately $187,000 and $37,000, respectively, as of December 31, 2011.  Depreciation expense amounted approximately $37,000 
for the year ended December 31, 2011.  The cost and accumulated depreciation of property and equipment that the Company is leasing 
under capital lease arrangements was approximately $187,000 and $NIL, respectively, as of December 31, 2010. 
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Note 13. Stock-Based Compensation 
 
Options 
 
At the annual shareholders meeting on September 8, 2008, a new stock option plan, the “2008 Stock Incentive Plan” (the “2008 
Plan”), was voted on and became effective on January 1, 2009, which replaced two previous plans, the Amended and Restated 1999 
Stock Option Plan and the Amended and Restated 1999 Directors’ Stock Option Plan (the “Stock Option Plans”), thereby terminating 
both of the Stock Option Plans on December 31, 2008. 
 
The 2008 Plan allows for incentive awards to eligible recipients consisting of: 
 
• Options to purchase shares of common stock that qualify as incentive stock options within the meaning of the Internal Revenue 

Code; 
 
• Non-statutory stock options that do not qualify as incentive options; 
 
• Restricted stock awards; and 
 
• Performance stock awards which are subject to future achievement of performance criteria or free of any performance or vesting. 
 
The maximum number of shares reserved for issuance under the 2008 Plan was originally 5,000,000, and in July 2010 the Company’s 
shareholders approved an increase in the number of shares reserved for issuance to 10,000,000.  The exercise price shall not be less 
than 100% of the fair market value of one share of common stock on the date of grant, unless the participant owns more than 10% of 
the total combined voting power of all classes of stock of the Company or any parent or subsidiary corporation of the Company, in 
which case the exercise price shall then be 110% of the fair market value. The outstanding stock options generally vest over three 
years and have ten-year contractual terms. 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2011, stock options for the purchase of 3,575,000 shares of common stock were granted with a 
weighted average exercise price of $0.36 and weighted average fair value of $0.35 (2010: $0.24) per share and will vest from six-
month and one day periods to three-year periods. During the year ended December 31, 2011, 416,666 restricted stock awards with a 
fair value of $0.36 per share were issued. The shares of restricted stock shall vest, subject to and upon the recipient’s achievement of 
key operational and financial performance milestones. For restricted stock awards with performance conditions, the Company 
evaluates if performance conditions are probable in each reporting period. The compensation expense of restricted awards is 
recognized ratably over the implicit service period if achieving performance conditions is probable. Cumulative catch-up adjustments 
are required in the event of any changes in the assessment of probabilities. 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2011, 1.8 million shares of performance common stock with a fair value of $0.29 per share were 
issued in recognition of recipient contributions to the Company in 2010. These shares vested immediately when granted and related 
compensation expense was fully recognized on the grant date. 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company issued 433,333 shares of common stock and received approximately $35,000 
cash in connection with the exercise of outstanding stock options. 
 
Prior to January 1, 2009, the Company had two stock options plans, the Amended and Restated 1999 Stock Option Plan and the 
Amended and Restated 1999 Directors’ Stock Option Plan (the “Previous Stock Option Plans”), through which 15,000,000 shares and 
300,000 shares were authorized, respectively.  Both Previous Stock Option Plans expired on December 31, 2008, however, options 
granted under the Previous Stock Option Plans that were outstanding as of the date of termination remain outstanding and subject to 
termination according to their terms. 
 
As of December 31, 2011, stock options for the purchase of 4,112,834 and 90,400 shares of common stock, respectively, were 
outstanding in relation to the Amended and Restated 1999 Stock Option Plan and the Amended and Restated 1999 Director’s Stock 
Option Plan. 
 
As of December 31, 2011, there were outstanding non-plan options to purchase 1,990,000 shares of common stock. The non-plan 
options were issued to certain employees and non-employees of EGT Entertainment Holding as approved by our stockholders in 
September 2007 pursuant to the initial closing of the transactions under the Securities Purchase and Product Participation Agreement 
dated June 12, 2007 between us and EGT Entertainment Holding. 
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As of December 31, 2011, stock options for the purchase of 6,400,000 shares of common stock were outstanding under the 2008 Plan. 
 
As of December 31, 2011, 9,134,900 stock options were exercisable with a weighted average exercise price of $1.21, a weighted 
average fair value of $0.18 and an aggregate intrinsic value of approximately $303,000. The total fair value of shares vested during the 
year ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 were $520,000 and $576,000, respectively. 
 
A summary of all current and expired plans as of December 31, 2011 and 2010 and changes during the years then ended are presented 
in the following table: 
 

  
Number of 

Shares  
Weighted Average

Exercise Price  

Weighted Average 
Remaining Contractual Life 

(in years)  

Aggregate 
Intrinsic Value 
(in thousands) 

Outstanding as of 
December 31, 2009 ..............   10,737,065 $ 1.84 4.32 $ 502 
Granted ................................   2,850,000 $ 0.27 — $ 248 
Exercised ..............................   (310,000) $ 0.08 — $ 68 
Forfeited or expired ..............   (1,769,298) $ 2.58 — $ — 

Outstanding as of 
December 31, 2010 ..............   11,507,767 $ 1.39 4.37 $ 1,089 

Exercisable as of 
December 31, 2010 ..............   9,599,433 $ 1.61 3.43 $ 875 

 

  
Number of 

Shares  
Weighted Average

Exercise Price  

Weighted Average 
Remaining Contractual Life 

(in years)  

Aggregate 
Intrinsic Value 
(in thousands) 

Outstanding as of 
December 31, 2010 ..............   11,507,767 $ 1.39 4.37 $ 1,089 
Granted ................................   3,575,000 $ 0.36 — $ — 
Exercised ..............................   (433,333) $ 0.08 — $ 105 
Forfeited or expired ..............   (2,056,200) $ 2.39 — $ — 

Outstanding as of 
December 31, 2011 ..............   12,593,234 $ 0.98 5.40 $ 303 

Exercisable as of 
December 31, 2011 ..............   9,134,900 $ 1.21 4.04 $ 303 

 
Restricted Stock 
 

  
Number of 

Shares  

Weighted 
Average 

Fair Value at 
Grant Date  

Weighted 
Average 

Remaining 
Contractual Life

(in years) 

Unvested balance as of December 31, 2009 .............................................   — $ — — 
Granted .....................................................................................................   922,727 $ 0.27 — 
Vested (1) ..................................................................................................   (922,727) $ 0.27 — 
Unvested balance as of December 31, 2010 .............................................   — $ — — 
 

  
Number of 

Shares  

Weighted 
Average 

Fair Value at 
Grant Date  

Weighted 
Average 

Remaining 
Contractual Life

(in years) 

Unvested balance as of December 31, 2010 .............................................   — $ — — 
Granted .....................................................................................................   2,216,666 $ 0.30 — 
Vested (1) ..................................................................................................   (2,216,666) $ 0.30 — 
Unvested balance as of December 31, 2011 .............................................   — $ — — 
 

 
(1) Vested shares included 416,666 shares and 472,727 shares, for 2011 and 2010, respectively, of restricted common stock for which 

final vesting has been approved by the Compensation Committee of the Company. 
 



 

54 

Recognition and Measurement 
 
The fair value of each stock-based award to employees and non-employee directors is estimated on the measurement date which 
generally is the grant date while awards to non-employees are measured at the earlier of the performance commitment date or the 
service completion date using the Black-Scholes-Merton option-pricing model.  Option valuation models require the input of highly 
subjective assumptions, and changes in assumptions used can materially affect the fair value estimates.  The Company estimates the 
expected life of the award by taking into consideration the vesting period, contractual term, historical exercise data, expected 
volatility, blackout periods and other relevant factors. Volatility is estimated by evaluating the Company’s historical volatility data.  
The risk-free interest rate on the measurement date is based on U.S. Treasury constant maturity rates for a period approximating the 
expected life of the award.  The Company historically has not paid dividends, nor does it expect to pay dividends in the foreseeable 
future and, therefore, the expected dividend rate is zero. 
 
The following table summarizes the range of assumptions utilized in the Black-Scholes-Merton option-pricing model for the valuation 
of stock options granted during the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010: 
 
  2011  2010  
Range of values:  Low  High  Low  High  

Expected volatility ............................   127.83% 174.40% 129.51% 174.73%
Expected dividends ...........................   — — — — 
Expected term (in years) ...................   3.73 9.85 1.88 9.88 
Risk free rate .....................................   0.84% 3.43% 0.58% 3.14%

 
For stock-based compensation accrued to employees and non-employee directors, the Company recognizes stock-based compensation 
expense for all service-based awards with graded vesting schedules on the straight-line basis over the requisite service period for the 
entire award.  Initial accruals of compensation expense are based on the estimated number of shares for which requisite service is 
expected to be rendered.  Estimates are revised if subsequent information indicates that forfeitures will differ from previous estimates, 
and the cumulative effect on compensation cost of a change in the estimated forfeitures is recognized in the period of the change. 
 
For non-employee awards, the Company remeasures compensation cost each period until the service condition is complete and 
recognizes compensation cost on the straight-line basis over the requisite service period. 
 
The Company estimates forfeitures and recognizes compensation cost only for those awards expected to vest assuming all awards 
would vest and reverses recognized compensation cost for forfeited awards when the awards are actually forfeited. 

 
For awards with service conditions and graded vesting that were granted prior to the adoption of ASC 718, the Company estimates the 
requisite service period and the number of shares expected to vest, and recognizes compensation expense for each tranche on the 
straight-line basis over the estimated requisite service period. 
 
Warrants 
 
A summary of the status of the Company’s warrants outstanding at December 31, 2011 and 2010 and changes during the years then 
ended are presented in the following table. 
 

  Warrants  

Weighted 
Average 

Exercise Price  

Weighted Average 
Remaining 

Contractual Life 
(in years)  

Aggregate 
Intrinsic Value 

Warrants, as of December 31, 2009 ..........   13,125,000 $ 1.86 1.12 $ — 
Expired ......................................................   (10,000,000) $ 1.80 — $ — 
Exercisable as of December 31, 2010 .......   3,125,000 $ 2.06 0.48 $ — 

 

  Warrants  

Weighted 
Average 

Exercise Price  

Weighted Average 
Remaining 

Contractual Life 
(in years)  

Aggregate 
Intrinsic Value 

Warrants, as of December 31, 2010 ..........   3,125,000 $ 2.06 0.48 $ — 
Expired ......................................................   (3,125,000) $ 2.06 — $ — 
Exercisable as of December 31, 2011 .......   — $ — — $ — 
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Outstanding and exercisable warrants have no aggregate intrinsic value as of December 31, 2010 due to the fair market value of the 
Company’s stock as of these dates. 
 
The table set forth above includes warrants to purchase 10,000,000 common shares held by EGT Entertainment Holding, all of which 
expired on December 31, 2010. 
 
There were no warrants granted or exercised during the year ended December 31, 2011. 
 
Note 14. Accounting for Impairment of Long-Lived Assets (including Intangible Assets) and Goodwill 
 
The Company reviews long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 
amount of an asset may not be recoverable. In such instance, the Company estimates the undiscounted future cash flows (excluding 
interest) resulting from the use of the asset and its ultimate disposition. If the sum of the undiscounted cash flows (excluding interest) 
is less than the carrying value, the Company recognizes an impairment loss, measured as the amount by which the carrying value 
exceeds the fair value of the assets. 
 
For the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company recorded an impairment charge of approximately $1.4 million mainly due to the 
write-off of non-performing gaming assets. 
 
For the year ended December 31, 2010, the Company recorded an impairment charge of approximately $665,000 in relation to the 
Australian operation’s property and equipment. The Company also had a write-off of gaming assets of approximately $388,000 
mainly related to the closure of a non-performing venue during the year and write-down of certain machines held for sale to zero 
values. 
 
The following table reflects the components of the impairment of long-lived assets included in the consolidated statement of 
operations: 
 
    Old Basis  
  Years ended December 31,  
(amounts in millions)  2011  2010  

Non-performing EGMs ..................................................................   $ 1.3  $ — 
Australian operations .....................................................................   —  0.7 
  1.3  0.7 
Write-off of other gaming assets ....................................................   0.1  0.4 
Total impairment charges ..............................................................   $ 1.4  $ 1.1 
 
The Company measures and tests long-lived assets, including finite-lived intangibles for impairment when there are indicators of 
impairment in accordance with ASC 360-10-05, Property, Plant and Equipment. 
 
The Company measures and tests Goodwill for impairment, at least annually in accordance with ASC 350-10-05, Intangibles — 
Goodwill and Other. 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Company determined to write down intangible assets associated with its Australian 
operations as the carrying value of the assets was higher than the expected value of the projected future cash flows. As a result the 
Company recorded an impairment charge of approximately $2.4 million in relation to write-downs of goodwill and intangible assets. 
 
Note 15. Related Party Transactions 
 
On April 21, 2008, the Company entered into a Trade Credit Facility Agreement (the “Facility Agreement”) with Elixir International 
Limited (“Elixir International”), a company which used to be a wholly-owned subsidiary of EGT Entertainment Holding, the 
Company’s principal shareholder. Upon entering into the Agreement, the Company issued the first note pursuant to the terms of the 
Facility Agreement in the principal amount of $15.0 million (the “Initial Advance”).  The Initial Advance extinguished a then trade 
payable of an equivalent amount to Elixir International with respect to EGMs previously acquired. 
 
As a result of the disposal of Elixir International by EGT Entertainment Holding, Elixir International assigned and novated all its 
rights and obligations under the Facility Agreement and the related promissory note (as amended) to EGT Entertainment Holding in 
April 2010. 
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Subsequent to its origination, the Facility Agreement has been amended three times, mostly recently on May 25, 2010 on which date 
we entered into Amendment No.3 to the Facility Agreement with EGT Entertainment Holding (the “Third Amendment”), pursuant to 
which the Company issued a new note (the “Third Amended Note) to replace the previous terms.  Under the payment schedule of the 
Third Amended Note, the outstanding principal balance of $9.2 million and the interest accrued thereon were restructured in the 
following manner: (a)  the total interest accrued on the Outstanding Principal Balance during the period from July 1, 2009 to June 30, 
2010 in the amount of $458,000 to be paid by us in a lump sum payment on July 1, 2010; (b) on the first day of each calendar month 
during the period from August 1, 2010 to June 1, 2011, the Company to pay interest in arrears on the Outstanding Principal Balance at 
the same rate of 5% per annum for the preceding month; and (c)  the Company to repay the Outstanding Principal Balance and interest 
accrued thereon at the rate mentioned above in 18 equal monthly installments commencing on July 1, 2011. Pursuant to the terms of 
the Third Amendment, the Company paid total principal and interest of approximately $3.0 million and $417,000 respectively to EGT 
Entertainment Holding for the year ended December 31, 2011. 
 
As of December 31, 2011, the total outstanding principal amount under the notes payable to EGT Entertainment Holding (see Note 
12) was approximately $6.2 million. 
 
Effective January 1, 2010, the Company began sub-leasing office space from Melco Services Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of 
Melco International Development Limited, which is also the parent of the Company’s principal shareholder, EGT Entertainment 
Holding. 

 
Significant revenues, purchases and expenses arising from transactions with related parties were as follows: 
 
  Years ended December 31, 
(amounts in thousands)  2011  2010 

EGT Entertainment Holding   
Principal and interest payments ........................................................................................   $ 3,408 $ 458
   
Melco Crown Gaming (Macau) Ltd   
Deposit received on sales orders .......................................................................................   $ — $ (120)
Purchase of fixed assets ....................................................................................................   $ — $ 61
Sales of gaming products ..................................................................................................   $ (459) $ —
   
Melco Services Limited   
Technical services .............................................................................................................   $ 32 $ 33
Office rental ......................................................................................................................   $ 150 $ 139
Expenses paid on behalf of the Company (net) ................................................................   $ (8) $ (36)
 
At December 31, 2011, the notes payable to EGT Entertainment Holding had outstanding principal amounts and additional accrued 
interest totaling approximately $6.2 million and $135,000, respectively. 
 
Note 16. Income Taxes 
 
The components of the provision for income taxes were as follows: 
 
  Years ended December 31,
(amounts in thousands)  2011  2010 

Federal — Deferred  .........................................................................................................   $ (49)  $ 210
State ..................................................................................................................................   —  —
Foreign ..............................................................................................................................     

Current ..........................................................................................................................   (90)  (50)
Deferred ........................................................................................................................   88  505

Total tax (expense)/benefit ...............................................................................................   $ (51)  $ 665
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The reconciliation of the statutory federal income tax rate and the Company’s effective tax rate was as follows: 
 
  Years Ended December 31, 
(amounts in thousands)  2011  2010 

Federal (expense)/benefit at statutory rates ........................................................................   $ (235)  $ 1,998
Difference in jurisdictional tax rates ..................................................................................   2,970  1,812
Expense not deductible for tax ...........................................................................................   (312)  (756)
Income not subject to tax ...................................................................................................   1,492  (7)
Adjustment of provision to tax return ................................................................................   (1,044)  (4,537)
Change in valuation allowances .........................................................................................   (448)  1,446
FIN 48 reserve ...................................................................................................................   (2,467)  737
Other ..................................................................................................................................   (7)  (28)
Total tax (expense)/benefit ................................................................................................   $ (51)  $ 665
 
Consolidated income/(losses) before taxes for domestic and international operations are as follows: 
 
  Years Ended December 31,
(amounts in thousands)  2011  2010 

Domestic ...........................................................................................................................   $ (13,118)  $ (7,732)
International ......................................................................................................................   13,811  1,857
Total income/(losses) before taxes ....................................................................................   $ 693  $ (5,875)

 
The primary tax affected components of the Company’s deferred tax assets/(liabilities) were as follows: 
 
  December 31, 
(amounts in thousands)  2011  2010 

Deferred tax assets:    
Prepaid commission agreement ..................................................................   $ 1,277 $ 639 
Net operating losses ....................................................................................   55,702 59,049 
Stock options ...............................................................................................   40 3,145 
Depreciation and impairment ......................................................................   4,425 2,467 
Loss on subsidiary deregistration ................................................................   1,076 — 
Other ...........................................................................................................   538 572 
Valuation allowances ..................................................................................   (62,953) (65,911)

Deferred tax liabilities:    
Goodwill .....................................................................................................   — (7)
Acquisition of intangibles ...........................................................................   (194) — 
Other ...........................................................................................................   (27) (25)

Net deferred tax liabilities ...............................................................................   $ (116) $ (71)
 
Domestic operating loss carryforwards were approximately $160.7 million and $165.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2011 
and 2010, respectively, which are subject to limitations under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code.  These domestic operating 
losses began to expire in 2011. The Company expects to utilize the $160.7 million domestic operating loss to offset against corporate 
income tax payable in the United States of America, if the domestic operating loss remains unexpired at the time when the Company 
is subject to corporate income tax in the United States of America. Operating loss carryforwards of foreign subsidiaries were 
approximately $3.6 million and $6.9 million respectively for the years ended December, 31, 2011 and 2010. 
 
As of December 31, 2011, there were valuation allowances of approximately $62.5 million and $448,000, respectively, relating to pre-
Quasi-Reorganization and post-Quasi-Reorganization periods. As of December 31, 2010, there were valuation allowances of 
approximately $65.9 million relating to the pre-Quasi-Reorganization peroids. Valuation allowances were provided on the domestic 
and foreign operating loss carry forwards and other deferred tax assets because management believes these assets did not meet the 
“more likely than not” criteria for recognition under ASC 740. 
 
Undistributed earnings of the Company’s foreign subsidiary amounted to approximately $7.8 million as of December 31, 2011. Those 
earnings were considered to be permanently reinvested; accordingly, no provision for withholding taxes has been provided thereon. 
Upon repatriation of those earnings, in the form of dividends or otherwise, the Company would be subject to withholding taxes 
payable to the foreign country. Withholding taxes of approximately $1.1 million would be payable upon remittance of all previously 
unremitted earnings as of December 31, 2011. 
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A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amounts of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows: 
 

(amounts in thousands)     

Balance at January 1, 2010 ..........................................................................    $ 3,358 
Increases in tax positions  ...............................................................................     165 
Decreases in tax positions  ..............................................................................     (866)
Balance at December 31, 2010 .....................................................................    $ 2,657 
Increases in tax positions  ...............................................................................     2, 428 
Decreases in tax positions  ..............................................................................     (30)
Balance at December 31, 2011 .....................................................................    $ 5,055 
 

The amount of uncertain tax benefits as of December 31, 2011 that would affect the effective income tax rate if recognized is 
approximately $300,000. It is possible that the amount of unrecognized tax benefits will change in the next twelve months, however, 
an estimate of the range of the possible changes cannot be made at this time. 
 

The Company recognizes interest and penalties, if any, related to unrecognized tax benefits in the provision for income taxes in the 
statements of operations. During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company recorded interest and penalties of approximately 
$67,000. At December 31, 2011, the Company has interest and penalties of approximately $178,000 accrued in the balance sheet. 

 

The Company files income tax returns in the United States and in various states and foreign jurisdictions. The Company is subject to 
federal, state and local, or foreign income tax examinations by tax authorities in jurisdictions which it operates.  The Company’s 2005 
to 2011 U.S. income tax returns remain subject to examination by the IRS.  Currently, the U.S. internal Revenue Service is conducting 
an audit of the 2008 and 2009 tax returns in the United States and initially proposed an unfavorable adjustment to the domestic 
operating loss of approximately $5.1 million. The Company disagreed with the proposed adjustment and is currently working with the 
IRS on this.  The Company’s 2007 to 2011 Australian income tax returns remain subject to examination by the Australian Taxation 
Office. The Company’s 2008 to 2011 Cambodian income tax returns remain subject to examination by the General Department of 
Taxation. The Company’s 2008 to 2011 Philippines income tax returns also remain subject to examination by the Philippines Bureau 
of Internal Revenue. 
 

Note 17. Restructuring Charges 
 

In accordance with ASC 420, Exit and Disposal Cost Obligations, the Company incurred restructuring charges of approximately $NIL 
and $310,000 for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively.  The restructuring charges during the year ended 
December 31, 2010 were for severance wages and benefits related to the termination of employees. 
 

Note 18. Commitments and Contingencies 
 

Leases 
 

At December 31, 2011, the Company is obligated under a non-cancelable lease for office space in Nevada that entered into in 
December 2006.  The Company also leases office space and warehouse facilities in other locations including Australia, Philippines, 
Hong Kong and Cambodia and certain office equipment under non-cancelable operating leases with remaining terms in excess of one 
year. 
 

In March 2008, the Company moved its United States office and entered into a new non-cancelable lease for new office space.  In 
February 2008, the Company entered into a sublease for the balance of the remaining term on the Nevada office space.  The proceeds 
from the sublease had been netted against the lease payments. Both the non-cancelable lease and sublease of the Nevada office space 
were expired at the end of January 2012. 
 

Future minimum lease payment commitments, net of any sublease proceeds and including scheduled escalation provisions as of 
December 31, 2011, under the leases were as follows: 
 

    
Operating 

Leases 

(amounts in thousands)  
Capital 
Leases  

Total 
Payments  

Sublease 
Proceeds  

Net 
Payments 

2012 ..............................................................   $ 322 $ 794 $ (15) $ 779 
2013 ..............................................................   — 673 — 673 
2014 ..............................................................   — 86 — 86 
2015 ..............................................................   — 60 — 60 
Thereafter ......................................................   — 1,000 — 1,000 
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Rent expenses on all operating leases were approximately $735,000 and $734,000 for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, 
respectively. 

 
Legal Matters 
 
Prime Mover/Strata Litigation 
 
On March 26, 2010, a complaint (as subsequently amended on May 28, 2010) (the “Complaint”) was filed by certain shareholders of 
the Company including Prime Mover Capital Partners L.P., Strata Fund L.P., Strata Fund Q.P. L.P., and Strata Offshore Fund, Ltd 
(collectively, the “Plaintiffs”) in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York against certain defendants 
including the Company and certain other current and former directors and officers of the Company. 
 
The Complaint alleges claims related to disclosures concerning the Company’s electronic gaming machine participation business (the 
“Participation Business”), including but not limited to the alleged violations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange 
Act of 1934 and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder, violations of Nevada Revised Statutes Sections 90.580(e) and 90.660(3), breach 
of fiduciary duty, and negligent misrepresentations.  The Plaintiffs allege that the Company and certain other defendants made false 
and misleading statements about the Participation Business in filings with the SEC, press releases, and other industry and investor 
conferences and meetings during the period from June 13, 2007 and August 13, 2008 and that the Plaintiffs then purchased the 
securities at the inflated prices and later suffered economic losses when the price of the Company’s securities decreased. 
 
On June 22, 2011, the court ruled on the motions to dismiss filed by the Company and certain of its current and former officers and 
directors. The court dismissed all of Prime Mover’s claims and dismissed all of Strata’s claims except for two breach-of-contract 
counts against the Company.  All claims against the current and former officers and directors were dismissed. On November 7, 2011, 
Plaintiffs filed a motion for leave to amend the Complaint for re-pleading all the securities claims against us and all the relevant 
current and/or former officers and directors. On December 15, 2011 the court granted the Plaintiff’s motion to amend the Complaint 
and on December 20, 2011 the Plaintiffs filed a second amended Complaint (the “Second Amended Complaint”) which alleged claims 
substantially similar to the original claims in the Complaint.  The Company and certain current and former officers and directors have 
filed a motion to dismiss the Second Amended Complaint on January 23, 2012. 
 
As of the date of this report, the court has not ruled on the motion to dismiss. 
 
The Plaintiffs seek unspecified damages, as well as interest, costs and attorneys’ fees. The Company intends to defend itself 
vigorously against the Second Amended Complaint. As the litigation is at a preliminary stage, it is not possible to predict the likely 
outcome of the case or the probable loss, if any, or the continuation of insurance coverage and, accordingly, no accrual has been made 
for any possible losses in connection with this matter. 
 
Note 19. Earnings/(Loss) Per Share 
 
A reconciliation of basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share for the years was as follows: 
 
        Old Basis 
  Years Ended December 31, 
  2011  2010 
(amounts in thousands, except per share 
data)  Income  

Number of
Shares  

Per Share
Amount   Loss  

Number of
Shares  

Per Share
Amount 

Basic  ............................................................          
Net income/(loss) attributable to equity 

shareholders ..........................................   $ 642 117,953 $ 0.01  $ (5,210) 115,702 $ (0.05)
Effect of dilutive securities .........................          

Dilutive stock options ...............................   — 949   — —  
Diluted  .........................................................          

Net income/(loss) attributable to 
equity shareholders plus assumed  
conversion .............................................   $ 642 118,902 $ 0.01  $ (5,210) 115,702 $ (0.05)

 
Stock options, restricted shares and warrants of 11,476,567 and 5,291,781 for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, 
respectively, have not been included in the computation of diluted loss per share as their effect would be anti-dilutive. 
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Note 20. Comprehensive Income/(Loss) 
 
The accumulated balances in respect of comprehensive income/(loss) are as follows: 
 

(amounts in thousands)  Net Income/(loss)  

Unrealized 
Actuarial 

Income/(Loss)  

Foreign 
Currency 

Translation  

Accumulated 
Other 

Comprehensive
Income/(Loss)  

Total 
Comprehensive
Income/(Loss) 

Balances, January 1, 2010 ................   $ (380,906) $ 9 $ (654) $ (645) $ (381,551)
Change during the year .......................   380,906 — 1,213 1,213 382,119 
Balances, December 31, 2010 .............   — 9 559 568 568 
Change during the year .......................   642 5 (14) (9) 633 
Balances, December 31, 2011 ...........   $ 642 $ 14 $ 545 $ 559 $ 1,201 
 
Note 21. Business Combinations 
 
San Pedro Club was operated by the government operator, Philippine Amusement and Gaming Corporation (“PAGCOR”), which 
entered into a machine lease contract with a company (the “Proponent”), which holds the lease of the premises of the club. The 
Proponent in turn entered into an agreement with the Company to lease EGMs to the venue. 
 
On October 2011, the Company entered into a Transfer Agreement (“TFA”) with the Proponent. Pursuant to the TFA, the Proponent 
will assign and transfer all their benefits, rights and obligations of the PAGCOR contract, to the Company. The results of San Pedro 
Club’s operations have been included in the consolidated financial statements since that date. Pursuant to the terms of the Agreement, 
the Company has assumed the role of the Proponent and worked directly with PAGCOR. The Company’s revenue share has increased 
from 17% to 35% and PAGCOR maintains its 65% share. The Company has also incurred certain of the venue’s operating expenses, 
which are recorded in the cost of gaming operations. 
 
The acquisition-date fair value of the consideration transferred totaled approximately $1.4 million, which consisted of the following: 
 
(amounts in thousands)    

Cash paid up to December 31, 2011 ...................................................................................   $ 1,176 
Remaining cash consideration included in other payables ..................................................   162 
Non-cash consideration .......................................................................................................   82 
  $ 1,420 
 
Non-cash consideration mainly represents amount of net receivables due from the Proponent that was waived by the Company. 
 
The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date. 
 
(amounts in thousands)    

Gaming operation agreement ..............................................................................................   $ 1,191 
Goodwill and other unidentified intangible assets ..............................................................   362 
EGM systems and others ....................................................................................................   64 
Deferred tax liability ...........................................................................................................   (197) 
Net assets acquired and liabilities assumed ........................................................................   $ 1,420 
 
Goodwill recognized mainly represents capitalization of expected synergies and improved operational efficiency. It is entirely related 
to the gaming operations business. 
 
The amounts of revenue and earnings of San Pedro Club included in the Company’s consolidated statement of operations from the 
acquisition date to the period ended December 31, 2011 are as follows: 
 
Revenue and earnings included in the consolidated statement of operations from October 1, 2011 to December 31, 2011 
 
(amounts in thousands)   

Revenues .....................................................................   $ 406 
Adjusted EBITDA ......................................................   274 
Net income ..................................................................   $ 66 
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The following represents the unaudited pro forma consolidated statements of operations as if San Pedro Club had been included in the 
consolidated results of the Company for the entire years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively: 
 
Pro Forma Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 
 

(amounts in thousands)  
(unaudited) 

2011  
(unaudited) 

2010 

Revenues ......................................   $ 27,768 $ 23,057 
Net income/(loss) .........................   $ 738 $ (5,082)
 
These amounts have been calculated after applying the Company’s accounting policies and adjusting the results of San Pedro Club to 
reflect the additional depreciation and amortization that would have been charged assuming the fair value adjustments to EGMs and 
others, and intangible assets had been applied on January 1, 2010, together with the consequential tax effects. 
 
Note 22.  Subsequent Events 
 
In January 2012, our board of directors approved the grant of options to purchase a total of 1,100,000 shares of common stock and 
779,220 shares of restricted common stock under our 2008 Plan.  However, only 460,607 shares of common stock remained available 
for issuance pursuant to the 2008 Plan at that time.  The grant of the 1,418,613 shares in excess of the share amount available for 
issuance under the 2008 Plan was an inadvertent mistake made by the Company without a then present awareness of the share 
limitations under the 2008 Plan.  Such grants of the excess shares constitutes a breach of the listing rules of the NYSE-Amex which 
provide that, subject to limited exceptions, none of which apply in this case, all grants of compensatory securities must be within the 
number of securities that are reserved for issuance under the relevant stock incentive plan as approved by the shareholders of the listed 
company. The Company voluntarily notified the NYSE-Amex of the excess share grant and the apparent breach of the NYSE-Amex 
listing rules and advised the NYSE-Amex that the Company intends to redress the situation by seeking shareholder approval, at the 
Company’s annual meeting of shareholders tentatively scheduled for May 2012, of a further amendment to the 2008 Plan to increase 
the number of shares authorized for issuance thereunder and shareholder ratification of the grant of the excess shares. In the event the 
Company’s shareholders do not approve the ratification of the grant of the excess shares under the 2008 Plan, the chief executive 
officer and certain management team members are prepared to cancel options and shares held by them totaling 1,418,613 shares to 
bring the Company into compliance with the NYSE-Amex listing rules. Any cancellation of shares and options by management for 
purposes of reducing the number of shares granted under the 2008 Plan to 10 million shares will not preclude the board from issuing 
an equal amount of shares to such persons in the future, subject to appropriate shareholder approval requirements of the NYSE-Amex. 
As of the date of this report, the Company has not received any formal notice from the NYSE-Amex concerning the Company’s 
apparent breach of the NYSE-Amex listing rules and the Company believes that the NYSE-Amex intends to defer any action until the 
Company have had the opportunity to address the situation in the manner set forth above. 
 
Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure 
 
Not applicable. 

 
Item 9A(T). Controls and Procedures 
 
(a)  Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures. 
 
Our management, with the participation of our chief executive officer and chief accounting officer evaluated the effectiveness of our 
disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to Rule 13a-15 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange 
Act”).  Based upon that evaluation and for the reasons stated in section (c) below, our management, including our chief executive 
officer and chief accounting officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of December 31, 2011 in 
ensuring all material information required to be filed has been made known in a timely manner. 
 
(b)  Changes in internal control over financial reporting. 
 
There were no changes to our internal control over financial reporting, as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act that 
occurred during the year ended December 31, 2011 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our 
internal control over financial reporting. 
 
(c)  Management’s report on internal controls over financial reporting. 
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Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal controls over financial reporting, as defined under 
Rule 13a-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.  Management has assessed the effectiveness of our internal controls over 
financial reporting as of December 31, 2011 based on the framework established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued 
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”). Management’s assessment included 
evaluation of elements such as the design and operating effectiveness of key financial reporting controls, process documentation, and 
our overall control environment. Based on that evaluation, management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting 
was effective as of December 31, 2011. 
 
This annual report does not include an attestation report of our registered public accounting firm regarding internal control over 
financial reporting.  Management’s report is not subject to attestation by our registered, public accounting firm pursuant to the rules of 
the Securities and Exchange Commission that permit us to provide only managements report in this annual report. 
 
Item 9B. Other Information 
 
Not applicable. 

 
PART III 

 
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance 
 
The names of our executive officers and directors and their ages, titles and biographies as of March 15, 2012 are set forth below: 
 
Name  Age  Position 

Clarence (Yuk Man) Chung ..........   49  Chairman of the Board of Directors, President and Chief Executive Officer 
Andy (Kin Ming) Tsui ..................   41  Chief Accounting Officer 
Vincent L. DiVito .........................   52  Director 
John W. Crawford, J.P. .................   69  Director 
Samuel (Yuen Wai) Tsang ............   57  Director 
Anthony (Kanhee) Tyen, Ph.D. ....   56  Director 
 
Our executive officers are appointed by, and serve at the discretion of, our board of directors. Each executive officer is a full time 
employee although our chief executive officer, Mr. Clarence Chung, also serves as an executive director of Melco International 
Development Limited, the parent corporation of our principal shareholder, EGT Entertainment Holding Limited. There is no family 
relationship between any of our executive officers or directors. 
 
Clarence (Yuk Man) Chung:  Mr. Chung joined our board in October 2007 and has served as our chairman of the board since 
August 2008 and chief executive officer since October 2008. Mr. Chung is currently also an executive director of Melco International 
Development Limited, a company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and a director of Melco Crown Entertainment Limited, a 
company listed on the Nasdaq Global Market and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. Mr. Chung joined Melco in December 2003 and 
Melco Crown in November 2006. Before joining the Melco group, he held positions as chief financial officer and merger and 
acquisition specialist in various multi-national companies and in the investment banking industry. Mr. Chung holds a master degree in 
business administration from the Kellogg School of Management at Northwestern University and is a member of the Hong Kong 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. 
 
Mr. Chung has extensive knowledge of the gaming industry in the markets in which the Company operates from his senior 
management experience with Melco International Development Limited. As a result of these and other professional experiences, the 
Company has concluded that Mr. Chung is qualified to serve as a director. 
 
Andy (Kin Ming) Tsui:  Mr. Tsui joined our company as vice president of finance in July 2008 and was promoted to chief accounting 
officer in April 2009. Prior to joining our company, Mr. Tsui had been the regional finance controller-Asia for Minteq International 
Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of Minerals Technologies Inc. (NYSE: MTX) based in Shanghai since June 2005.  From March 2003 
to May 2005, he served as manager of financial analysis at the corporate office of Minteq International Inc. in New York. Mr. Tsui 
holds a Master of Business Administration degree from Baruch College, City University of New York and is a certified public 
accountant in the United States. 
 
Vincent L. DiVito:  Mr. DiVito joined our board in October 2005 and chairs our audit committee. Since April 2010, Mr. DiVito has 
served as a financial and management consultant. From January 2008 to April 2010, Mr. DiVito served as president of Lonza 
America, Inc., a global life sciences chemical business headquartered in Allendale, New Jersey, and also served as chief financial 
officer and treasurer of Lonza America, Inc. from September 2000 to April 2010.  Lonza America, Inc. is part of Lonza Group, whose 
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stock is traded on the Swiss Stock Exchange. From 1990 to September 2000, Mr. DiVito was employed by Algroup Wheaton, a global 
pharmaceutical and cosmetics packaging company, first as its director of business development and later as its vice president and chief 
financial officer. Mr. DiVito is a certified public accountant and certified management accountant. Mr. DiVito has served on the board 
of directors of Riviera Holdings Corporation, a publicly held company, from July 2002 until the consummation of a change in control 
of the corporation in March 2011. 

 
Mr. DiVito has extensive knowledge of accounting and corporate governance issues from his experience serving on various corporate 
board of directors and has extensive operational knowledge as a result of his experience as an operational executive at a major 
corporation and is invaluable to our board’s discussions of financial and operational issues. As a result of these and other professional 
experiences, the Company has concluded that Mr. DiVito is qualified to serve as a director. 
 
John W. Crawford, J.P.:  Mr. Crawford joined our board in November 2007 and chairs our nominating committee and conflicts 
committee.  Mr. Crawford has been the chairman of International Quality Education Limited since February 2002. Prior to that, 
Mr. Crawford was a founding partner of the Hong Kong office of Ernst & Young where, as chairman of the Audit Division, he acted 
as engagement or review partner for many public companies and banks before he retired from practice in 1997. Mr. Crawford is a 
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a member and honorary president of the Macau Society of 
Certified Practising Accountants, and a member of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants. Mr. Crawford also serves on the 
boards of directors and is chairman of the audit committees of e-Kong Group Limited and Titan Petrochemicals Group Limited, both 
of which are listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. He is also on the board of directors and chairman of the audit committee of 
Regal Portfolio Management Limited, which manages the Regal Real Estate Investment Trust, the units of which are listed on the 
Hong Kong Stock Exchange. In February 2012, Mr. Crawford has been appointed as a member to the conflicts committee of the 
Macau Studio City project held by Melco Crown Entertainment Limited although he does not hold any directorships with Melco 
Crown Entertainment Limited or any of its subsidiaries. 
 
Mr. Crawford has extensive knowledge of accounting issues from his experience as a managing audit partner at a major international 
accounting firm and has extensive operational knowledge as a result of his consulting experience, and is invaluable to our board’s 
discussions of financial and operational issues. As a result of these and other professional experiences, the Company has concluded 
that Mr. Crawford is qualified to serve as a director. 
 
Samuel (Yuen Wai) Tsang:  Mr. Tsang joined our board in September 2008. Mr. Tsang is a solicitor admitted in Hong Kong, 
England and Australia. As group legal counsel and company secretary of Melco since 2001, Mr. Tsang oversees the legal, corporate 
and compliance matters of Melco, which holds significant interests in a total of four listed companies in Hong Kong, the United States 
and Canada. Mr. Tsang has worked as a lawyer with major law firms and listed conglomerates in Hong Kong for over 20 years. He 
holds a master of laws degree from University of Hong Kong and a master of business administration degree from the Australian 
Graduate School of Management. 
 
Mr. Tsang has extensive knowledge of corporate law, corporate governance and the gaming industry, including the regulation of the 
gaming industry, in the markets in which the Company operates from his senior legal management experience with Melco 
International Development Limited, and is invaluable to our board’s discussions of legal, governance and regulatory issues. As a result 
of these and other professional experiences, the Company has concluded that Mr. Tsang is qualified to serve as a director. 
 
Anthony (Kanhee) Tyen, Ph.D.: Dr. Tyen joined our board in September 2008 and chairs our compensation committee. Since 1985, 
Dr. Tyen has been in the proprietorship of his own accountancy and consulting practice, Anthony Tyen & Co. Dr. Tyen is a certified 
public accountant in Hong Kong and has over 30 years of experience in auditing, accounting, management and company secretarial 
practice. He holds a doctoral degree in philosophy and a master degree in business administration, both from the Chinese University of 
Hong Kong. He is an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and a fellow member of both the 
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators. Dr. Tyen has served as 
an independent non-executive director and a member of audit committee to the board of Melco since June 2010. 
 
Mr. Tyen has extensive knowledge of accounting issues and the business operations in the markets in which the Company operates 
from his experience as an owner of an accounting firm in Hong Kong and is invaluable to our board’s discussions of accounting and 
operational issues. As a result of these and other professional experiences, the Company has concluded that Mr. Tyen is qualified to 
serve as a director. 

 
Additional Information about our Board and its Committees 
 
We continue to monitor the rules and regulations of the SEC and the NYSE Amex to ensure that a majority of our board remains 
composed of “independent” directors. All of our director nominees except Mr. Chung and Mr. Tsang are considered by our board of 
directors to be “independent” as defined in Section 803A(2) of the NYSE Amex Company Guide. 
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Our board met five times in 2011. During the year ended December 31, 2011, all of our directors attended at least 75% of all meetings 
during the periods for which they served on our board, and at least 75% of all of the meetings held by committees of the board on 
which they serve. The board of directors has formed an audit committee, a nominating committee, a conflicts committee, and a 
compensation committee, all of which operate under written charters.  Our board of directors does not have a policy regarding board 
member attendance at meetings of our stockholders. 
 

Audit Committee 
 

During the year ended December 31, 2011, our audit committee was comprised of Mr. Vincent DiVito, Mr. John Crawford and 
Dr. Anthony Tyen.  Mr. DiVito currently serves as the audit committee chair. 
 

Our audit committee generally meets at least once a quarter and, in 2011, our audit committee held four meetings. Our audit 
committee has the responsibility of selecting the firm that will serve as our independent public accountants, approving and reviewing 
the scope and results of the audit and any non-audit services provided by the independent public accountants and meeting with our 
financial staff to review internal controls, procedures and policies. 
 

We have identified Mr. DiVito as the audit committee financial expert. Mr. DiVito was previously the president and chief financial 
officer of Lonza America, Inc., a global life sciences chemical company and he is also a certified public accountant and a certified 
management accountant. All members of our audit committee are independent, as independence for audit committee members is 
defined in Section 803A(2) of the NYSE Amex Company Guide. In addition, Mr. Crawford and Dr. Anthony Tyen each meet the 
definition of “financially sophisticated” as defined in Section 803B(2) of the NYSE Amex Company Guide. 
 

Nominating Committee 
 

During the year ended December 31, 2011, our nominating committee was comprised of Mr. Vincent DiVito, Mr. John Crawford and 
Dr. Anthony Tyen. Our nominating committee held one meeting in 2011.  Mr. Crawford serves as the nominating committee chair. 
 
The nominating committee is responsible for assisting our board with respect to the appropriate size and composition of our board and 
monitoring and making recommendations regarding the performance of our board. In this regard, our nominating committee evaluates 
the qualifications of all proposed candidates for election to our board, including capabilities, availability to serve, conflicts of interest 
and other relevant factors, and makes recommendations to our board concerning the size and composition of our board of directors. 
 
The members of our nominating committee are considered by our board of directors to be “independent” as defined in 
Section 803A(2) of the NYSE Amex Company Guide. 
 
The charter of our nominating committee allows the nominating committee to consider for directorship candidates nominated by third 
parties, including stockholders. For a third party to suggest a candidate, one must provide our legal department with the name of the 
candidate, together with a brief biographical sketch and a document indicating the candidate’s willingness to serve if elected. 
 
Compensation Committee 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2011, our compensation committee was comprised of Mr. Vincent DiVito, Mr. John Crawford 
and Dr. Anthony Tyen. Dr. Tyen serves as the compensation committee chair. 

 
Our compensation committee held three meetings in 2011. Our compensation committee has the responsibility of setting executive 
compensation guidelines, administering our stock incentive plans, and approving compensation of our executive officers and members 
of the board of directors. 
 

The members of our compensation committee are considered by our board of directors to be “independent” as defined in 
Section 803A(2) of the NYSE Amex Company Guide. 
 
Conflicts Committee 
 
With regard to transactions between us and our principal stockholder, EGT Entertainment Holding, our board of directors has 
established a committee of the board, known as the conflicts committee, made up exclusively of members of our board who satisfy the 
independence requirements of Section 803(A)(2) of the NYSE Amex Company Guide and meet the criteria for independence as set 
forth in Rule 10A-3(b)(1) under the Exchange Act, and who are not then, and during the two years prior to their appointment or 
election have not been, an officer, director, employee of or consultant or advisor to EGT Entertainment Holding or any affiliate of 
EGT Entertainment Holding. 
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The conflicts committee operates under a charter that has been approved by our board of directors. While the original conflicts 
committee charter empowered the conflicts committee to veto any agreement or transaction between us and EGT Entertainment 
Holding or any of its affiliates involving an aggregate amount in excess of $200,000, in November 2008, following the 
recommendation by all members of the conflicts committee, the board approved a revision of the charter requiring the conflicts 
committee to review and approve all material agreements or transactions, if any, between us and EGT Entertainment Holding or its 
affiliates. The Company filed with the SEC a current report on Form 8-K regarding such revision on April 27, 2009 and the revised 
charter took effect on May 5, 2009. In August 2010, the board further approved a revision of the charter changing the authorized 
number of committee members from three to a number no less than two and the Company filed with the SEC a current report on 
Form 8-K regarding such change on August 4, 2010 and the revised charter took effect on August 11, 2010. 
 

During the year ended December 31, 2011, our conflicts committee was comprised of Mr. Vincent DiVito and Mr. John Crawford. 
Mr. Crawford serves as the conflicts committee chair. 
 

Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation 
 

No member of our board of directors is employed by us or our subsidiaries except for Mr. Clarence Chung, who is presently employed 
as our president and chief executive officer.  None of our executive officers serve on the board of directors of another entity, whose 
executive officers serves on the compensation committee of our board of directors.  No officer or employee of the Company 
participated in deliberations of our compensation committee concerning executive officer compensation. 
 

Code of Ethics 
 

We have adopted a code of ethics for all our employees, including our chief executive officer, principal financial officer and principal 
accounting officer or controller, and/or persons performing similar functions, which is available on our website, under the link entitled 
“Code of Ethics”. 

 

Item 11. Executive Compensation 
 

Summary Compensation Table 
 

The following table sets forth the compensation awarded to, earned by or paid to, our chief executive officer for the years ended 
December 31, 2011 and 2010 and our only other executive officer earning in excess of $100,000 for services rendered in all capacities 
the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010.  Mr. Chung has served as our chief executive officer since October 1, 2008.  Mr. Tsui 
has served as our chief accounting officer since April 2009. 
 
(amounts in thousands) 
Name and Principal 
Position(a)  

Year 
(b)  

Salary 
(c)  

Bonus 
(d)  

Stock 
Awards 

(e)  

Option 
Awards 

(f)  

All Other 
Compensation

(g)  
Total 

(h) 

Clarence Chung, CEO ..   2011  $ —(1) $ 125(2) $ 324(3&4) $ 193 $ — $ 642 
  2010  $ —(1) $ 100(4) $ 249(5&6) $ 140 $ — $ 489 
Andy Tsui, CAO ..........   2011  $ 177 $ 37(2) $ 51(4) $ 88 $ — $ 353 
  2010  $ 170 $ 30(4) $ — $ 35 $ — $ 235 
 

The dollar amounts in columns (e) and (f) reflect the values of shares and/or options as of the grant date for the years ended 
December 31, 2011 and 2010, in accordance with ASC 718, Compensation-Stock Compensation and, therefore, do not necessarily 
reflect actual benefits received by the individuals. Assumptions used in the calculation of these amounts are included in Note 13 to our 
audited financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2011. 
 

 
(1) Mr. Chung has an annualized base salary in cash of $1. 
  
(2) On March 2, 2012, the compensation committee of the board of directors resolved the grant of a cash bonus of $125,000 and

approximately $37,000, respectively, to Mr. Chung and Mr. Tsui for their contributions during the year 2011. 
  
(3) On February 2, 2011, the compensation committee of the board of directors resolved to grant to Mr. Chung, on that day, as part 

of his compensation package for the year 2011: (a) options to purchase 500,000 shares of our common stock at an exercise price 
of $0.36 per share provided that all these options will only be vested and become exercisable on January 1, 2012; and 
(b) 416,666 shares of restricted common stock, pursuant to our 2008 Stock Incentive Plan. All 416,666 restricted common shares 
are subject to vesting and risk of forfeiture based on the ability of the Company to meet certain financial and non-financial 
performance targets as of and for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2011. On March 2, 2012, our compensation committee 
reviewed the financial and non-financial performance targets as of and for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011 and decided 
that the entire amount of 416,666 restricted shares should be fully vested to Mr. Chung. 
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(4) On March 8, 2011, our compensation committee approved the grant of special performance bonuses to Mr. Chung and Mr. Tsui 

as rewards for their efforts and contributions to the turning around and successful transformation of the Company during the
years 2009 and 2010. The special performance bonus granted to Mr. Chung comprised a combination of a total cash bonus of 
$100,000 and 600,000 performance common shares of the Company, and the special performance bonus granted to Mr. Tsui 
comprises a combination of a total cash bonus of $30,000 and 175,000 performance common shares of the Company. These
performance shares were issued pursuant to the Company’s 2008 Stock Incentive Plan and the Form S-8 registration statement
filed by the Company with the SEC on April 6, 2011. 

  
(5) On January 22, 2010, the compensation committee of the board of directors resolved to grant to Mr. Chung, on that day, as part 

of his compensation package for the year 2010: (a) options to purchase 500,000 shares of our common stock at an exercise price
of $0.275 per share provided that all these options will only be vested and become exercisable on January 1, 2011; and 
(b) 472,727 shares of restricted common stock, pursuant to our 2008 Stock Incentive Plan. All 472,727 restricted common shares
were subject to vesting and risk of forfeiture based on ability of the Company to meet certain financial and non-financial 
performance targets as of and for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2010. On February 1, 2011, our compensation committee 
reviewed the financial and non-financial performance targets as of and for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2010 and decided 
that the entire amount of 472,727 restricted shares should be fully vested to Mr. Chung. 

  
(6) On March 12, 2010, based on the resolution of our compensation committee passed on March 1, 2010, our Company granted

450,000 shares of performance common stock, pursuant to our 2008 Stock Incentive Plan, to Mr. Chung as a discretionary 
reward for his achievement of certain financial and non-financial performance targets for the fiscal year ended December 31, 
2009. All 450,000 shares of performance common stock were immediately vested on the date of grant and the related stock-
based compensation was recognized on the same date. 
 

 
Narrative Disclosure to Summary Compensation Table 
 
Mr. Clarence Chung 
 
In November 2009, the compensation committee of our board of directors approved the following compensation for Mr. Chung, the 
terms of which were included in a written employment agreement dated November 10, 2009 (“November 2009 Agreement”) entered 
into between us and Mr. Chung for his employment as our Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) on November 10, 2009: 
 
• a term of three years commencing from January 1, 2010 to December 31, 2012 and may be renewed  thereafter subject to further 

agreement between the parties; 
 
• an annualized base salary in cash of $1; and 
 
• a discretionary performance bonus of such amount and form (whether in cash or in kind) to be determined by the Company’s 

compensation committee (“Compensation Committee”) payable upon achievement of certain objectives set by the compensation 
committee and at such time as may be deemed appropriate by the compensation committee. 

 
On December 31, 2011, Elixir Gaming Technologies (Hong Kong) Limited (“EGT-HK”) and Dreamworld Leisure Management 
Limited (“EGT-BVI”), a newly incorporated company in the British Virgin Islands, both of which are our wholly-owned subsidiaries, 
each entered into different employment agreements with the CEO.  The one entered into by EGT-HK is for the CEO’s services 
performed within Hong Kong or in relation to the Company’s business, if any, in Hong Kong (the “HK Employment Agreement”) and 
the other one entered into by EGT-BVI is for the CEO’s services performed outside Hong Kong or in relation to the Company’s 
business outside Hong Kong (the “Overseas Employment Agreement”). 
 
The service term under both employment agreements is for the remaining term of the November 2009 Agreement from January 1, 
2012 to December 31, 2012. According to the terms of the HK Employment Agreement, the CEO is entitled to an annual base salary 
of $1.00 and, if applicable, a performance bonus that is discretionary in nature with such amount and form (whether in cash or in kind) 
to be determined by the Compensation Committee. On the other hand, the CEO is only entitled to discretionary compensation of such 
amount and form (whether in cash or in kind) to be determined by the Compensation Committee at such time as the Compensation 
Committee deems appropriate according to the terms of the Overseas Employment Agreement. Save for clearly identifying the 
jurisdictional differences, the terms of the HK Employment Agreement and the Overseas Employment Agreement are in essence the 
same as the November 2009 Agreement and upon signing, they have the effect of superseding the November 2009 Agreement. 
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Pursuant to the resolutions passed by the Compensation Committee on December 31, 2011, the Company granted to Mr. Chung, on 
that day, as part of his compensation package  for 2012: (a) options to purchase 600,000 shares of our common stock at an exercise 
price of $0.231 per share pursuant to the HK Employment Agreement provided that all these options will be vested and become 
exercisable on January 1, 2013; and (b) 779,220 shares of restricted common stock, pursuant to our 2008 Stock Incentive Plan and the 
Overseas Employment Agreement . All 779,220 restricted common shares are subject to vesting and risk of forfeiture based on the 
ability of the Company to meet certain financial and non-financial performance targets as of and for the fiscal year ending 
December 31, 2012. 
 
On March 2, 2012, the Compensation Committee resolved the grant of a cash bonus of $125,000 to Mr. Chung pursuant to the 
Overseas Employment Agreement for his contributions during the year 2011. 
 
During his employment with the Company, Mr. Chung also serves as an executive director of Melco International Development 
Limited, the parent corporation of our principal shareholder, EGT Entertainment Holding, and receives a salary from Melco for his 
services rendered to Melco. 
 
Outstanding Equity Awards at Year-End 2011 
 

Option Awards 

Name  

Number of 
Securities 

Underlying
Unexercised

Options 
Exercisable  

Number of 
Securities 

Underlying
Unexercised

Options 
Unexercisable  

Equity 
Incentive 

Plan 
Awards: 

Number of 
Securities 

Underlying
Unexercised 
Unearned 
Options  

Option 
Exercise 

Price  

Option 
Expiration 

Date 
(mm/dd/yyyy)

       
Clarence Chung ........................................   200,000(1) — — $ 2.90 05/17/2012 
  30,000(2) — — $ 3.62 01/22/2018 
  100,000(3) — — $ 4.59 11/14/2017 
  2,000,000(4) — — $ 0.17 12/29/2013 
  50,000(5) — — $ 0.13 02/12/2019 
  50,000(6) — — $ 0.29 01/07/2020 
  500,000(7) — — $ 0.28 01/22/2020 
  50,000(8) — — $ 0.36 02/03/2021 
  500,000(9) — — $ 0.36 02/03/2021 
       
Andy Tsui .................................................   200,000(10) — — $ 0.08 12/11/2018 
  150,000(11) — — $ 0.26 03/12/2020 
  — 250,000(12) — $ 0.36 02/03/2021 
 

 
(1) 

 

We granted Mr. Chung 200,000 options as of September 10, 2007. Such options vested and became exercisable as follows: 
66,666 options vested on May 17, 2008; 66,666 options vested on May 17, 2009; and the final 66,668 options vested on 
May 17, 2010. 

   
(2)  We granted Mr. Chung 30,000 options as of January 22, 2008. Such options vested and became exercisable on July 23, 2008.
   
(3) 

 
We granted Mr. Chung 100,000 options as of February 12, 2008. Such options vested and became exercisable on May 15, 
2008. 

   
(4) 

 
We granted Mr. Chung 2,000,000 options as of December 29, 2008. Such options vested and became exercisable on 
December 29, 2009. 

   
(5) 

 
We granted Mr. Chung 50,000 options as of February 12, 2009. Such options vested and became exercisable on August 13, 
2009. 

   
(6)  We granted Mr. Chung 50,000 options as of January 7, 2010. Such options vested and became exercisable on July 8, 2010. 
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(7) 
 

We granted Mr. Chung 500,000 options as of January 22, 2010. Such options vested and became exercisable on January 1, 
2011. 

   
(8) 

 
We granted Mr. Chung 50,000 options as of February 3, 2011. Such options vested and became exercisable on August 4, 
2011. 

   
(9) 

 
We granted Mr. Chung 500,000 options as of February 3, 2011. Such options vest and become exercisable on January 1, 
2012. 

   
(10) 

 

We granted Mr. Tsui 200,000 options as of December 11, 2008. Such options vested and became exercisable as follows:
66,666 options vested on December 11, 2009; 66,667 options vested on December 11, 2010; and the final 66,667 options 
vested on December 11, 2011. 

   
(11)  We granted Mr. Tsui 150,000 options as of March 12, 2010. Such option vested and became exercisable on March 12, 2011.
   
(12) 

 

We granted Mr. Tsui 250,000 options as of February 3, 2011. Such options vest and become exercisable as follows: 83,333 
options vest on February 3, 2012; 83,334 options will vest on February 3, 2013; and the final 83,333 options will vest on 
February 3, 2014. 

 
2011 Director Compensation Table 
 
(amounts in thousands) 

 

Name (a)  

Fees 
Earned 

(b)  

Stock 
Awards 

(c)  

Option 
Awards 

(d)  

Non-Equity
Incentive Plan
Compensation

(e)  

Change in 
Pension 

Value and 
Nonqualified 

Deferred 
Compensation 

Earnings 
(f)  

All Other 
Compensation

(g)  
Total 

(h) 

Vincent DiVito ....  $ 72 $ 35 $ 17 $ — $ — $ 25 $ 149 
John Crawford .....  $ 48 $ 35 $ 17 $ — $ — $ 25 $ 125 
Anthony Tyen .....  $ 48 $ 35 $ 17 $ — $ — $ 25 $ 125 
Samuel Tsang ......  $ — $ 35 $ 17 $ — $ — $ 25 $ 77 
 
The dollar amounts in columns (c) and (d) reflect the values of equity awards as of the grant date, in accordance with ASC 718, 
Compensation-Stock Compensation, and, therefore, do not necessarily reflect actual benefits received by the individuals. Assumptions 
used in the calculation of these amounts are included in Note 13 to our audited financial statements for the fiscal year ended 
December 31, 2011. 
 
Each member of our board of directors received an initial grant of 100,000 options upon his or her appointment. 
 
From November 2007 to December 2008, members of our board of directors that are not employees received a quarterly fee of 
$15,000 (which was subsequently reduced to $12,000 with effect from January 1, 2009) and the chairman of our audit committee 
received an additional $7,500 per quarter (which was subsequently reduced to $6,000 with effect from January 1, 2009). 
 
Since January 2009, our policy had been changed to provide each member of our board of directors with an annual grant of options to 
purchase 50,000 shares of our common stock and each non-employee board member a quarterly fee of $12,000, provided that the 
chairman of our audit committee received an additional $6,000 per quarter. 
 
On November 8, 2011, our board of directors, acting upon the recommendation and approval of our compensation committee, 
approved an amendment to our policy concerning the compensation of our directors. Pursuant to such amendments, effective as of 
January 1, 2012, each member of our board of directors will receive an annual grant of options to purchase 100,000 shares of our 
common stock and each non-employee board member will also receive a quarterly fee of $13,500, provided that the chairman of our 
audit committee will receive an additional $6,500 per quarter. As of the date of this report, Mr. Samuel Tsang had unconditionally 
waived all his entitlements to the aforesaid quarterly fees. 
 
All annual grant options will vest in full six months and one day following the date of grant. The exercise price of such options is the 
market price of our common stock on the date of grant. Our directors are reimbursed for their out-of-pocket expenses related to their 
services as directors or meeting attendances. 
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On March 2, 2012, the compensation committee of the board of directors resolved the grant of cash bonus of $25,000 to each non-
employee director to catch up for pervious reductions in directors’ fees and for their efforts and guidance to management during the 
year 2011. 
 
SEC Position on Certain Indemnification Arrangements 
 
Our articles of incorporation obligate us to indemnify our directors and officers to the fullest extent permitted under Nevada law. 
Chapter 78 of the Nevada Revised Statutes provides for indemnification by a corporation of costs incurred by directors, employees, 
and agents in connection with an action, suit, or proceeding brought by reason of their position as a director, employee, or agent. The 
person being indemnified must have acted in good faith and in a manner he reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best 
interests of the corporation. 
 
Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act may be permitted to our directors, officers or persons 
controlling us pursuant to the provisions contained in our amended and restated articles of incorporation, our amended and restated 
bylaws, Nevada law or otherwise, we have been informed that, in the opinion of the SEC, such indemnification is against public 
policy as expressed in the Securities Act and is therefore unenforceable. If a claim for indemnification against such liabilities, other 
than the payment by us of expenses incurred or paid by one of our directors, officers or controlling persons in the successful defense 
of any action, suit, or proceeding, is asserted by such director, officer or controlling person, we will, unless in the opinion of our 
counsel the matter has been settled by controlling precedent, submit to a court of appropriate jurisdiction the question of whether such 
indemnification by us is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and will be governed by the final adjudication of this 
issue. 

 
Indemnification Agreements 
 
We have entered into indemnification agreements with members of our board of directors and certain other employees in which we 
agreed to hold harmless and indemnify such directors, officers and employees to the fullest extent authorized under Nevada law, and 
to pay any and all related expenses reasonably incurred by the indemnitee. The relevant members of our board of directors are 
Mr. Clarence Chung, Mr. Vincent L. DiVito, Mr. John Crawford, Mr. Samuel Tsang and Dr. Anthony Tyen. 
 
Section 16(A) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance 
 
Rules adopted by the SEC under Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, or the Exchange Act, require our officers and 
directors, and persons who own more than 10% of the issued and outstanding shares of our equity securities, to file reports of their 
ownership, and changes in ownership, of such securities with the SEC on Forms 3, 4 or 5, as appropriate. Such persons are required by 
the regulations of the SEC to furnish us with copies of all forms they file pursuant to Section 16(a). 
 
Based solely upon a review of Forms 3, 4 and 5 and amendments thereto furnished to us during our most recent fiscal year, and any 
written representations provided to us, we believe that all of the officers, directors, and owners of more than 10% of the outstanding 
shares of our common stock complied with Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011. 
 
Information relating to securities authorized for issuance under our equity compensation plans is set forth in “Item 5, Market for 
Registrant’s Common Stock, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities” above in this annual report. 
 
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters 
 
The table below sets forth the beneficial ownership of our common stock, as of March 15, 2012, by: 
 
• All of our then current directors and executive officers, individually; 
 
• All of our then current directors and executive officers, as a group; and 
 
• All persons who beneficially owned more than 5% of our outstanding common stock. 
 
The beneficial ownership of each person was calculated based on 119,618,613 shares of our common stock outstanding as of 
March 15, 2012, according to the recorded ownership listings as of that date, the beneficial ownership reports filed by 5% beneficial 
owners with the SEC and the verifications we solicited and received from each director and executive officer. The SEC has defined 
“beneficial ownership” to mean more than ownership in the usual sense. For example, a person has beneficial ownership of a share not 
only if he owns it in the usual sense, but also if he has the power (solely or shared) to vote, sell or otherwise dispose of the share. 
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Beneficial ownership also includes the number of shares that a person has the right to acquire within 60 days of March 15, 2012, 
pursuant to the exercise of options or warrants or the conversion of notes, debentures or other indebtedness, but excludes stock 
appreciation rights. Two or more persons might count as beneficial owners of the same share. Unless otherwise noted, the address of 
the following persons listed below is c/o Entertainment Gaming Asia Inc., Unit 3705, 37/F., The Centrium, 60 Wyndham Street, 
Central, Hong Kong. 

 
Name of Director, Executive Officer or Nominee  Shares(1)  Percentage  

Clarence (Yuk Man) Chung ...................................................................................................   5,594,393(2) 4.7%
    
Andy (Kin Ming) Tsui ...........................................................................................................   608,333(3) * 
    
Vincent L. DiVito ..................................................................................................................   365,000(4) * 
    
John W. Crawford ..................................................................................................................   400,000(5) * 
    
Anthony (Kanhee) Tyen ........................................................................................................   370,000(6) * 
    
Samuel (Yuen Wai) Tsang .....................................................................................................   1,070,000(7) * 
    
All directors and executive officers as a group (6 persons) ...................................................   8,407,726 7.0%
 

 
* Less than 1% 

 
Name and Address of 5% Holders      

EGT Entertainment Holding Limited  
38/F, The Centrium  
60 Wyndham Street  
Central, Hong Kong ...........................................................................................................   45,800,000(8) 38.3% 

    
James E. Crabbe  

Portland, Oregon ................................................................................................................   7,459,019(9) 6.2% 
 

 
(1) Unless otherwise noted, the persons identified in this table have sole voting and sole investment power with regard to the shares 

beneficially owned by them. 
  
(2) Includes 175,000 shares held directly, 1,939,393 shares granted by the Company and 3,480,000 shares issuable upon the

exercise of stock options. 
  
(3) Includes 175,000 shares granted by the Company and 433,333 shares issuable upon the exercise of stock options. 
  
(4) Includes 50,000 shares held directly, 120,000 shares granted by the Company and 195,000 shares issuable upon the exercise of

stock options. 
  
(5) Includes 280,000 shares issuable upon the exercise of stock options and 120,000 shares granted by the Company. 
  
(6) Includes 250,000 shares issuable upon the exercise of stock options and 120,000 shares granted by the Company. 
  
(7) Includes 950,000 shares issuable upon the exercise of stock options and 120,000 shares granted by the Company. 
  
(8) The shares are owned directly by EGT Entertainment Holding, which is the indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Melco 

International Development Limited. Melco is the indirect beneficial owner of the reported securities. 
  
(9) Includes 40,200 shares issuable upon the exercise of stock options. 
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Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence 
 
Transaction Review 
 
We have adopted a policy that any transactions with directors, officers or entities of which they are also officers or directors or in 
which they have a financial interest, will only be on terms consistent with industry standards and approved by a majority of the 
disinterested directors of our board. Our bylaws provide that no such transactions by us shall be either void or voidable solely because 
of such relationship or interest of directors or officers or solely because such directors are present at the meeting of our board or a 
committee thereof which approves such transactions, or solely because their votes are counted for such purpose if: 
 
• 

 

The fact of such common directorship or financial interest is disclosed or known by our board or committee and noted in the
minutes, and our board or committee authorizes, approves or ratifies the contract or transaction in good faith by a vote for that
purpose without counting the vote or votes of such interested directors; or 

   
• 

 

The fact of such common directorship or financial interest is disclosed to or known by the stockholders entitled to vote, and
they approve or ratify the contract or transaction in good faith by a majority vote or written consent of stockholders holding a
majority of the shares of common stock entitled to vote (the votes of the interested directors or officers shall be counted in any 
such vote of stockholders); or 

   
•  The contract or transaction is fair and reasonable to us at the time it is authorized or approved. 
 
In addition, interested directors may be counted in determining the presence of a quorum at a meeting of our board or a committee 
thereof that approves such transactions. If there are no disinterested directors, we shall obtain a majority vote of the stockholders 
approving the transaction. 
 
With regard to transactions between us and our principal stockholder, EGT Entertainment Holding, our board of directors has 
established a committee of the board, known as the conflicts committee. For details of the scope of authority and composition of our 
conflicts committee, please refer to the information set forth above. 
 
The conflicts committee charter shall not be amended or modified unless (i) such amendment or modification has been approved and 
recommended by a majority of the members of the conflicts committee and (ii) at least five business days preceding the effective date 
of such amendment or modification we have filed with the SEC a current report on Form 8-K that accurately and fully discloses the 
proposed amendment or modification and the basis for the conflicts committee’s recommendations. 
 
EGT Entertainment Holding Limited (“EGT Entertainment Holding”) Transactions 
 
Trade Credit Facility and Subsequent Amendments 
 
On April 21, 2008, we entered into a Trade Credit Facility Agreement (the “Facility Agreement”) with Elixir International Limited 
(“Elixir International”), a company which used to be a wholly-owned subsidiary of EGT Entertainment Holding, our principal 
shareholder.  Pursuant to the Facility Agreement, Elixir International Limited provided trade credits to us for our purchase of EGMs 
from Elixir International Limited in exchange for our issuance of unsecured notes to Elixir International bearing interest at a fixed rate 
of eight percent (8.0%) per annum.  Title of any EGMs offered in exchange for the notes passed to us upon issuance of the notes. 
 
Upon entering into the Facility Agreement, we immediately issued the first note pursuant to the terms of the Facility Agreement in the 
principal amount of $15 million (the “Initial Advance”), thereby extinguishing the payable of an equivalent amount to Elixir 
International in respect to EGMs previously acquired.  We were obligated to repay the principal, plus any accrued interest thereon, of 
the Initial Advance in 24 equal monthly installments.  The Initial Advance was subject to demand by Elixir International for 
immediate payment only if there was either an event of default or a change of control as defined in the Facility Agreement. 
 
An “event of default” occurs pursuant to the Facility Agreement if, among other things, we default in the payment when due of any 
principal or interest on any note issued pursuant to the Facility Agreement; or we become insolvent or generally fail to pay or admit in 
writing our inability to pay our debts as they become due; or we apply for, consent to, or acquiesce in the appointment of a trustee, 
receiver or other custodian for ourselves or any of our property, or make a general assignment for the benefit of our creditors; or a 
trustee, receiver or other custodian will otherwise be appointed for us or any of our assets and not be discharged within 30 days; or any 
bankruptcy, reorganization, debt arrangement, or other case or proceeding under any bankruptcy or insolvency law, or any dissolution 
or liquidation proceeding is commenced by or against us and be consented to or acquiesced in by us or remains undismissed for 30 
days; or we take any corporate action to authorize, or in furtherance of, any of the foregoing; or any judgments, writs, warrants of 
attachment, executions or similar processes (not undisputedly covered by insurance) in an aggregate amount in excess of $100,000 is 
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issued or levied against us or any of our assets and will not be released, vacated or fully bonded prior to any sale and in any event 
within 30 days after its issue or levy; or we become subject to pending or threatened litigation, arbitration or a governmental litigation 
or proceeding, not previously disclosed to Elixir International, and such action could have a material adverse affect on our operations 
or financial condition. 

 
A “change of control” occurs pursuant to the Facility Agreement if, among other things, after April 21, 2008: (i) any person or two or 
more persons acting in concert (other than Elixir International or its affiliates) acquire beneficial ownership (within the meaning of 
Rule 13d-3 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934), directly or indirectly, of securities of our company representing 50% or more 
(on a fully-diluted basis) of the combined voting power of all our securities (other than securities owned by EGT Entertainment 
Holding or its affiliates) entitled to vote in the election of directors; or (ii) our sale of substantially all of our assets; or (iii) any sale of 
our securities by EGT Entertainment Holding or its affiliates or any issuance of new securities by us resulting in the combined voting 
power of all our securities (on a fully-diluted basis) owned by EGT Entertainment Holding or its affiliates falls below 30%. 
 
As a result of the disposal of Elixir International by EGT Entertainment Holding, Elixir International assigned and novated all its 
rights and obligations under the Facility Agreement and the related promissory note (as amended) to EGT Entertainment Holding in 
April 2010. 
 
Subsequent to its origination, the Facility Agreement has been amended three times, mostly recently on May 25, 2010 on which date 
we entered into Amendment No.3 to the Facility Agreement with EGT Entertainment Holding (the “Third Amendment”), pursuant to 
which we issued another new note (the “Third Amended Note) to replace previous terms.  Under the payment schedule of the Third 
Amended Note, the outstanding principal balance of $9.2 million and the interest accrued thereon were restructured in the following 
manner: (a)  the total interest accrued on the Outstanding Principal Balance during the period from July 1, 2009 to June 30, 2010 in the 
amount of $458,000 to be paid by us in a lump sum payment on July 1, 2010; (b) on the first day of each calendar month during the 
period from August 1, 2010 to June 1, 2011, we will pay interest in arrears on the Outstanding Principal Balance at the same rate of 
5% per annum for the preceding month; and (c)  we will repay the Outstanding Principal Balance and interest accrued thereon at the 
rate mentioned above in 18 equal monthly installments commencing on July 1, 2011. Pursuant to the terms of the Third Amendment, 
we paid total principal and interest of approximately $3.0 million and $417,000 respectively to EGT Entertainment Holding during the 
year ended December 31, 2011.  (see Note 15.) 
 
Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services 
 
The following table sets forth the aggregate fees billed to us for services rendered to us for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 
2010 by our independent registered public accounting firms for such years, as of the filing dates, Ernst & Young (Hong Kong) for the 
audit of our consolidated financial statements for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, and assistance with the 
reporting requirements thereof, the review of our condensed consolidated financial statements included in our quarterly reports on 
Form 10-Q, and accounting and auditing assistance relative to acquisition accounting and reporting. 
 
  Years Ended December 31,  
(amounts in thousands)  2011  2010(1)  

Audit Fees(1) ..................................................................   $ 409 $ 451 
Tax Fees ..........................................................................   53 71 
  $ 462 $ 522 
 

 
(1) 2010 figure included statutory audit fees for one foreign subsidiary and additional fees incurred relating to Quasi-Reorganization. 
 
Audit Committee Pre-Approval Policies 
 
Our audit committee approves all audit fees, audit-related fees, tax fees and special engagement fees.  The audit committee approved 
100% of such fees for the year ended December 31, 2011. 
 

PART IV 
 

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules 
 
(a) Financial statements 
 
Reference is made to the Index and Financial Statements under Item 8 in Part II hereof where these documents are listed. 
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(b) Financial statement schedules 
 
Financial statement schedules are either not required or the required information is included in the consolidated financial statements or 
notes thereto filed under Item 8 in Part II hereof. 
 
(c) Exhibits 
 
The exhibits to this Annual Report on Form 10-K are set forth below. The exhibit index indicates each management contract or 
compensatory plan or arrangement required to be filed as an exhibit. 
 
Exhibit Index 
 
Number  Exhibit Description 

3.1 
 

Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation dated June 7, 2003. (Incorporated by reference from the registrant’s 
current report on Form 8-K filed on June 18, 2003). 

   
3.2 

 
Amended and Restated Bylaws of the registrant dated November 13, 2002. (Incorporated by reference from the 
registrant’s current report on Form 8-K filed on January 8, 2003). 

   
3.3 

 
Certificate of Amendment to Articles of Incorporation dated August 23, 2005. (Incorporated by reference from the 
registrant’s annual report on Form 10-KSB filed on April 13, 2007). 

   
3.4 

 
Certificate of Amendment to Articles of Incorporation dated January 9, 2007. (Incorporated by reference from the 
registrant’s annual report on Form 10-KSB filed on April 13, 2007). 

   
3.5 

 
Certificate of Amendment to Articles of Incorporation dated September 10, 2007. (Incorporated by reference from the 
registrant’s quarterly report on Form 10-QSB filed on November 14, 2007). 

   
3.6 

 
Certificate of Amendment to Articles of Incorporation dated July 23, 2010. (Incorporated by reference from the 
registrant’s annual report on Form 10-K filed on March 30, 2011). 

   
10.1 

 
Form of Indemnification Agreement, incorporated by reference from the registrant’s quarterly report on 10-QSB/A 
filed on August 19, 2003. 

   
10.2 

 
Amended and Restated 1999 Stock Option Plan. (Incorporated by reference from the registrant’s quarterly report on 10-
QSB/A filed on August 19, 2003) (Note (2)). 

   
10.3 

 
Registration Rights Agreement dated May 2, 2006 among registrant and the Bricoleur Funds. (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated May 2, 2006). 

   
10.4 

 

Registration Rights Agreement dated July 11, 2006 among registrant and William Westmore Purton, and Synwood Pty
Ltd. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-QSB filed on 
August 14, 2006). 

   
10.5 

 
Common Stock Purchase Warrant dated March 28, 2007. (Incorporated by reference from the registrant’s current report
on Form 8-K filed on March 30, 2007). 

   
10.6 

 
Registration Rights Agreement dated May 3, 2007. (Incorporated by reference from the registrant’s quarterly report on
Form 10-QSB filed on May 15, 2007). 

   
10.7 

 

Registration Rights Agreement by and among the registrant and the purchasers identified on the signature pages thereto, 
dated as of October 19, 2007. (Incorporated by reference from the registrant’s current report on Form 8-K filed on 
October 23, 2007). 

   
10.8 

 

Registration Rights Agreement by and among the registrant and the purchasers identified on the signature pages thereto, 
dated as of December 11, 2007. (Incorporated by reference from the registrant’s current report on Form 8-K filed on 
December 11, 2007). 
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10.9 
 

Trade Credit Facility Agreement between registrant and Elixir International Limited dated as of April 21, 2008. 
(Incorporated by reference from the registrant’s annual report on Form 10-K filed on April 29, 2008). 

   
10.10 

 

Amendment of the Trade Credit Facility Agreement and Related Note between registrant and Elixir International 
Limited dated as of November 6, 2008. (Incorporated by reference from the registrant’s current report on Form 8-K 
filed on November 14, 2008). 

   
10.11 

 

Machines Operation and Participation Agreement by and among the registrant, Elixir Gaming Technologies (Hong 
Kong) Limited and NagaWorld Limited dated as of December 13, 2008. (Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.49 
to the registrant’s annual report on Form 10K filed on March 30, 2009). 

   
10.12 

 
Two Services Agreements between registrant and Melco Services Limited dated as of May 18, 2009. (Incorporated by 
reference from the registrant’s current report on Form 8-K filed on May 18, 2009). 

   
10.13 

 

Amendment No. 2 to Trade Credit Facility Agreement and Related Note between registrant and Elixir International 
Limited dated as of July 24, 2009. (Incorporated by reference from the registrant’s current report on Form 8-K filed on 
July 30, 2009). 

   
10.14 

 
Option Deed between Elixir Gaming Technologies (Hong Kong) Limited and NagaWorld Limited as of July 25, 2009. 
(Incorporated by reference from the registrant’s current report on Form 8-K filed on July 30, 2009). 

   
10.15 

 

Machines Operation and Participation Agreement by and among the registrant, Elixir Gaming Technologies (Hong 
Kong) Limited and NagaWorld Limited dated as of July 25, 2009. (Incorporated by reference from the registrant’s 
current report on Form 8-K filed on February 11, 2010) (Note (1)). 

   
10.16 

 
2008 Stock Incentive Plan (Incorporated by reference from the registrant’s definitive proxy statement filed on
August 20, 2008) (Note (2)). 

   
10.17 

 
Deed of Release dated June 27, 2009 between, inter alia, registrant and William Purton. (Incorporated by reference
from the registrant’s current report on Form 10-K filed on March 30, 2010). 

   
10.18 

 

Machines Operation and Participation Consolidation Agreement by and among the registrant, Elixir Gaming
Technologies (Cambodia) Limited and NagaWorld Limited dated as of December 30, 2009 (Note (1)). (Incorporated by 
reference from the registrant’s current report on Form 10-K filed on March 30, 2010). 

   
10.19 

 
Restricted Stock Agreement between registrant and Clarence Chung dated as of January 22, 2010 (Note (2)). 
(Incorporated by reference from the registrant’s current report on Form 10-K filed on March 30, 2010). 

   
10.20 

 

Amendment No. 3 to Trade Credit Facility Agreement and Related Note dated May 25, 2010 between Registrant and
Elixir Group Limited. (Incorporated by reference from the registrant’s current report on Form 8-K filed on May 26, 
2010). 

   
10.21 

 

Supplemental Agreement to Machines Operation and Participation Consolidation Agreement dated May 25, 2010 
between Registrant, Elixir Gaming Technologies (Cambodia) Limited and NagaWorld Limited. (Incorporated by 
reference from the registrant’s current report on Form 8-K filed on May 26, 2010). 

   
10.22 

 

Land Sale & Purchase Agreement between Dreamworld (Takeo) Investment Holding Limited and the owner of the
Land dated as of May 26, 2010. (Incorporated by reference from the registrant’s current report on Form 8-K filed on 
May 27, 2010). 

   
10.23 

 
Shareholders Agreement dated March 4, 2011 between the Registrant and Mey Thoul, a Cambodian individual.
(Incorporated by reference from the registrant’s current report on Form 8-K filed on March 8, 2011). 

   
10.24 

 
Shareholders Agreement dated May 16, 2011 between the Registrant and Ms. Ban Sreymom, a Cambodian individual. 
(Incorporated by reference from the registrant’s current report on Form 8-K filed on May 20, 2011) 

   
10.25 

 
Undertaking Agreement dated July 13, 2011 between the Registrant and Ms. Ban Sreymom, a Cambodian individual. 
(Incorporated by reference from the registrant’s current report on Form 8-K filed on July 14, 2011) 
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10.26 
 

Lease Agreement dated July 13, 2011 between the Registrant and Ms. Ban Sreymom, a Cambodian individual. 
(Incorporated by reference from the registrant’s current report on Form 8-K filed on July 14, 2011) 

   
10.27 

 

Transfer Agreement dated October 21, 2011 amongst the Registrant, Golden View International Gaming and
Amusement Corp. and Jade Prosper Holdings Ltd.  (Incorporated by reference from the registrant’s current report on
Form 8-K filed on October 27, 2011) 

   
10.28 

 
Amendment to Board Policy Concerning Compensation of Independent Directors. (Incorporated by reference from the
registrant’s current report on Form 8-K filed on November 10, 2011) (Note (2)). 

   
10.29 

 

The Executive Hong Kong Employment Agreement dated December 31, 2011 entered into between Elixir Gaming
(Technologies) Hong Kong Limited and Mr. Clarence Chung.  (Incorporated by reference from the registrant’s current 
report on Form 8-K filed on January 5, 2012) (Note (2)). 

   
10.30 

 

The Executive Overseas Employment Agreement dated December 31, 2011 entered into between Dreamworld Leisure 
Management Limited and Mr. Clarence Chung.  (Incorporated by reference from the registrant’s current report on
Form 8-K filed on January 5, 2012) (Note (2)). 

   
10.31 

 
The Restricted Stock Agreement dated January 3, 2012 entered into between the Registrant and Mr. Clarence Chung. 
(Incorporated by reference from the registrant’s current report on Form 8-K filed on January 5, 2012) (Note (2)). 

   
21.1  List of subsidiaries of registrant. 

   
23.1  Consent of Ernst & Young. 

   
31.1  Certification under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 

   
31.2  Certification under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 

   
32.1  Certifications Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 18 U.S.C. Section 1350. 

   
101.INS*  XBRL Instance Document 

   
101.SCH*  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document 

   
101.CAL*  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document 

   
101.LAB*  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Docment 

   
101.PRE*  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document 

   
101.DEF*  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document 

 
 

Notes: 
(1) Certain portions of the exhibit have been omitted pursuant to Registrant’s confidential treatment request filed with the

Commission pursuant to Rule 24b-2 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. The omitted text has been filed separately with
the Commission. 

  
(2) Indicates management compensatory plan, contract or arrangement. 
 
*Pursuant to applicable securities laws and regulations, we are deemed to have complied with the reporting obligation relating to the 
submission of interactive data files in such exhibits and are not subject to liability under any anti-fraud provisions of the deferral 
securities laws as long as we have made a good faith attempt to comply with the submission requirements and promptly amend the 
interactive data files after becoming aware that the interactive data files fail to comply with the submission requirements. Users of this 
data are advised that, pursuant to Rule 406T, these interactive data files are deemed not filed and otherwise are not subject to liability. 
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SIGNATURES 
 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this annual 
report on Form 10-K to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. 

 
 ENTERTAINMENT GAMING ASIA INC. 
   
   
Date: March 30, 2012 By: /s/Clarence Chung 
  Clarence Chung 
  Chief Executive Officer 

 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on 
behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated. 
 

Signature  Title  Date 

     
/s/Clarence Chung  Chief Executive Officer  March 30, 2012 
Clarence Chung  (Principal Executive Officer)   
     
     
/s/Andy Tsui  Chief Accounting Officer  March 30, 2012 
Andy Tsui  (Principal Financial Officer)   
     
     
/s/Vincent L. DiVito  Director  March 30, 2012 
Vincent L. DiVito     
     
     
/s/John W. Crawford, J.P.  Director  March 30, 2012 
John W. Crawford, J.P.     
     
     
/s/Samuel Tsang  Director  March 30, 2012 
Samuel Tsang     
     
     
/s/Anthony Tyen, Ph.D.  Director  March 30, 2012 
Anthony Tyen, Ph.D.     
 



 

 

EXHIBIT 31.1 
 

CERTIFICATIONS 
 

I, Clarence Chung, certify that: 
 
(1) I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Entertainment Gaming Asia Inc.; 
 
(2) Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 

necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading 
with respect to the period covered by this report; 

 
(3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all 

material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods 
presented in this report; 

 
(4) The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and 

procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the company and have: 

 
(a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed 

under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated 
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is 
being prepared; 

 
(b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be 

designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the 
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

 
(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our 

conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the period covered by this report 
based on such evaluation; and 

 
(d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the 

registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially 
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and 

 
(5) The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over 

financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons 
performing the equivalent functions): 

 
(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting 

which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial 
information; and 

 
(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 

registrant’s internal control over financial reporting. 
 

 ENTERTAINMENT GAMING ASIA INC.
   
   
Date: March 30, 2012 By: /s/ Clarence Chung 
  Clarence Chung, Chief Executive Officer 

 



 

 

EXHIBIT 31.2 
 

CERTIFICATIONS 
 

I, Andy Tsui, certify that: 
 
(1) I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Entertainment Gaming Asia Inc.; 
 
(2) Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 

necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading 
with respect to the period covered by this report; 

 
(3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all 

material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods 
presented in this report; 

 
(4) The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and 

procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the company and have: 

 
(a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed 

under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated 
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is 
being prepared; 

 
(b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be 

designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the 
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

 
(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our 

conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the period covered by this report 
based on such evaluation; and 

 
(d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the 

registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially 
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and 

 
(5) The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over 

financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons 
performing the equivalent functions): 

 
(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting 

which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial 
information; and 

 
(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 

registrant’s internal control over financial reporting. 
 

 ENTERTAINMENT GAMING ASIA INC.
   
   
Date: March 30, 2012 By: /s/ Andy Tsui 
  Andy Tsui, Chief Accounting Officer 
  (Principal Financial Officer) 

 



 

 

EXHIBIT 32.1 
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 
18 U.S.C. ss.1350, 

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO 
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

 
In connection with the Annual Report of Entertainment Gaming Asia Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ended 
December 31, 2011 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), we, Clarence Chung and 
Andy Tsui, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Accounting Officer (Principal Financial Officer) of the Company, respectively, 
certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge: 
 
1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and 
 
2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations 

of the Company. 
 
By: /s/Clarence Chung  Dated: March 30, 2012 
 Clarence Chung   
Title: Chief Executive Officer, Principal Executive Officer   
    
    
By: /s/Andy Tsui  Dated: March 30, 2012 
 Andy Tsui   
Title: Chief Accounting Officer, Principal Financial Officer   

 
This certification is made solely for the purposes of 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, subject to the knowledge standard contained therein, and 
not for any other purpose. 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(This page has been left blank intentionally.) 

 

 

 

  



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(This page has been left blank intentionally.) 

 

 

 

  



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(This page has been left blank intentionally.) 

 

 

 

  



 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Entertainment Gaming Asia Inc. 
Unit 3705, 37/F The Centrium 

60 Wyndham Street 
Central, Hong Kong 
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